
P.T.O.

www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk
Moorlands House, Stockwell Street, Leek, Staffordshire Moorlands, ST13 6HQ.  Tel:  0345 605 3010

            Simon W. Baker    B.Ed MBA MISPAL
        Chief Executive

AGENDA
for a

MEETING OF THE CABINET
Tuesday, 14 February 2017 at 10.00 am in

 The Council Chamber, Moorlands House, Leek
Contact Officer: Linden Vernon Email: linden.vernon@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 

or Tel: 01538 395613

Membership
Councillors:-

S. Ralphs MBE
A. Forrester
M. Bowen
T. Hall
B. Johnson

E. Wain

Leader of the Council (Chair)
Environment (Deputy Leader)
Communities
Customer Services
Leisure, Sport, Parks, Countryside and 
Housing 
Planning, Development and Property

Reports enclosed unless noted otherwise.

1. Apologies 

2. Minutes of the previous meeting (previously circulated) (Pages 5 - 8)

3. Urgent items of Business, if any (24 hours notice to be provided to the Chairman) 

4. Declarations of Interest, if any 
1. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
2. Other Interests

5. Matters referred by an Overview and Scrutiny Panel, if any 

Public Document Pack



A G E N D A  (Continued)

6. Items requested by Cabinet and/or Non-Cabinet Members in accordance with 
Cabinet Procedure Rules 8.5(b) and (e), if any 

7. Reports of Monitoring Officer and/or Chief Finance Officer, if any 

8. Local Joint Employees Consultative Committee Minutes - 26 January 2017 (Pages 
9 - 12)

9. Leader 

9 .1 Forward Plan (Pages 13 - 28)
9 .2 Third Quarter Financial, Procurement and Performance Review 2016/17 

(Pages 29 - 66)
9 .3 2017/18 Budget & Updated Medium Term Financial Plan 2017/18 to 2020/21 

(Pages 67 - 170)
9 .4 Update on the Northern Gateway Development Zone (Pages 171 - 188)
9 .5 Quantifying the Economic Impact of Growth (Pages 189 - 210)

10. Communities 

10 .1 Consultation on a Proposal to Introduce a Public Spaces Protection Order in 
the area around the Millennium Gardens, Biddulph (Pages 211 - 222)

10 .2 Public Spaces Protection Order at Leek Bus Station/Smithfield Centre 
(Pages 223 - 234)

11. Planning, Development and Property 

11 .1 Designation of the Neighbourhood Area for Rushton Parish Council and 
amendment of the Scheme of Delegation for designation of specified future 
applications (Pages 235 - 244)

12. Exclusion of the Press and Public 
The Chair to Move:-

“That, pursuant to Section 100A(2) and (4) of the Local Government Act, 
1972, the public be excluded from the meeting in view of the nature of the 
business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings whereby it is likely 
that confidential information as defined in Section 100A (3) of the Act would 
be disclosed to the public in breach of the obligation of confidence or exempt 
information as defined in Section 100 I (1) of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the 
Act would be disclosed to the public by virtue of the Paragraphs indicated.”

13. Environment 

13 .1 Establishment of a Joint Venture Company for the Delivery of Waste 
Collection, Street Cleansing, Grounds Maintenance & Fleet Management 
Services (Pages 245 - 276)
(Paragraph 3, 5 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs 
of any particular person (including the authority holding that 
information) 
Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege 



A G E N D A  (Continued)

could be maintained in legal proceedings. )
14. Planning, Development and Property 

14 .1 Victoria Business Park, Biddulph (Pages 277 - 282)
(Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of 
any particular person (including the authority holding that information) )



This page is intentionally left blank



1

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

CABINET DECISIONS

TUESDAY, 6 DECEMBER 2016
PRESENT: Councillor S E Ralphs MBE (Chair) 

Councillors M Bowen, A Forrester, T Hall, B Johnson and E Wain

51. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING

The Minutes of the Meeting held on 18 October 2016 were approved.

52. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations made.

53. FORWARD PLAN

DECISION: That the Forward Plan for the period November 2016 to February 2017 
be approved for publication.

54. SECOND QUARTER FINANCIAL, PROCUREMENT AND PERFORMANCE 
REVIEW 2016/17

The purpose of the report was to inform members of the Council’s overall 
performance and financial position for the period ended 30th September 2016 
(“Second Quarter 2016/17”).  The position was summarised as follows:

Subject Headline Reference
Finance The Finance headlines for the Second Quarter were:

Performance against Budget

 At the Quarter Two stage the General Fund budget for 2016/17 
was forecast to be £62,300 overspent. This mainly related to a 
forecast slippage against the Efficiency Programme.

Efficiency Programme

 The in-year savings requirement for 2016/17 amounted to 
£1,320,510 was made up of the efficiency target of £613,760 for 
2016/17, together with the £706,750 of unachieved savings rolled 
forward from 2015/16. At the Quarter Two stage this was 
projected to fall short by £343,000 due to forecast slippage in the 
programme and associated costs of implementation.  Any shortfall 
could be funded using the earmarked reserve established to meet 
such one-off/short-term costs.

Capital Programme

 The Capital Programme budget for 2016/17 was £2.57million 
including the carry forward of capital underspends from 2015/16.  

Appendix 
A

Public Document Pack

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



Cabinet - 6 December 2016

2

Subject Headline Reference
The projected outturn was £2.14million which represented an 
under-spend of £531,830 relating to the slippage in the Growth 
Fund regeneration projects.

Treasury Management

 Cash investments held at 30th September 2016 totalled £10.5 
million. The Ascent loan and debenture currently stood at £19 
million;

 Council borrowing at 30th September 2016 totalled £15.6 million 
(£14 million of which relates to the Ascent loan);

 The Council’s net interest receipts budget was projected to be 
£6,000 overspent at the Quarter Two stage.

Revenue Collection

 56.9% of Council Tax was collected by 30th September 2016, 
compared to 57.2% for the same period last year;

 57.4% of Business Rates was collected by 30th September 2016 
compared with 55.8% for the same period last year;

 At the end of Quarter Two the value of sundry debt that was over 
60 days old was £284,780 which compares with £301,470 at 30th 
September 2015.

Procurement The Procurement headlines for the Second Quarter are:

 14 procurement activities were completed (2 high value >£172k – 
supply of liquid fuels and Biddulph Town Hall refurbishment works)

 The Procurement forward plan included 34 procurement activities 
for 2016/17 (either SMDC only or joint); 

 At the 30th September 2016, 58% of procurement activity 
undertaken was on the forward plan and the Council paid 94.62% 
of its invoices within 30 days during the year.




Appendix 
B 

Performance The Performance headlines for the Second Quarter are:
 42% of the key performance indicators were on track, 

12% off track and 46% no target (contextual or baseline 
year);

 Of the 18 Priority Actions within the Corporate Plan, none 
were rated red, four were currently rated ‘Amber’, the 
remainder being classified as ‘Green’; and

 The Council received 70 complaints, 59 comments and 36 
compliments in the Second Quarter. Repeat complaints had 
increased and response times had improved.

Appendix C

Options Considered:

Detailed Analysis was contained within the main body of the Report.

DECISION: That the Second Quarter 2016/17 financial, procurement and 
performance position detailed in Appendices A, B and C of the 
report and summarised at paragraph 3.3 of the covering report be 
noted.

Page 6



Cabinet - 6 December 2016

3

55. UPDATED MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 2017/18 TO 2020/21

The report presented the Council’s updated Medium-Term Financial Plan 
(MTFP), the Council’s priorities in the context of the likely resources available and 
provided a financial context to future decision making.

Options Considered:

Options would be identified and considered as detailed budget plans are 
developed.

DECISION: That the Medium-Term Financial Plan be endorsed and 
RECOMMENDED to the Council for approval.

56. DELIVERY ASSISTANCE FOR LEEK MARKETS

The purpose of the report was to recommend that the Council seeks a third 
party to assist with the management, running and development of the Council’s 
indoor and outdoor markets in Leek.

Options Considered:

1. That Council Officers continue to operate the indoor and the outdoor markets 
under the existing regime. With the backdrop of reduced resources since 
September 2016 and the continued operating subsidy of the markets, the 
ongoing management of the markets was not sustainable on the current 
terms. There were risks that the steady progress we had seen over the last 
five years would be undermined and the markets would deteriorate without 
new management arrangements and adequate resources in place.   NOT 
RECOMMENDED

2. That the Council’s Officers develop a detailed tender specification and carry 
out a procurement exercise, to identify a suitable third party assistant(s), to 
manage, run and develop the Leek indoor and outdoor markets, under a 
licence agreement of up to five years.  This would enable the Council to 
facilitate the further development, success and sustainability of the markets 
and, at the same time, reduce the cost burden. Engaging a viable assistant to 
manage and develop the markets would enhance Leek’s attractiveness and 
further develop its status as a leading market town. RECOMMENDED

DECISION: (a) That officers be authorised to develop a tender specification 
and carry out a procurement exercise, to engage a third-
party to manage, run and develop all the Leek indoor and 
outdoor markets under a five-year licence agreement, on the 
general terms set out in the report.

(b) That the results of the procurement exercise and further 
officer recommendations regarding the potential awarding of 
one or more contracts are brought back to Cabinet for 
approval. 

Page 7



Cabinet - 6 December 2016

4

The meeting closed at 10.24 am

_________________________________Chairman ____________________Date

Published 9 December 2016
Page 8



1

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

JOINT CONSULTATIVE COMMITTEE MEETING

Minutes

THURSDAY, 26 JANUARY 2017
(2.00 PM)

PRESENT: S Robinson (Vice-Chair)

Representing the Council:
Councillors M Bowen, A Forrester, C R Jebb, L D Lea and C Pearce

Representing the Employees:

Officers
Mary Walker
Tanya Cooper
Andrew Stokes
Pat Trafford

Head of Customer Services
Transformation & OD Manager
Executive Director
Member Services Officer

APOLOGIES: Councillors S E Ralphs MBE and B Johnson

Background Papers to these Minutes are exempt by virtue of the 
provisions of Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972

- Part 1 of Schedule 12A, Paragraph 1 (Information relating to an individual) or 
Paragraph 4 (Labour relations matters).

Please note: These minutes are subject to approval by Cabinet.

1 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies were received from Councillors Johnson and Ralphs. Sue Higton had 
recently left the authority. Steve Robinson said that there were 2 other UNISON 
Representatives who would be attending future meetings but were unable to attend 
this one. 

2 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING

RESOLVED – That the Minutes of the meeting held on 21st July 2016 be confirmed 
as a correct record and signed by the Vice-Chair.

MATTERS ARISING – The Corporate Health and Safety Advisor – David Owen - 
had been off sick since just after the previous JCC meeting. 
Steve Robinson asked whether this had had a negative effect 
on the authority’s Health and Safety position? Following his 
return to work very recently, David had reported that the Health 
and Safety Framework had remained resilient, with 
departments managing their own areas well.  

Page 9

Agenda Item 8



Joint Consultative Committee (SMDC) - 26 January 2017

2

3 ORGANISATION DEVELOPMENT / HUMAN RESOURCES UPDATE

Mary Walker introduced Tanya Cooper to members as the new Organisation 
Development / Transformation Manager.

The quarterly meeting with the Unions had taken place that morning and the 
following matters were discussed:-

 Waste processing options – Staff had been kept up to date with developments 
in this area. The Joint Waste Working Group was due to meet later the same 
day. The working group had been set up to consider the future operating 
model for the waste collection and street cleansing service for the Alliance. 
The meeting was to include a presentation by Ansa (a wholly owned 
subsidiary of Cheshire East Council who were a potential partner in future 
waste processing arrangements). The Vice-Chair reported that the 
consultation process was progressing well, with staff maintaining a positive 
attitude;

 Learning & Development repayment – A revised scheme had been developed 
regarding repayment of costs where the cost had been in excess of £1,000 
(100% if the employee left the authority within 1 year, 50% if the employee left 
the authority within 2 years);

 Flexible Working Pilot – The pilot had been completed and the findings were 
to be rolled out to a wider staff group. The objective of the pilot had been to 
reduce Lieu Time by way of annualised hours and changes to core hours 
where appropriate. The flexible approach was welcomed by all concerned;

 New recruits – Clarification was given that new recruits within the Alliance 
were allocated to the payroll of the authority which their ‘hub’ fell within. The 
objective being to achieve parity of numbers of staff for each authority. 
Members expanded on the point, stating that authority-specific email 
addresses and postal markings on correspondence created a public 
perception of certain departments being wholly sited with one or the other 
Alliance authorities. Tanya confirmed that many staff had been issued with 
either/or email addresses and were advised to use the appropriate one in 
each case;

 Mental Health Problems – Union representatives enquired how the Alliance 
were combatting the culture which made people feel stigmatised when they 
were experiencing mental health issues. Tanya confirmed that the authority 
had a ‘Well Being” policy, equalities training was provided for all employees 
and the sickness monitoring process would lead to the availability of 
counselling, where it was deemed appropriate;

 Pay Anomalies – Andrew Stokes clarified how the anomalies in question had 
arisen, which dated back to the original alignment of the to authorities’ payroll 
systems. Tanya had agreed to look into certain specific cases, most of which 
occurred in the Refuse teams;

 Learning Difficulties – The Alliance was working with Derby University in this 
area. Special training sessions could be arranged to support staff members 
as required.
  

Page 10



Joint Consultative Committee (SMDC) - 26 January 2017

3

4 SICKNESS ABSENCE SUMMARY 1 APRIL 2016 TO 31 DECEMBER 2016

Mary Walker introduced the summary to members which indicated that sickness 
absence was off-track in terms of the annual target (An average of 8.34 days per 
Full-Time Employee after the 3rd quarter with an annual target of 9 days). This was a 
total of 1,464.6 days (approximately 4.25% of all working days) at a cost of over 
£118,000. 16 long-term cases accounted for 1,115.68 of the days.

The information was tabulated to show that SMDC featured in the upper quarter 
when compared with CIPFA ‘Nearest Neighbour’ authorities.
 
The main contributory cause for the period in question was “back problems”, which 
accounted for 22% of all absences.

It was noted that a particular cause of the increase was due to seasonal illness 
(colds, Flu, Stomach bugs etc). There had been 12 referrals to Occupational Health 
during quarter 3, 1 staff member had been placed on adjusted duties, 3 were placed 
on a phased return and 1 sabbatical had been agreed (related to personal stress).
Andrew Stokes confirmed the following contributory points:

 ageing workforce (more prone to injury/age-related illness);
 reduction in the size of the workforce (long-term sickness cases has a greater 

pro-rata effect on statistics).


It was noted that, if the sickness absence figure was calculated nett of the amounts 
of sickness absence relating to the 3 ‘capability dismissals’ from earlier in 2016/17, 
the average days lost figure would be below 6 per Full-Time Employee.  

IT WAS AGREED – That the report be NOTED.

5 DATE OF NEXT MEETING

Thursday 27th April 2017.

6 ANY OTHER BUSINESS

There were no other items of business.

The meeting closed at 3.00 pm

_________________________________Chair ____________________Date

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



1

CABINET FORWARD PLAN 

February – April 2017
The Forward Plan is a list of decisions the Council’s Cabinet intends to take 
during the coming four months. Some of these decisions are known as ‘Key 
Decisions.’  The Plan is updated and published 28 days before each meeting of 
the Cabinet and is available, together with all public reports referred to, from our 
website www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk and offices, Moorlands House, Stockwell 
Street, Leek, Staffordshire Moorlands, ST13 6HQ.  Should you have any 
questions regarding these documents please contact the Council’s Member 
Services Team via our website or by telephoning 01538 395613.

A key decision is one defined as:

"One likely to result in expenditure or savings which are significant having regard 
to the Council's budget for the service or function to which the decision relates."

OR

"To be significant in terms of its effect on communities living or working in an 
area comprising two or more District Wards."

Documents relating to matters listed, and which are open to the public, will be 
available five working days before the date of the meeting by visiting the 
Council’s website www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk or by telephoning 01538 395551. 
They are also available from our offices – Moorlands House, Stockwell Street, 
Leek Staffordshire Moorlands, ST13 6HQ. Other documents relevant to decisions 
to be taken may be submitted to the decision maker.

Meetings of the Cabinet are held in public.  However, occasionally, some 
meetings, or part of meetings, may need to be held in private due to the content 
of the reports to be discussed (e.g. commercially sensitive or personal 
information).  This document indicates which reports and dates of meetings 
where this will apply and the reason for this. 

Five days before a private meeting takes place the Council will publish a further 
notice of its intention to hold a meeting in private.  This will again state why this is 
necessary and give the details of any representations received about why the 
meeting should be open to the public.  This will also include a statement of the 
Council’s response to any such representations.

Page 13

Agenda Item 9.1

http://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/
http://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/


2

I N D E X

Matter to be decided Date of decision 
to be made

Page 
No.

COMMUNITIES

Consultation Update 28 March 2017 3

Public Spaces Protection Order at Leek Bus Station/Smithfield Centre 14 February 2017 4
Biddulph Public Spaces Protection Order 14 February 2017 5

Councillors’ Community Leadership Scheme 28 March 2017 6

CUSTOMER SERVICES

Equalities Update 28 March 2017 7

ENVIRONMENT

Waste Collection and Street Cleansing 14 February 2017 8

LEADER

3rd Quarter Performance and Financial Review 2016/17 14 February 2017 9

Budget and Medium term Financial Plan 2017/18 14 February 2017 10

Measuring the Economic Impact of Development 14 February 2017 11

Northern Gateway Development Zone 14 February 2017 12

LEISURE, SPORT, PARKS, COUNTRYSIDE AND HOUSING

Physical Activity and Sports Strategy 28 March 2017 13

PLANNING, DEVELOPMENT AND PROPERTY
Victoria Business Park - Highway Works 14 February 2017 14

Facilities Management Arrangements 28 March 2017 15
Designation of Rushton Neighbourhood area and Proposal for Future 
Designations 14 February 2017 16

Page 14



3

Communities

Matter for decision Consultation Update

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council Yes

Decision maker Cabinet – Cllrs Ralphs, Forrester, Bowen, Hall, 
Johnson and Wain

Expected date of decision 28 March 2017

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Bowen

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel Community

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration

Report of the Executive Director (People)

Public/Private report Public

Page 15



4

Communities

Matter for decision Public Spaces Protection Order - Leek Bus 
Station

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council Yes

Decision maker Cabinet – Cllrs Ralphs, Forrester, Bowen, Hall, 
Johnson and Wain

Expected date of decision 14 February 2017

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Bowen

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel Community

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration

Report of the Executive Director (People)

Public/Private report Public

Page 16



5

Communities

Matter for decision Biddulph Public Spaces Protection Order

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council Yes

Decision maker Cabinet – Cllrs Ralphs, Forrester, Bowen, Hall, 
Johnson and Wain

Expected date of decision 14 February 2017

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Bowen

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel Community

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration

Report of the Executive Director (People)

Public/Private report Public

Page 17



6

Communities

Matter for decision Councillors’ Community Leadership Scheme

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council Yes

Decision maker Cabinet – Cllrs Ralphs, Forrester, Bowen, Hall, 
Johnson and Wain

Expected date of decision 28 March 2017

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Bowen

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel Community

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration

Report of the Executive Director (People)

Public/Private report Public

Page 18



7

Customer Services

Matter for decision Equalities Update

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council Yes

Decision maker Cabinet – Cllrs Ralphs, Forrester, Bowen, Hall, 
Johnson and Wain

Expected date of decision 28 March 2017

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Hall

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel Resources

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration

Executive Director (People)

Public/Private report Public  

Page 19



8

Environment

Matter for decision Waste Collection and Street Cleansing

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council Yes

Decision maker Cabinet – Cllrs Ralphs, Forrester, Bowen, Hall, 
Johnson and Wain

Expected date of decision 14 February 2017

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Forrester

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel Resources

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration

Report of the Executive Director 
(Transformation)

Public/Private report

Private  - Financial or business affairs of any 
particular person & Information relating to any 
consultations or negotiations, or contemplated 
consultations or negotiations, in connection with 
any labour relations matter arising between the 
authority.

Page 20



9

Leader

Matter for decision 3rd Quarter Performance and Financial Review 
2016/17

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council Yes

Decision maker Cabinet – Cllrs Ralphs, Forrester, Bowen, Hall, 
Johnson and Wain

Expected date of decision 14 February 2017

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Ralphs

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel Resources

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration

Report of the Executive Director 
(Transformation)

Public/Private report Public

Page 21



10

Leader

Matter for decision Budget and Medium term Financial Plan 
2017/18

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council No

Decision maker Cabinet – Cllrs Ralphs, Forrester, Bowen, Hall, 
Johnson and Wain

Expected date of decision 14 February 2017

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Ralphs

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel Resources

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration

Report of the Executive Director 
(Transformation)

Public/Private report Public

Page 22



11

Leader

Matter for decision Measuring the Economic Impact of Development

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council Yes

Decision maker Cabinet – Cllrs Ralphs, Forrester, Bowen, Hall, 
Johnson and Wain

Expected date of decision 14 February 2017

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Ralphs

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel Service Delivery

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration

Report of the Executive Director (Place)

Public/Private report Public

Page 23



12

Leader

Matter for decision Northern Gateway Development Zone

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council Yes

Decision maker Cabinet – Cllrs Ralphs, Forrester, Bowen, Hall, 
Johnson and Wain

Expected date of decision 14 February 2017

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Ralphs

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel Service Delivery

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration

Report of the Executive Director (Place)

Public/Private report Public

Page 24



13

Leisure, Sport, Parks, Countryside and Housing

Matter for decision Review of Physical Activity an Sports Strategy

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council Yes

Decision maker Cabinet – Cllrs Ralphs, Forrester, Bowen, Hall, 
Johnson and Wain

Expected date of decision 28 March 2017

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Johnson

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel Service Delivery

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration

Report of the Head of Operational Services

Public/Private report Public

Page 25



14

Planning, Development and Property

Matter for decision Victoria Business Park - Highway Works

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council Yes

Decision maker Cabinet – Cllrs Ralphs, Forrester, Bowen, Hall, 
Johnson and Wain

Expected date of decision 14 February 2017

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Wain

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel Resources

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration

Report of the Executive Director 
(Transformation)

Public/Private report Private  - Financial or business affairs of any 
particular person

Page 26



15

Planning, Development and Property

Matter for decision Facilities Management Arrangements

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council Yes

Decision maker Cabinet – Cllrs Ralphs, Forrester, Bowen, Hall, 
Johnson and Wain

Expected date of decision 28 March 2017

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Wain

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel Resources

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration

Report of the Executive Director 
(Transformation)

Public/Private report Private  - Financial or business affairs of any 
particular person

Page 27



16

Planning, Development and Property

Matter for decision Designation of Rushton Neighbourhood area 
and Proposal for Future Designations

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council Yes

Decision maker Cabinet – Cllrs Ralphs, Forrester, Bowen, Hall, 
Johnson and Wain

Expected date of decision 14 February 2017

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Wain

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel Service Delivery

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration

Report of the Executive Director (Place)

Public/Private report Public

Page 28



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report to Cabinet

14 February 2017

Appendices Attached
 Appendix A (2016/17 – Third Quarter Financial Report)
 Appendix B (2016/17 – Third Quarter Procurement Report) 
 Appendix C (2016/17 – Third Quarter Performance Report)

1. Reason for the Report

1.1 The purpose of the report is to inform members of the Council’s overall 
performance and financial position for the period ended 31st December 2016 
(“Third Quarter 2016/17”)

2. Recommendations

2.1 It is recommended that the Cabinet note the Third Quarter 2016/17 financial, 
procurement and performance position detailed in Appendices A, B and C and 
summarised at 3.3 of this covering report.

3. Executive Summary

3.1 This report essentially summarises the Council’s financial, procurement and 
performance position after considering service activity up to the end of the 
third quarter (i.e. 31st December 2016). 

3.2 Detailed analysis is provided in Appendix A (Finance), Appendix B 
(Procurement) and Appendix C (Performance). 

TITLE: Third Quarter Financial, Procurement and 
Performance Review 2016/17

PORTFOLIO HOLDER Cllr Sybil Ralphs – Portfolio Holder for 
Finance & Resources

CONTACT OFFICERS: Claire Hazeldene – Finance & Procurement
Vanessa Higgins - Performance 

WARDS INVOLVED: Non-Specific

Page 29

Agenda Item 9.2



3.3 The position can be summarised as follows:

Subject Headline Reference
Finance The Finance headlines for the third quarter are:

Performance against Budget
 At the end of the third quarter the General Fund budget for 

2016/17 is forecast to be marginally overspent by £5,650. 
Efficiency Programme
 The in-year savings requirement for 2016/17 amounts to 

£1,320,510 which is made up of the efficiency target of £613,760 
for 2016/17, together with the £706,750 of unachieved savings 
rolled forward from 2015/16. At the quarter three stage there is a 
projected shortfall of £443,600 due to slippage in the programme 
and associated costs of implementation. This shortfall can be 
funded using the earmarked reserve established to meet such 
one-off/short-term costs.

Capital Programme
 The Capital Programme budget for 2016/17 is £3.1 million 

including the carry forward of capital underspends from 2015/16.  
The projected outturn is £1.3 million which represents an 
underspend of £1.8 million relating to the slippage in the Growth 
Fund regeneration projects, asset management plan and disabled 
facilities grant works.

Treasury Management
 Cash investments held at 31st December 2016 totalled £13.4 

million. The Ascent loan and debenture currently stands at £19 
million.

 Council borrowing at 31st December 2016 totalled £15.6 million 
(£14 million of which relates to the Ascent loan)

 The Council’s net interest receipts budget is projected to be 
£5,000 overspent.

Revenue Collection
 84.8% of Council Tax was collected by 31st December 2016, 

compared to 85.2% for the same period last year.
 81.2% of Business Rates was collected by 31st December 2016 

compared with 81.6% for the same period last year.
 At the end of Quarter Three the value of sundry debt that was 

over 60 days old was £251,658 which compares with £297,987 at 
31st December 2015

Appendix A

Procurement The Procurement headlines for the third quarter are:
 11 procurement activities were completed during Quarter Three
 The procurement forward plan includes 41 procurement activities 

for 2016/17 (either SMDC only or joint) 
 At 31st December 2016, 59% of procurement activity undertaken 

was on the forward plan and the Council paid 95% of its invoices 
within 30 days during the year

Appendix B 

Page 30



Subject Headline Reference
Performance The Performance headlines for the Third Quarter are:

 40% of the key performance indicators are on track, 14% off track 
and 46% no target (contextual or baseline year).

 Of the 20 Priority Actions within the Corporate Plan, none are 
rated red, 6 have been completed/closed, 2 are currently rated 
‘Amber’, 2 are pending projects and the remainder being classified 
as ‘Green’; and

 The Council received 41 complaints, 58 comments and 46 
compliments in the Third Quarter. 

Appendix C

4.      How this Report Links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1 The successful delivery of all corporate priorities is dependent upon the 
effective management of performance and financial resources, which is the 
subject of this report.

5.      Options and Analysis

5.1 Detailed Analysis is contained within the main body of the Report.

6. Implications

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
None

6.2 Workforce
None

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's Equality 
and Diversity policies

6.4 Financial Considerations
There are substantial financial considerations contained throughout the 
report

6.5 Legal
None

16.6 Sustainability
None

6.7 External Consultation
None

6.4

Page 31



6.8          Risk  Assessment
There are a number of risks to the financial position presented, which are 
identified and explained in the financial report attached at Appendix A.

ANDREW P STOKES
Executive Director (Transformation) & Chief Finance Officer

Web Links and
Background Papers

Location Contact details

Various background working papers Moorlands House Claire Hazeldene
01538 395400 Ext. 4191

Vanessa Higgins 
01538 395400 Ext. 4195

Page 32



 

APPENDIX A

2016/17

Third Quarter
 Financial 

Review

 

Page 33



1 Background and Introduction

1.1 In accordance with the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules and 
recommended good practice, a quarterly financial report is presented to 
members. This is the third report for 2016/17.

1.2 The report summarises overall financial performance for 2016/17 with 
particular emphasis on the key sources of financial risk to the Council. 
Specific considerations are as follows:

 General Fund Revenue Account (Section 2) – considers 
budgetary performance by looking at variations in income and 
expenditure and the funding received by the Council. 

 Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme (Section 3) – 
considers progress in achieving the efficiency and rationalisation 
savings forecast for 2016/17. 

 Capital Programme (Section 4) – provides an update on progress 
against the Council’s capital plan 

 Treasury Management (Section 5) – sets out the key statistics in 
terms of investments and borrowings;

 Revenue Collection (Section 6) – considers progress-to-date in 
collecting the Council Tax and Business Rates; and

Page 34



2 General Fund Revenue Account

2.1 This section of the report considers the financial performance of the General 
Fund Revenue Account against budget by setting out variations in income and 
expenditure and funding received by the Council. 

Service 2016/17 
Budget

Expected 
Outturn 
2016/17

Variance

 £ £ £
Chief Executive 25,610 25,610 -
Executive Directors 39,400 39,400 -
Audit 12,440 12,440 -
ICT 688,110 655,820 (32,290)
Human Resources 66,250 51,250 (15,000)
Member Services 312,100 298,100 (14,000)
Property Services 1,002,980 956,980 (46,000)
Revenues and Benefits (312,570) (309,300) 3,270
Planning Applications (395,960) (376,030) 19,930
Building Control (194,360) (89,360) 105,000
Customer Services 157,130 146,960 (10,170)
Legal Services 64,520 64,520 -
Electoral Services 84,470 59,470 (25,000)
Licensing and Land Charges (219,300) (194,300) 25,000
Regeneration 188,870 245,930 57,060
Communities and Cultural 163,300 156,480 (6,820)
Housing Strategy 28,590 75,570 46,980
Transformation 6,870 6,870 -
Community Safety and Enforcement 177,360 179,880 2,520
Finance and Procurement * 6,130,190 6,515,240 385,050
Waste Collection 1,405,560 1,403,450 (2,110)
Street Scene 309,900 312,780 2,880
Leisure Services 610,710 604,510 (6,200)
Horticulture 583,290 588,340 5,050
Visitor Services (481,000) (464,760) 16,240
Environmental Health (11,020) (11,020) -
    
Net Total of Services 10,443,440 10,954,830 511,390
    
Net Interest (387,790) (382,790) 5,000

10,055,650 10,572,040 516,390

Funding   : external (10,148,470) (10,190,120) (41,650)
                 : reserves - contribution/(use) 92,820 (376,270) (469,090)
    
Projected (Surplus)/Deficit - 5,650 5,650
    

* Staff costs are currently budgeted corporately within Finance & Procurement. 

2.2 The 2016/17 revenue budget was originally set at £10,014,650. The Chief 
Finance Officer, in accordance with the Financial Procedure Rules, authorised 
the roll forward of £41,000 in unused budgets from 2015/16, relating to:

Page 35



 Property Services: £10,000 for hearing loop installation at Moorlands 
House; and £31,000 in support of health and safety works at South 
Moorlands Leisure Centre. 

This brought the 2016/17 budget to £10,055,650 including a net contribution of 
£92,820 into reserves.

2.3 The third quarter projected outturn on the General Fund Revenue Account for 
the year is £10,061,300. This represents a projected deficit for the year of 
£5,650 after using £376,270 of reserves.

2.4 There are four areas of significant overspend projected on the General Fund 
Revenue Account:

 Building Control (£105,000 overspend): a reduction in Building Control staff 
has impacted on income receipts. An alternative service delivery 
arrangement utilising a third party has been put in place on an interim basis.  
Future delivery options are currently being explored.

 Regeneration (£57,060 overspend): Owing to the profiling of Local Plan 
activities there is a £36,000 overspend against the annual budget, which will 
be covered in part by the use of £25,000 earmarked in a reserve for such 
costs. A further £25,000 is being spent on the Cornhill project but this will be 
met out of a reserve previously earmarked to support such activities (see 
2.5)

 Finance and Procurement (£385,050 overspend) – there is an in-year 
shortfall of £443,600 in the savings arising out of the efficiency programme.  
This is largely as a result of slippage in some of the projects planned to 
deliver these savings (section 4).  There have also been a number of one-
off in year costs incurred from the implementation of efficiency projects.  
There are a number of underspends offsetting a proportion of this in year 
shortfall, some one-off in nature, others will be reviewed to ascertain if they 
are sustainable and can be applied to the efficiency programme. It is 
assumed that £283,260 of the net shortfall will be met by using the 
earmarked Efficiency and Rationalisation reserve; and £80,000 from the 
ICT Strategy reserve (section 2.6).  

 Housing Strategy (£46,980 overspend): A contribution to Arch North 
Staffordshire for the upkeep of a Refuge has been made as part of the 
Council’s Homelessness prevention strategy.  This spend represents the 
application of monies previously received from the Department of 
Communities and Local Government (DCLG) and held in an earmarked 
reserve (see 2.5).

2.5 The level of funding anticipated for the year is £510,740 above that budgeted 
due to the following:

External Funding (£41,650):
 Transitional Support Grant (£4,800) - Government have awarded additional 

funding to ease the pace of reductions during the most difficult first 2 years 
of the settlement for those councils with the sharpest reductions in Revenue 
Support Grant.

Page 36



 Rural Services Delivery Grant (£45,150) – An additional £30,040 was 
received in December, on top of the £15,110 already granted by Central 
Government, in support of councils providing services in rural areas.

 Business Rates Retention – a small shortfall of £8,300 is expected on the 
level of Business Rates retained in the year owing to the forecast 
collectable amount being greater than at budget setting stage which would 
result in a larger levy being payable on growth from the General Fund. The 
larger collectable amount would result in a better Collection Fund Surplus/ 
Deficit position at the year end. This position is subject to change in the 
year with fluctuations in the business rates list and the effect of appeals 
lodged against ratings.

Use of Reserves (£469,090):
 Land Charges Earmarked Reserve (use of reserves £25,000) – Personal 

searches litigation costs to be met out of reserve.
 Regeneration (use of reserves £50,000) – costs of the Cornhill project and 

part of the overspend against the Local Plan is to be met out of earmarked 
reserves (see 2.4).

 Domestic Abuse Earmarked Reserve (use of reserves £46,980) – Domestic 
Abuse grant funding previously received from the Department of 
Communities and Local Government is being applied by the Housing 
Strategy service (see 2.4).

 Finance – Efficiency and Rationalisation Reserve (use of reserves 
£283,260) – part of the in-year shortfall in the Efficiency Plan arising out of 
programme slippage is to be met by use of the earmarked reserve set up 
for this purpose

 Finance – ICT Strategy Reserve (use of reserves £80,000) – IT system 
costs associated with the delivery of the Efficiency Programme will be met 
from the earmarked reserve set up for this purpose.

 Section 106 monies – the Horticulture service is to draw down £5,030 from 
this reserve to support spend on Biddulph recreation grounds.

 Local Strategic Partnership (contribution to reserves £21,180) – partnership 
funding received in year by the Communities and Culture service has been 
earmarked for use in future years.

2.6 Land Charges Fees & Charges are impacted by a change introduced by HMRC: 
with effect from 1st January 2017, HMRC have imposed the standard rate of 
VAT on CON29.

Page 37



3. Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme

3.1 This section of the report considers the financial performance of the Council’s 
Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme in 2016/17.

3.2 The Council’s Medium-Term Financial Plan includes a three-year (2014/15 – 
2016/17) Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy targeting savings of £2.26 
million. 

3.3 The 2016/17 budget provides for the achievement of £613,760 of such savings 
in year. In addition, there is a requirement to realise £706,750 in savings, which 
were unachieved in 2014/15 and 2015/16 and consequently rolled forward into 
2016/17. 

3.4 By the end of 2016/17 staff budgets will be reduced in line with service review 
outcomes, with the majority of the £535,000 targeted savings being achieved.  
Additionally, £240,000 in Procurement related savings (reduced spend as a 
result of procurement activity/expenditure being challenged/increased on 
contract spend etc.) were identified as part of the 2016/17 budget setting 
process.  These savings have been reviewed and taken to the benefit of the 
Efficiency Plan.

3.5 Focus has subsequently turned to other efficiency projects; for example income 
generation, asset management and further sharing of services; to deliver the 
remaining savings. 

3.6 At the end of the third quarter there it is predicted that there will be a £443,600 
shortfall in the delivery of the Efficiency Plan savings in-year. This is due to 
slippage of some of the remaining projects and the payment of some short-
term/one-off costs emerging out of the implementation of efficiency programme 
(e.g. staff related costs and IT system improvements etc.).

3.7 The Authority carries a reserve of £493,000 earmarked to support the Strategy 
and at Quarter Three it is assumed that £283,260 of this reserve will be used in 
2016/17 to help offset the shortfall in the Efficiency Programme. A further 
£80,000 will be taken from the ICT Strategy Reserve to fund system costs 
associated with the delivery of the Efficiency Programme

3.8 As part of the 2017/18 budget setting process, a new Efficiency Plan has been 
created taking into account the saving requirements for the next four years and 
a revised profile of savings outstanding from the existing Efficiency Programme.

Page 38



4.       Capital Programme 

4.1       This section of the report provides an update on the Council’s Capital 
Programme  

4.2       The table below shows a high level (service) summary of the General Fund 
Capital Programme position at 31st December 2016. Further detail – on a 
scheme by scheme basis is contained in Annex A:

Service
 

2016/17 
Approved 

Budget 
Q3 

Changes 
2016/17 
Revised 
Budget

Expected 
Outturn 
2016/17

Expected 
Variance 
2016/17

£ £ £ £ £

EH- Housing Standards 686,060 354,720 1,040,780 532,060 (508,720)

Property Services 638,650 - 638,650 105,270 (533,380)

ICT 111,630 - 111,630 281,000 169,370

Environmental Services 214,540 - 214,540 - (214,540)

Leisure Services 172,000 - 172,000 152,000 (20,000)

Regeneration 745,700 - 745,700 44,500 (701,200)

Horticulture 100,000 54,000 154,000 154,000 -

2,668,580 408,720 3,077,300 1,268,830 (1,808,470)

Funding:-      

External  Contributions 869,140 403,340 1,272,480 917,760 (354,720)

Capital Reserve - 5,380 5,380 5,380 -

Planning obligations 100,000 - 100,000 100,000 -

Borrowing 1,699,440 - 1,699,440 245,690 (1,453,750)

2,668,580 408,720 3,077,300 1,268,830 (1,808,470)

4.3 The 2016/17 General Fund Capital Budget as updated and approved by 
Cabinet on 6th December 2016 was set at £2,668,580 - An increased budget of 
£408,720 has been included in Quarter Three; resulting in a revised 2016-17 
budget of £3,077,300

4.4 The changes made to the programme in Quarter Three are listed below. One 
new play area project was authorised by delegated approval on 21st November 
2016 and a budget increase applied to the Disabled Facility Grants Programme:

 Hot Lane Biddulph Play Area - £54,000 the Council working in partnership 
with Biddulph Moor Community Association to upgrade and improve the 
play area; external funding of  £48,620 has been secured.

 Disabled Facilities – Increased funding of £354,720 has been assigned by 
Staffordshire County Council towards the delivery of mandatory disabled 
facility grants in 2016-17. The funding for these adaptations has previously 
been given directly to the Council but from 2015/16, the funding was 
incorporated into the Better Care Fund and paid to the County Council. The 
notification of the actual funding available in 2016-17 was not received in 

Page 39



time to enable any strategic changes to the delivery of the grants 
programme. It is anticipated that based on current demands for Disabled 
Facilities Grants that most of the revised budget will be committed; but 
actual grant works undertaken are expected to produce an underspend of 
£508,000. 

4.5 There are five significant spend variances to note:
  
 Housing Standards (£508,720 underspend) As highlighted  above the 

value of Disabled Facilities Grants completed in the year is expected to 
be underspent - the variance will be re-profiled into future years.

 ICT  (£169,370 overspend) Implementation of the ICT Strategy is on-
going, the latest phase - Infrastructure Upgrade and Microsoft 
Compliancy – has been accelerated resulting in a forecast overspend of 
£169,370. The overspend will be met from re-profiling the overall ICT 
provision within the latest approved 4 year Capital Programme. Further 
profiling of expenditure may be required dependent on prioritisation and 
progress of each ICT project.

 Property Services   (£533,380 underspend) A number of projects have 
been re-profiled into future years following the on-going review and 
prioritisation of works contained within  the Asset Management Plan.

 Environmental Health (£214,540 underspend) - A programme of 
improvements works at Fowlchurch Depot have been completed and any 
further proposals will be subject to further report and authorisation by 
members. 

 Growth Fund (£700,000 underspend) A number of internal projects are 
currently being developed but are not expected to incur any capital costs 
in this financial year.  The business case for moving forward with these 
projects will be assessed by the Transformation Board. Therefore, the 
capital budget remains in place to fund potential growth projects but will 
be re-profiled as projects are approved.

Page 40



5.       Treasury Management

5.1       This section of the report sets out the key treasury management statistics in 
relation to the Council’s investments and borrowings. This report comprises a 
high-level treasury management summary.  The Audit and Accounts Committee 
receives detailed operational updates on treasury management.

Investments

5.2       Cash Investments held on the 31st December 2016 totalled £13.4 million. 
Interest earned on these investments up to the end of quarter three totalled 
£36,400. The average level of funds available for investment during this period 
was £11.1 million.

5.3       The Council has budgeted to receive £56,690 in investment income in 2016/17. 
The interest which can be earned on investments for the remainder of the year 
has been adversely affected by the reduction in the Base Rate at the Bank of 
England to 0.25% on 4th August. Therefore it is anticipated that there will be a 
shortfall of £15,000 on this budget at the end of the year.

Ascent Joint Venture

5.4       Ascent (the joint venture company set up to deliver affordable housing across 
the district) had drawn the full £5 million Debenture facility by the end of 
2014/15. Interest is charged at 2%, therefore the budgeted interest income for 
the year is  £100,000; this is on target.

5.5       There have been no further drawdowns of the loan during 2016/17, nor are any 
anticipated. Therefore the total loan balance remains at £14 million. Interest 
charged is based on the 5 year PWLB rate on the date of the drawdown plus a 
1.25% risk premium. The budget of interest income related to the loan was set 
at £490,100 and is expected to be on target.

Borrowing

5.6       The debt outstanding as at 31st December 2016 totalled £15.6 million. £14 
million has been used to fund the Ascent Loan, the remaining £1.6 million 
relates to finance leases.

5.7       The Council has budgeted to incur £259,000 in interest charges in 2016/17. This 
was based on the existing Ascent loan balance and a £1.5 million general fund 
borrowing requirement in the current year capital programme. There has been 
no new borrowing to date and any potential borrowing to support the general 
fund capital programme is now most likely to occur at the very end of the year 
or into 2017/18. Therefore an underspend of £10,000 is forecast against the 
budget.

Page 41



6       Revenue Collection

6.1 This section of the report details progress to date in collecting the Council Tax, 
Business Rates and Sundry Debt.

6.2 The Q3 collection rate outturn for the year 2016/17 was as follows:

 Council Tax – 84.8% of Council Tax was collected by 31 December 2016, 
compared to 85.2% for the same period last year.

 Business Rates – 81.2% of Business Rates was collected by 31 December 
2016 compared with 81.6% for the same period last year.

6.3 At the end of Quarter Three the value of sundry debt that was over 60 days old 
was £251,658 which compares with £297,987 at 31st December 2015. 

Page 42



ANNEX A

Capital Programme Update 31st  December  2016

Capital Schemes 2016/17 
Approved 

Budget
Q3 

Changes
2016/17 
Revised 
Budget

Expected 
Outturn 
2016/17

Expected 
Variance 
2016/17

£ £ £ £ £
Environmental Health      
Private Sector Grants 656,060 354,720 1,010,780 502,060 (508,720)
Landlord Accreditation Scheme 30,000            -   30,000 30,000               -   

Total Environmental Health 686,060 354,720 1,040,780 532,060 (508,720)
Property Services      
Asset Management Plan 638,650            -   638,650 105,270 (533,380)

 Total Property 638,650            -   638,650 105,270 (533,380)
ICT 111,630            -   111,630 281,000 169,370

 Total ICT 111,630            -   111,630 281,000 169,370
Environmental Services      
Street Scene & Depots 214,540            -   214,540            -   (214,540)

Total Environmental Services 214,540            -   214,540            -   (214,540)
Leisure Services      
Sports - Small Schemes 75,480            -   75,480 55,480 (20,000)
Leek Sports Village            -              -              -              -                 -   
Biddulph Sports Village 96,520            -   96,520 96,520               -   

Total Leisure Services 172,000            -   172,000 152,000 (20,000)
Regeneration      
Moorlands Partnership Grants 45,700            -   45,700 44,500 (1,200)
Growth Fund Provision 700,000            -   700,000            -   (700,000)

Total Regeneration 745,700            -   745,700 44,500 (701,200)
Horticulture      
Play - Projects 100,000 54,000 154,000 154,000               -   

Total Horticulture 100,000 54,000 154,000 154,000               -   
      

Total Programme 2,668,580 408,720 3,077,300 1,268,830 (1,808,470)

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B

2016/17

Third Quarter
 Procurement 

Review

Page 45



1. Introduction

1.1 A key element of the financial savings included in the Council’s Efficiency & 
Rationalisation Strategy is being met from the implementation of the 
Procurement Strategy which was agreed by Councillors in April 2014. 

1.2 The strategy was developed to ensure that its objectives link closely with the 
Council’s overall strategic vision and aims and objectives.  The key actions in 
in the strategy included:

 Delivery of cashable efficiency savings to support the Efficiency & 
Rationalisation Strategy by tendering, retendering and renegotiating of 
contracts.

 Development and embedding a professional procurement unit of 
excellence to deliver on going efficiency savings for the Councils

 Revising Financial and Procurement Procedure Rules to support 
transparency, timeliness of contract award and greater control

 Expanding the usage of electronic procurement systems for works as 
appropriate

 Increasing the levels of spend covered by the contract
 Implementation of e-tendering
 Supporting the local economy by increasing the number of procurement 

opportunities advertised and adoption of a local business concordat

1.3 Significant progress has been made since April 2014, in conjunction with the 
external support of the Alliance Transformation partner Northgate Information 
Solutions. The reliance on this external support has now ended as the new 
staffing structure has been implemented as part of the service review process.  
This has enabled new working initiatives to be implemented, including the 
integration of the Creditors function into Procurement will ensure the 
‘Purchase to Pay Cycle’ is robust and able to meet the demands of efficiency 
and performance targets.

1.4 Additionally, the introduction of new systems and electronic processes now 
enables the Alliance to be fully compliant in accordance with Transparency 
Code and Public Contract Regulations requirements – with all procurement 
opportunities over £5,000 now openly advertised.

Page 46



2. Third Quarter Completed Procurements

2.1 The activity supported by the procurement function during October to 
December 2016 is summarised below:

Third Quarter  High Value 
(> £172,000)

Low Value
 (< £172,000) Total

SMDC Only - 5 5
JOINT (SM/HP) - 6 6
TOTAL - 11 11

2.2 Annex A provides details of the 11 procurements completed during Quarter 3.

2.3 During the 2016/17 budget setting process, historical spend was analysed and 
where spend had been consistently lower than budget, this was highlighted for 
review. Subsequently, £240,000 in savings has been offset against the 
efficiency programme in relation to this analysis.

2.4 Additionally, a further £6,850 in cashable savings have been achieved from 
procurement activity during 2016/17 to date – which has also been offset 
against the efficiency programme.  This relates primarily to contract renewals.  

2.5 A number of one-off procurement exercises have also taken place – which 
may result in savings against overall budget.  This will be assessed when 
setting the 2017/18 budget and undertaking a comparison of expenditure 
against budget to identify where budgets can be reduced due to procurement 
activity.   

3. 2016/17 Procurement Forward Plan

3.1 The second quarter report detailed a total of 69 (34 SMDC / JOINT) remaining 
procurement opportunities to be delivered across the Alliance in 16/17.  The 
number of listed entries for review has now risen to a total of 83 (41 SMDC / 
JOINT).  The table below details the number of exercises which fall into either 
low or high value (profiled over full contract term).

2016/17
Activity

High Value 
(> £172,000)

 Low Value
 (< £172,000) Total

SMDC 1 14 15
JOINT (SM/HP) 3 23 26
TOTAL 4 37 41

Page 47



In addition to the above, there are 170 listed entries brought forward from 14/15 
and 15/16 for review and completion for both HPBC and SMDC.

3.2 Some of the more significant ‘high level’ procurement activity to be delivered in 
2016/17 includes:

 Capital Programme works (HP/SM)
 Liquid Fuels Supply (HP/SM)
 Facilities Management Services – Council Buildings (HP/SM)
 CCTV System Maintenance Contract (HP/SM)
 General Building Materials Supplies and Civils Works Frameworks (HP/SM)
 Planning Consultancy and Professional Legal Services Framework (HP/SM)
 Outbound Mail / Print rationalisation Transformation Project (HP/SM)
 Regeneration Projects (SMDC)

3.3 The Procurement team will also be supporting on the Waste and Street scene 
delivery options.

4. Procurement Performance

4.1 This section reports on the Council performance in terms of procurement 
activity and the payment of suppliers.

4.2 Performance for the third quarter is highlighted below:

Performance Indicator Target
Performance at 
31st December 

2016
% of Alliance Procurement 
Activity on Forward Plan 60% 59%

Annual contract spend as % 
of gross expenditure budget 75%                                69%

% of invoices paid within 30 
days 95% 95%

4.3 Performance Indicators are in status of ‘On Target’ having made progress to 
during quarter 3. It is expected that performance will be maintained at this level 
during quarter 4.

Page 48



ANNEX A

Third Quarter Procurement Activity Completed

Auth- 
ority

Contract 
name

Brief Description Recurring 
or One-off 
contracts

Service Area Contract 
Awarded To

Term / 
Duration
(years)

Total 
Contract 

Value (incl. 
extensions)

Low Value (<172,000)

SMDC
Haregate 

Playground 
Improvements 

Improvements to Ball Haye 
Recreational ground, 

Haregate hall play area 
and open space in Leek 

One-off
Operational 
Services - 

Horticulture

Hags SMP 
Ltd 1       £105,000 

SMDC

Cheadle 
Transport 

Study - 
Consultancy 
Commission

Commissioned through 
Staffordshire County 

Council 
One-off Regeneration AMEY 1         £37,454 

SMDC

Turf Stripping 
and heather 
seeding at 

Wetley Moor 

Turf Stripping and heather 
seeding at Wetley Moor - 

External funding re: higher 
level steward capital grant 
payment natural England

One-off
Operational 
Services - 

Horticulture

Terra Firma 
Environment

al 
1        £19,970 

SMDC

Mining 
Features 
survey at 

Wetley Moor

Required every 5 Years, as 
part of recommendations of 

previous Mining study in 
2011. Essential part of 

Health and Safety for the 
site precautions to protect 

the public, grazing 
livestock and vehicle 

access.

Recurring
Operational 
Services - 

Horticulture

Wardell 
Armstrong 1          £3,900 

SMDC

Reception 
Screens for 
Moorlands 

House 

To supply reception 
screens for Moorlands 

House
One-off

Customer 
Services - 
Customer 
Services

Mechanical 
Electrical 
Building 

Total Limited 

1           £2,228 

Joint

H&S CDM 
Client Advisor 

Services 
Framework for 

HPBC and 
SMDC

Framework of 3 suppliers 
to provide consultancy 
services for H&S CDM 

regs on Capital Projects

Recurring Assets 
Compliance

David 
Trowler, 

WYG 
Managemen
t, Keelagher 
Okey Klein 

2       £150,000 

Joint
Committee 

Management 
system

Committee management 
software for Agendas and 

Minutes
Recurring

Organisational 
Development 

& 
Transformation 

- ICT

Modern 
Mindset 2         £31,010 

Joint
Pest Control 

Products 
Provider

To purchase all pest 
control equipment & 

pesticides
Recurring

Regulatory 
Services - 

Environmental 
Health

ESPO 150 
Framework - 

Killgerm 
1         £12,000 

Joint

Safeguarding 
Training for 

Hackney 
Licence 
holders 

Training requirement to 
provide to Hackney 

carriage licence holders 
across the Alliance

Recurring
Regulatory 
Services - 
Licensing

Direct 
Training and 
Managemen

t 

1         £10,000 

Page 49



Joint

Pay and 
Display Fees 

and Charges - 
Review 
(Income 

Generation)

Consultant to review 
options for fees and 
charges for P&D car 

parking across the Alliance

One-off
Visitor 

Services - Car 
Parking

RTA 
Associates  1           4,033 

Joint

Out of hours 
call out 

provision for 
contractors

Out of hours call out 
provision for contractors Recurring

Regulatory 
Services - 
Planning & 

Building 
Control

Not to be 
Renewed - N/a  N/a 

Page 50



Staffs Moorlands Performance and Customer Feedback Report: April to December 2016 (Q3)

P
age 51



Staffordshire Moorlands Q3 Summary 

The following report provides Councillors with an overview of performance at Staffs Moorlands for the period April to December 2016 in 
relation to the Council’s corporate plan priorities and the associated performance targets and projects. The 2016/17 reports are the first in an 
agreed new style, which better reflects the Council’s paperless approach to meetings with greater use of tablet-friendly reports. There is no 
longer an analysis against a ‘dashboard’ of measures but rather against the wider performance framework as a whole. The report also provides 
an overview of the results from the Council’s customer feedback system in terms of how we handle complaints and the level of comments and 
compliments.      

Performance Overview 

There are 50 ‘monthly’ and ‘quarterly’ reported performance measures at Staffs Moorlands and the chart below left shows the results for 
quarter three, which are slightly down on quarter two. The ‘N/A’ column includes those measures that are designed to provide contextual 
information only or are new for 2016/17 and therefore have no target for this year. The actions being taken to address the ‘off track’ measures 
are detailed at the end of this report.

The report also provides an update on the progress of key projects that contribute to the priority actions outlined in the Corporate Plan. The 
table below right explains the colour coding used to describe the current status. 

   

 

Customer Feedback Overview 

The Council is ahead of target for responding to complaints and the trend in the number of stage 1 complaints received compared to the same 
period last year is significantly improved with a 37% reduction, but there has been a small dip in repeat complaints.  

Project off Track

Project in danger of going off Track

Project on Track

Awaiting Decision / Project Initiation 
Documentation

Complete / Closed

40%

14%

46%

On track Off track N/A
0

10

20

30

40

50

P
age 52



Aim 1: Help create a safer and healthier environment for our communities to live and work 

On track Off Track N/A
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

SM Aim 1: December 2016 Results (Q3) 

The large proportion of N/A measures reflects a raft of new measures for 2016/17 for which a baseline is being collected in order to set a 
target in 2017/18, where relevant. 

Celebrating Success: As the reporting year progresses we will highlight successful performance under each of our aims.   

In December the following performance indicators outstripped their targets:

 Households in temporary accommodation
 Homelessness prevention work

P
age 53



Corporate Priority Actions – Progress Highlights

Project / Rating Priority Action Progress – December
Procurement 
Project

 Agree an approach that results in joint leisure centre contract 
renewals across the Alliance

 Develop and implement a plan that is focussed on increasing 
footfall in Leisure Centres by the effective use of off-peak 
capacity

Grant Thornton engaged to explore potential options for 
the delivery/operation of leisure centres on expiry of the 
Parkwood/PfP contracts in 2018/19. They are currently 
amending the draft report to incorporate current costings 
– including leisure centre operational expenditure and 
future property costs (based on the 30 year asset review 
undertaken by the Assets team). Principal Leisure Officer 
has carried out work on preparing a brief.

Affordable 
Housing Project

 Develop a strategy for further development of affordable and 
specialist housing

 Develop and agree a new empty properties strategy

Awaiting PID / Decision. 

Strategic 
Partnerships 
Project

 Work with health services to develop a plan to enhance leisure 
provision with a focus on health improvement

 Develop and implement a plan to reduce anti-social behaviour
 Develop a scheme that supports the upgrading of security in 

vulnerable people’s homes
 Support the Community Safety Partnership with improved 

provision of outreach workers for dealing with domestic violence
 Support the police and other partners to reduce crime, the fear 

of crime and anti social behaviour 
 Work with Staffordshire County Council and other partners to 

ensure an effective partnership with central government
 Ensure there is effective health provision particularly for the 

elderly
 Ensure that the services provided by other public sector partners 

meet the needs of residents  

No change.
The initial identification of strategic partnerships had 
slipped but is now back on track. An updated list of 
partnerships has been prepared for consideration. 

P
age 54



Aim 2: Meet financial challenges and provide value for money

On track Off Track N/A
0%

10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%

SM Aim 2: December 2016 Results (Q3) 

The results show that performance against Aim Two is relatively strong, with a high proportion of on track measures. 

Celebrating Success: As the reporting year progresses we will highlight successful performance under each of our aims.   

In December the following performance indicators outstripped their targets:

 Complaints dealt with within 10 working days
 Internal audit recommendations implemented on time

P
age 55



Corporate Priority Actions – Progress Highlights

Project / Rating Priority Action Progress – December 
Channel Shift 
Programme

 Implement the agreed Customer Services Strategy
 Agree and implement an approach to bring about effective 

channel shift 
 Agree and implement a plan for further improvement of the 

Council’s website
 Review and revise processes to ensure that they are focused upon 

the customer and are effectively aligned across services

All milestones are currently on track, the new websites 
have been launched and Phase 1 is now complete. 
A phase 2 project plan will be in place by the end of 
January 2017. This phase will include the introduction of 
a digital portal. 

Information 
Governance 
Group - 
Completed

Develop a plan to ensure better sharing of information between 
services and with partners

Action Completed.
Action plan in place and progressing well. Data 
Protection Policies and overarching Information 
Governance Policy has been reviewed and 6 key 
elements have been identified for the ASSURED toolkit. 
New PIA forms developed and integrated into project 
methodology. Incident reporting form and incident log 
in place and being used. Protective marking framework 
underway.   

Income 
Generation 
Project

Develop and implement a plan to identify new and innovative ways of 
generating income 

All income generation challenge meetings have been 
completed. Fees and Charges have been added to the 
proforma for the current cycle. Additional ideas 
discussed ion meetings are currently being reviewed 
and scoped, i.e. planning fee increase. Car park work 
currently underway, the brief has been issued and 
agreed and a report is expected back early in 2017.

Various Identify European funding opportunities Linked to various regeneration-based projects. 

P
age 56



Aim 3: Help create a strong economy by supporting further regeneration of towns and 
villages  

On track Off Track N/A
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

SM Aim 3: December 2016 Results (Q3)  

The indicators listed as N/A refer to those measures for which 2016/17 has been set as a baseline year for gathering data or the measure is for 
contextual purposes only.  

Celebrating Success: As the reporting year progresses we will highlight successful performance under each of our aims.   

In December the following performance indicators outstripped their targets:

 Major, Minor and other planning applications processed on time and appeals success

P
age 57



Corporate Priority Actions – Progress Highlights

Project / Rating Priority Action Progress – December
Biddulph Town 
Deal 

Implement the town deal in Biddulph in partnership with Biddulph 
Town Council

Town council preparing a brief for the masterplan for 
key sites in Biddulph town centre with support from 
regeneration team. A walk about was arranged with the 
town and district councillors with officers from 
regeneration team, SCC highways and property team.

Cinebowl – 
project closed

 Support the development of a Cinebowl / Fast Food Outlet
 Support the development of new entertainment facilities in Leek

Cabinet have agreed to the closure of this project as a 
Corporate Plan priority due to delivery issues.   

Cornhill Support the development of Cornhill
Support the development of improved rail links in partnership with 
Stoke-on-Trent City Council

Discussions with stakeholders are on-going to agree a 
preferred way forward for the delivery of the council 
owned site in Cornhill for a mixed use development 
scheme including an access road. On conclusion of these 
discussions, a report will be prepared for the cabinet 
providing an update on the progress and seeking 
approval for next steps.

Growth Fund Implement the Growth Fund initiative to support small businesses Awaiting the next stage of application for Big Mill with 
further details. 

Public Markets Develop and implement plans to extend the public market operation 
in Leek 

The markets report has been scrutinised by Service 
Delivery and was approved by Cabinet 6 
December. Scope out the procurement specification by 
June 2017.

Service Delivery 
Reviews - 
Completed

 Develop and implement a new approach that ensures that the 
planning applications process is quicker, linked to growth and 
focussed upon increasing income

 Ensure that delegations in respect of planning applications are 
appropriately applied and that Parish Council views’ are taken 
into account

The new operations manager has produced and has 
been implementing a Development Services Action Plan 
which makes a number of service improvements to the 
applications process, including, for example, electronic 
decisions. Planning Officer seconded to Transformation 
to implement the IT side of the process improvements. 
The new operations manager now has overview of the 
planning process including signing of delegated reports 
and ensures that all comments and representations are 
properly considered and taken into account.

P
age 58



Project / Rating Priority Action Progress – December
Enforcement 
Arrangements - 
Completed

 Develop and implement a plan which will address the planning 
enforcement backlog 

 Implement a system to ensure that planning conditions 
implementation is tracked effectively

The Operations Manager has produced and is 
implementing a Development Services Action Plan 
which makes a number of service improvements to the 
applications process, including for example, electronic 
decisions. All comments and representations are 
properly considered and taken into account as part of 
the planning process. 

Leek Mill Quarter Support the development of London Mill The Stoke and Staffordshire ESIF (European Structural 
and Investment Fund) sub-committee met on Thursday, 
19th January and approved the recommendation from 
DCLG to reject our funding bid for London Mill. A report 
will be prepared for Cabinet setting out the decision and 
its implications soon.

Open for Business 
- Completed

Create an “Open for Business” environment The business sections of both websites have been 
created. Project now linked to business delivery 
programmes.  

P
age 59



Aim 4: Protect and Improve the Environment

On track Off Track N/A
0%

10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%

SM Aim 4: December 2016 Results (Q3) 

It is pleasing to report that all of the performance measures supporting our environmental aim are performing well against target. 

Celebrating Success: As the reporting year progresses we will highlight successful performance under each of our aims.   

In December the following performance indicators outstripped their targets:

 Recycling rates
 Dry recyclable contamination rates  

P
age 60



Corporate Priority Actions – Progress Highlights

Project / Rating Priority Action Progress – December 
Parks and Open 
Spaces

 Identify and implement an approach to reduce the cost of 
country parks

 Develop a plan to improve Brough Park with HLF support

Green flag retained for Ladderedge Country Park.
Brough Park- The application to the HLF has been 
unsuccessful. 
Transfer of the Councils countryside sites to a specialist 
provider are still under discussion. Discussions ongoing 
with Peak Park and Stoke on Trent.  

Procurement  Agree and implement actions that will ensure that the waste 
collection service can deal with the reducing levels of recycling 
income and recycling credits

 Agree an approach that results in joint operating arrangements 
with High Peak for waste collection and street cleansing

 Provide waste and recycling centres across the district

Committee authorisation to focus on a joint venture as 
preferred option subject to business case.  Joint Member 
working group established. Workshop held on 20th 
December with ANSA which identified which services are in 
scope and determined the individual work streams to focus 
on in order to formulate the business case. Next step is to 
assign mini-groups to focus on the individual work streams 
to identify the potential savings, timeline for achievement 
and identify the risks/constraints associated with 
implementation. Separate meeting to be arranged to focus 
on governance arrangements.

Asset 
Management Plan

Reduce the Council’s energy consumption and associated costs Condition information has been presented and a working 
group is to be set up. 

Enforcement 
Arrangements - 
Completed

Refresh the processes for dealing with enforcement action against 
environmental crime (fly tipping and littering) in order to ensure 
that there is zero tolerance 

A quarterly 2-day blitz has been planned.

Reporting arrangements are being reviewed to better allow 
Councillors to ‘self serve’ updates. Portfolio holders 
receiving regular updates on no's of FPN’s served and 
enforcement patrols undertaken. On-going monitoring of 
outcomes through the performance framework

P
age 61



P
age 62



P
age 63



Areas for Improvement: December 2016 

Measure of Success (PI) Aim / Objective Service Lead Target 
2016/17

 December 
2016

Reasons for performance / SMART actions to 
improve

Housing Benefits Processing: 
Time taken to process a) 

new claims and b) changes 
of circumstance 

Aim 1: Increased supply of 
good quality affordable 

homes 

a) 18 days
b) 7 days

a) 19 days
b) 9 days

Although the PI is currently off track the new targets 
should be achieved with the introduction of online 
claims.

Average time taken to 
answer calls

Aim 2: Ensure our services 
are easily available to all 

our residents in the 
appropriate channels and 
provided 'right first time'

100 
seconds

133
seconds

The average time to answer for month of December 
was 107 seconds. Reduction in monthly volume of 
calls received plus reduced numbers of unexpected 
absences in CS Team has assisted in improving 
answer time.

This PI should be considered within a cluster 
alongside, customer satisfaction, right first time and 
transactions by channel as we move forward the self 
serve and digital service options.

Repeat complaints Aim 2: Ensure our services 
are easily available to all 

our residents in the 
appropriate channels and 
provided 'right first time'

Head of Customer 
Services

5% 6% Of the 4 complaints received during December, 3 
were repeat issues. The service area is aware and 
measures are in place to improve customer service 
standards.

Average days sickness 
absence per FTE

Aim 2: 
A high performing and well 

motivated workforce

OD & 
Transformation 

Manager

9 days 8.34 days HR business partners are working with managers to 
improve their understanding of trends and issues, to 
support staff which will help reduce sickness levels.

P
age 64



Measure of Success (PI) Aim / Objective Service Lead Target 
2016/17

 December 
2016

Reasons for performance / SMART actions to 
improve

% of procurement activity on 
the forward plan

Aim 2: Effective use of 
resources

Finance and 
Procurement 

Manager

60% 59% The number of Single Source and reactive urgent 
exercises resulted in 53% (9 exercises) of the non-
registered on plan activity.  These are accepted as 
reactive i.e. cannot identify requirement in advance. 
However, 47% of non-planned activity (approx. 8 
exercises) were not highlighted in the first quarter 
service meetings or included in the forward plan, 
these exercises were for horticulture, assets, 
regeneration. The % outturn for Q3 would have 
achieved target at 65% if these services had notified 
procurement in advance of requiring completion. 
Review meetings scheduled for February where a 
reminder for pro-activity from services will be 
addressed. 

Satisfaction with the 
Planning Service

Aim 3: High quality 
development and building 
control with an open for 

business approach

Operations Manager 
– Development 

Services

80% 59% Low response rate to current survey. An online form 
is being developed to allow for quicker and 
increased survey responses.

For a full list of all performance measures and the December 2016 results please visit the Performance Management page on the Intranet or click on this 
link. http://hpbc.alliance-online.org/transformation/performance-management  

P
age 65

http://hpbc.alliance-online.org/transformation/performance-management


T
his page is intentionally left blank



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report to Cabinet

14th February 2017

Appendix Attached
 Appendix A (Medium Term Financial Plan 2017/18 to 2020/21)
 Appendix B (Efficiency & Rationalisation Strategy 2017-18 – 2020/21)
 Appendix C (Fees & Charges 2017/18)

1. Reason for the Report

1.1 The purpose of the report is to present the proposed Budget for 2017/18, 
updated Medium-Term Financial Plan 2017/18 – 2020/21 and proposed Fees 
and Charges for 2017/18. 

2. Recommendations

2.1 That the Cabinet support the following recommendations to Council:

 Approves the General Fund Budget for 2017/18 as detailed in Appendix A 
(section 8)

 Approves the revised Medium-Term Financial Plan (2017/18 to 2020/21) 
as detailed in Appendix A, including the revised Capital Programme 
(attached at Annex A)

 Approves the proposed Efficiency & Rationalisation Strategy for 2017/18 – 
2020/21 as detailed in Appendix B

 Approves the proposed Fees and Charges for 2017/18 as detailed in 
Appendix C

 Approves a Band D Council Tax of £142.18 for 2017/18 (an increase of 
1.9% from 2016/17)

TITLE: 2017/18 Budget & Updated Medium Term 
Financial Plan 2017/18 to 2020/21

PORTFOLIO HOLDER Cllr Sybil Ralphs – Leader

CONTACT OFFICERS: Claire Hazeldene – Finance & Procurement 
Manager

WARDS INVOLVED: Non-Specific

Page 67

Agenda Item 9.3

http://smdcintranet/committeeagendas/2012-13/Overview%20&%20Scrutiny/Resources/10Oct12/SMDC%20-%20MTFP%20Oct%202012%20(2)Agenda%20Item%207.doc
http://smdcintranet/committeeagendas/2012-13/Overview%20&%20Scrutiny/Resources/10Oct12/SMDC%20-%20MTFP%20Oct%202012%20(2)Agenda%20Item%207.doc
file:///C:/Users/chazeldene/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Documents%20and%20Settings/cstone/Local%20Settings/astokes/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/9RF23P99/SMDC%20-%20Budget%202012-13%20&%20MTFP%20App%20A%20(15-02-12).doc


 Approves a Band D Council Tax of £49.05 for Leek and £9.86 for Biddulph 
for 2016/17 (an increase of 1.9% from 2016/17) in respect of Special 
District Expenses

 Notes the Chief Finance Officer's view that the level of reserves is 
adequate for the Council based on this budget and the circumstances in 
place at the time of preparing it (Appendix A section 7)

3. Executive Summary

3.1 This report makes recommendations to Council for the budget and the level of 
Council Tax for 2017/18. The report also provides an update on the Council’s 
medium-term financial position through to 2020/21. Additionally, it proposes a 
new Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy for 2017/18 – 2020/21 and sets 
out the fees and charges proposed for 2017/18. 

3.2 The budget setting and medium term financial planning process provides the 
Council with the opportunity to plan its delivery of public services in 
accordance with local priorities and against the backdrop of public sector 
financial constraint.

3.3 Having completed the annual budget exercise, a balanced budget for 2017/18 
has been achieved, with the inclusion of an efficiency and rationalisation 
target of £661,000 (as per the proposed Efficiency & Rationalisation Strategy) 
and the drawdown of £516,210 in reserves.

3.6 The final General Fund budget proposal for 2017/18 provides for a net budget 
of £10,940,430 and a Council Tax increase of 1.9%.  Consequently, the Band 
D Council Tax increases to £142.18, which the Special District Expenses 
increasing to £49.05 (Leek) and £9.86 (Biddulph) respectively   

3.7 The Medium Term Financial Plan projections have incorporated the reduction 
in income from central government through revenue support grant, which is to 
be phased out by 2020, and adverse changes to the New Homes Bonus 
funding system.

3.8 Consequently, there is a cumulative deficit on the General Fund of £2,697,690 
by the end of 2020/21. Additionally, there is £443,600 of unachieved 
efficiencies from 2016/17 carried forward into 2017/18.  Therefore, an overall 
balanced MTFP position has been achieved from the proposed efficiency 
programme (see Appendix B) which targets £3,141,290 in savings.  

3.9 However, due to the estimated timing of the achievement of the savings, it is 
necessary to drawdown from general contingency reserves: £516,210 in 
2017/18, £489,780 in 2018/19 and £764,720 in 2019/20.  This results in a 
reduction in the General Fund contingency reserve to £1.56 million by 
2020/21; which still remains above the minimum contingency requirement of 
£1.08 million.

Page 68



3.9 The proposed General Fund Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy 2017/18 
– 2020/21 (Appendix B) will have the effect of both reducing expenditure and 
increasing income. The need to grow income is now more of a priority as the 
Council moves more towards being self-financing i.e. not reliant on direct 
government funding such as revenue support grant.

3.10 The strategy has been developed with the underlying principle of protecting 
frontline service delivery. It is also intended that the strategy is a tool to 
enable the Council to ensure that its service spending is determined by the 
established priorities set out in the Corporate Plan.

3.14 The Medium Term Financial Plan includes an updated General Fund capital 
programme of £10,695,940 over the period 2016/17 – 2020/21.

4.      How this Report Links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1 The successful delivery of all corporate priorities is dependent upon the 
effective management of financial resources, which is the subject of this 
report.

5.      Options and Analysis

5.1 A number of options have been considered throughout the financial planning 
process. Any changes to the provisions made would have to be self-financing.

6.  Implications

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
None.

6.2 Workforce
None.

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's Equality and 
Diversity policies.

An Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) has been undertaken on the 
Corporate Plan, which feeds into budget plans. The assessment will be 
further developed to take into account the new Efficiency & Rationalisation 
Strategy.

6.4 Financial Considerations
There are substantial financial considerations contained throughout the 
report.

6.4

Page 69



6.5 Legal
None.

16.6 Sustainability
None.

6.7 External Consultation
The Council’s budget plans are the subject of an annual public consultation 
exercise. Full details are contained within the plan

6.8  Risk A Risk Assessment
A full risk analysis has been undertaken which is contained within the plan

ANDREW P STOKES
Executive Director (Transformation) & Chief Finance Officer

Web Links and
Background Papers

Location Contact details

Various background working papers Moorlands House Claire Hazeldene
Finance & Procurement 
Manager
01538 395400 Ext. 4191

Keith Pointon
Principal Finance Officer 
(Financial Planning)
01538 395400 Ext. 4193

Page 70



APPENDIX A

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

BUDGET 2017/18 &                         
MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN             

2017/18 to 2020/21

February 2017

Page 71



INDEX

1 Introduction

2 Strategic Priorities

3 Current Spending Levels

4 Transformation Programme
4.1   Introduction  
4.2   Capital Programme
4.3   Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy
4.4   Member Priority Projects

5 Financial Forecasts
5.1 Interest Rates
5.2 Inflationary Projections
5.3 Budgetary Demand
5.4 Budget Growth
5.5 Pensions

6 Funding & Income Generation
6.1 Council Tax 
6.2 Business Rates Retention 
6.3 Collection Fund
6.4   Income from Government Grants
6.5   Fees & Charges

7 Risks, Contingencies & Use of Reserves 

8 Budget 2017/18

9 General Fund Revenue Financial Projections 

10 Consultation

Annex A Proposed Capital Programme  
Annex B Efficiency & Rationalisation Strategy Savings Profile
Annex C Fees and Charges – Income Categories
Annex D MTFP Principal Risks
Annex E Proposed Revenue Budget  

Page 72



1. Introduction

1.1. The Budget and Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) is a key element of the 
Council’s budget and policy framework. It aims to ensure resources are 
directed effectively and efficiently towards delivery of the Corporate Plan. It 
describes the financial direction of the Council for planning purposes and 
outlines the financial pressures the Council is likely to experience over the next 
4 years. 

1.2. The budget and medium term financial planning process establishes how 
available resources will be allocated to services in line with Council priorities 
which have been determined following consultation with residents, councillors 
and other stakeholders. The process facilitates the Council in planning the 
prudent management of its finances, in building resilience and in providing for 
the needs of residents over the long term.  

1.3. The MTFP is updated regularly to fit in with the budget cycle. This review of the 
MTFP builds on the existing strategy and updates assumptions to reflect known 
changes to income, costs and funding. The plan incorporates revenue and 
capital financial projections over the four years 2017/18 to 2020/21.  

1.4. The Council will demonstrate economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the 
application of its resources. Value for Money (VFM) is maximised when there is 
an optimum balance between economy, efficiency and effectiveness.

 Economy: the price the Council pays for providing its services 
 Efficiency: how much the Council gets out of what’s put in (productivity) 
 Effectiveness: value of the impact achieved (quantitative or qualitative) 

2. Strategic Priorities

2.1. The Budget and Medium Term Financial Plan is driven by local priorities. The 
Council’s spending strategy is set out in the Corporate Plan formally adopted by 
members of the Council.

2.2. Following the elections in May 2015, there was a fundamental review of the 
Corporate Plan focussing on the period 2015-2019 (up to the end of the current 
political administration).

2.3. The purpose of a Corporate Plan is to establish the Council’s vision, corporate 
objectives and key priorities for the medium term.  It in effect determines the 
Council’s commitments in the delivery of services and community leadership to 
the citizens of Staffordshire Moorlands.

2.4. The Council’s Corporate Plan has been developed after taking into account the 
views and aspirations of Staffordshire Moorlands citizens and having come to a 
clear understanding of empirical evidence. The plan has taken due recognition 
of the national and regional policy framework.  It has taken on board learning 
from the progress made by the Council and has benefitted from input from 
Members at a priority setting event which was held in September 2015.

Page 73



2.5. The Council’s vision is expressed as:   

“Achieving Excellence in the delivery of high quality services that meet the 
needs and aspirations of our communities” 

This vision is articulated further by four aims:-: 
 Help create a safer and healthier environment for our communiites to live 

and work
 Meet our financial challenges and provide value for money
 Help create a strong economy by supporting further regeneration of 

towns and villages
 Protect and improve the environment 

2.6. These aims are supported by a number of objectives which also provide the 
framework for the delivery of service plans. The Council’s objectives are 
summarised below: 

Aim Objectives

1 Help create a safer and 
healthier environment for 
our communities to live 
and work

 Increased supply of good quality affordable homes
 Develop a positive relationship with communities
 Effective relationship with strategic partners
 Effective support of community safety arrangements 

including CCTV
 Provision of sports facilities and leisure opportunities 

focused upon improving health

2 Meet our financial 
challenges and provide 
value for money

 Effective use of financial and other resources to ensure 
value for money

 Ensure services are easily available to all our residents 
in the appropriate channels and provided “right first 
time”

 A high performing and well motivated workforce
 More effective use of Council assets

3 Help create a strong 
economy by supporting 
further regeneration of 
towns and villages 

 Encourage business start-ups and enterprises
 Flourishing town centres that support the local economy
 Encourage and develop tourism
 High quality development and building control with an 

“open for business” approach

4 Protect and improve the 
environment 

 Effective recycling and waste management
 Promote environmentally sustainable policies and 

practices
 Provision of high quality public amenities, clean streets 

and environmental health
 Provision of quality parks and open spaces
 Car parking arrangements that meet the needs of 

residents, businesses and visitors

2.7. The Council is committed to playing the lead role in championing the local area. 
In so doing the Council recognises its community leadership role.  Fulfilling this 
role effectively means influencing partners in a number of key areas in order to 
ensure that services are shaped and delivered around the needs and 
aspirations of citizens. 

Page 74



2.8. The Council’s influencing role is focused in the following areas:
 Support the police and other partners to reduce crime, the fear of crime and 

anti social behaviour
 Ensure there is effective health provision particularly for the elderly
 Support the development of rail links to the city of Stoke-on-Trent
 Ensure that the services provided by other public sector partners meet the 

needs of residents
 Support the development of a new entertainment facilities in Leek
 Work with Staffordshire County Council and other partners to ensure an 

effective partnership with central government
 Identify European Funding opportunities
 The provision of waste and recycling centres across the district

 
2.9. The Plan identifies key priority outcomes, which will be the highest priority in 

the development of perfromance targets and key actions.  A significant 
proprtion of the Council’s resources will be directed towards achieving them:-  

Aim Objectives

1 Help create a safer and 
healthier environment for 
our communities to live 
and work

 Increased supply of quality affordable homes
 Improved  health
 Improved community safety

2 Meet our financial 
challenges and provide 
value for money

 Balanced and sustainable medium term financial plan 
position

 Council services provide value for money
 High level of resident and customer satisfaction

3 Help create a strong 
economy by supporting 
further regeneration of 
towns and villages 

 Sustainable towns and rural communities
 Increased economic growth

4 Protect and improve the 
environment 

 High recycling rates
 Quality parks and open spaces and clean streets

2.10. The Council maintains a Strategic Alliance with High Peak Borough Council, 
formed around the principle of shared services in the pursuit of efficiency and 
realisation of savings. The Strategic Alliance has enabled the implementation 
and transformation of a joint management structure and services, consequently 
realising significant efficiency savings. 

2.11. The Council intends to continue to drive savings and service improvements 
through collaboration with its Alliance partner, High Peak Borough Council.

3. Current Spending Levels

3.1. The starting point for the development of the MTFP is the current level of 
spending and the approved capital expenditure commitments.

Page 75



3.2. The Council’s current year (2016/17) General Fund budget can be summarised 
as follows: 

Income and Expenditure 2016/17 
Budget

 £
Employees 8,048,670
Premises 1,907,800
Transport 1,204,710
Supplies & Services 4,332,230
Benefits 43,510
Borrowing 259,000
Parish Grant 49,810
Financing Costs 555,000
Contribution to / (from) Reserves and Balances 137,970
Total Expenditure 16,508,700
 Fees and Charges / Other Income (5,692,990)
Interest Receipts (56,690)
Ascent LLP Income (590,100)
Recharges outside General Fund (16,300)
 
Net Expenditure 10,152,620

 

3.3. The net expenditure is financed as follows: 

Financing 2016/17 
Budget

 £
Council Tax (4,890,430)
Government Funding (1,261,220)
New Homes Bonus (1,264,390)
Business Rates Retention (2,989,640)
Collection Fund Deficit 253,060

Total Financing (10,152,620)
 

Page 76



3.4. The medium-term projection for capital commitments approved by Members in 
February 2016 is detailed below: -   

Service Area 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 Total
 £ £ £ £ £ £

Asset Management Plan 180,410 665,090 1,273,300
     

286,000 
     

699,510 3,104,310
Affordable Housing 1,000,000              -                -                -                -   1,000,000

Growth Fund              -   
     

700,000 800,000              -                -   1,500,000

Housing Grants 535,820 654,000 654,000
     

654,000 
     

654,000 3,151,820

ICT Strategy 135,000 100,000 100,000
     

100,000 
     

100,000 535,000

Other Schemes 584,310 280,380
      

50,000              -                -   914,690

Total Programme 2,435,540 2,399,470 2,877,300
  

1,040,000 
  

1,453,510 
 

10,205,820 
Financed by:-       

External Contributions 535,820 840,490 654,000
     

654,000 
     

654,000 3,338,310

Capital Receipts - - 6,000
      

12,000 
     

190,000 208,000

Capital Reserve
     

825,000              -                -                -                -   825,000
S106 Planning Obligations 9,240              -                -                -                -   9,240

Borrowing 1,065,480 1,558,980 2,217,300
     

374,000 
     

609,510 5,825,270
Total  Financing 2,435,540 2,399,470 2,877,300 1,040,000 1,453,510 10,205,820

4. Transformation Programme

4.1. Introduction 

4.1.1. The Council’s ‘transformation programme’ incorporates all major projects 
which meet the strategic priorities of the authority and have significant 
financial implications, including:-
 The capital programme
 The efficiency and rationalisation strategy
 Service reviews
 Member priority projects
 Other large scale projects

4.1.2. The delivery of transformation programme projects is monitored by the 
Transformation Board made up of Directors, Heads of Service along with key 
Corporate Service Managers and officers.  A Director is allocated as ‘project 
executive’ and a full business case appraisal is completed for each project.

4.1.3. The progress and current financial projections of the transformation 
programme are explored below along with any potential revenue and capital 
consequences.  Any further work required to identify the financial implications 
of the programme are discussed and will feed into the 2018/19 budget setting 
process. 

Page 77



4.2.   The Capital Programme 

4.2.1. The Capital Programme presented to Members in February 2016 has been 
reviewed, re-profiled and updated to reflect the latest position in terms of 
capital projections to 31st March 2021.

4.2.2. The latest capital projections, specifically identifying the major schemes, are 
summarised in the table below.  Full detail is attached in Annex A.

Service Area 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 Total 
 £ £ £ £ £ £
Asset Management 105,270 1,452,270 1,126,240      390,320      365,150 3,439,250
Affordable Housing              -                -                -                -                -                 -   
Growth Fund              -        700,000      800,000              -                -   1,500,000
Housing Grants 532,060 1,008,000 1,008,000   1,008,000   1,008,000 4,564,060
ICT Strategy 281,000 50,000 50,000       50,000       80,630 511,630
Other Schemes 350,500 66,500      164,000       50,000       50,000 681,000
Total Programme 1,268,830 3,276,770 3,148,240   1,498,320   1,503,780  10,695,940 
Financed by:-       
External 
Contributions 685,950 1,085,810 1,008,000 1,008,000 1,008,000 4,795,760
Capital Receipts              -                -   18,000 150,000      190,000 358,000
Capital Reserve     482,880      417,120              -                -                -   900,000
S106 Planning      100,000       22,000      114,000              -                -   236,000
Borrowing              -   1,751,840 2,008,240 340,320 305,780 4,406,180
Total  Financing 1,268,830 3,276,770 3,148,240 1,498,320 1,503,780 10,695,940

4.2.3. The 2016/17 capital projections above include the carry forward of £169,110 
capital budgets from 2015/16 as approved by Members in July 2016 
(Provisional Outturn report). and new schemes totalling £236,000 (in 
accordance with section 106 planning obligations).

  Asset Management Plan 

4.2.4. It is essential that the Council maintains an asset base, which delivers the 
ambitions of the Corporate Plan – however, this needs to be affordable.  This 
is becoming increasingly difficult due to the age of a number of the Council’s 
key buildings and the shrinking amount of financial resources available to 
support service delivery.

4.2.5. A stock condition survey has been undertaken on the Council’s property 
assets.  A report detailing the outcomes and actions emerging was presented 
to Cabinet on 20th September 2016.  This includes the potential capital and 
revenue financial implications of maintaining the Council’s current property 
assets over a 30 year period.  This has now been reviewed and updated to 
take account of any changes and updates to stock information since 
September 2016.

Page 78



4.2.6. The surveys have confirmed that a number of the Council’s operational assets 
are dated in appearance, have structural issues or urgent health and safety 
work requirements or the electrical and mechanical infrastructure require 
updating.  The investment required to ensure the assets remain fit for purpose 
is significant over the 30 year period and would consequently impact on future 
revenue budgets.

4.2.7. Therefore, the report discusses the options to either reduce the amount of 
capital expenditure or reduce the impact on revenue of the necessary capital 
spending:- 
 Asset rationalisation
 Shared use of assets
 Reduction in specification and functionality
 Generate additional capital receipts
 Identify grants to support investment
 Generate additional revenue from asset holdings 

4.2.8. Additionally, it also recommended the review of:- 
 Public conveniences and car parks provision, with a view to disposal of 

assets that are surplus to requirements.
 Leisure asset portfolio in the context of the expiry of the existing leisure 

management contract with a view to reducing the on-going assets and 
operating costs

 Operational depot asset portfolio in the context of a potential new operating 
model with a view to reducing overall costs

 Strategic land holdings with a view to developing options to either generate 
additional capital receipts or opportunities to generate ongoing financial 
returns

4.2.9. The current capital programme costs of the AMP include approved carry 
forwards from 2015/16, projected spend in 2016/17, revised estimates for 
2017/18-2019/20 and the additional estimated costs of maintaining the asset 
portfolio in 2020/21. 

4.2.10. The table below illustrates the capital investment requirements on the 
Council’s property portfolio and revenue consequences (cost of borrowing) 
over a 30 year period as reported in September 2016:-

SMDC AMP Capital Investment & Revenue 
Consequence

2016-17 – 
2019-20

2020-21 – 
2045-46            

(26 years)
TOTAL

£ £ £
Public Buildings 1,010,850 2,761,600 3,772,450
Car Parks 754,000 4,293,431 5,047,431
Public Conveniences 181,400 415,800 597,200
Waterways & Infrastructure Assets 479,361 448,761 928,122
Leisure Centres 310,000 10,005,995 10,315,995
Depots and Parks Buildings 97,070 2,355,714 2,452,784
Industrial Units 80,380 392,050 472,430
TOTAL 2,913,061 20,673,351 23,586,412

Revenue Consequences (cost of borrowing) 115,959 943,653 1,059,612

Page 79



4.2.11. The table below reflects the updated capital investment requirements which 
have increased by £192,000 over the 30 years which will marginally increase 
the revenue consequences:-

SMDC AMP Capital 
Investment & Revenue 

Consequence

2016-17 
(current 

year 
forecast)

2017-18 – 
2020-21 
(MTFP)

2021-22 – 
2045-46            

(25 years)
TOTAL

£ £ £
Public Buildings 100,000 1,315,540 2,439,600 3,855,140
Car Parks - 754,000 4293,431 5,047,431
Public Conveniences - 181,400 415,800 597,200
Waterways & Infrastructure 
Assets 5,270 543,091 448,761 997,122

Leisure Centres - 355,000 10,005,995 10,360,995
Depots and Parks Buildings - 104,570 2,343,464 2,448,034
Industrial Units - 80,380 392,050 472,430
TOTAL 105,270 3,333,981 20,339,101 23,778,352

4.2.12. The consequential borrowing costs of capital investment up to 2020/21 have 
been incorporated into the MTFP.  This contributes to the overall budget 
deficit position, therefore, an asset management review project has been 
included within the refreshed efficiency programme.  This will focus on 
assessing and confirming the approach for asset investment in key buildings 
to identify positive revenue implications, for example, reduced annual 
maintenance and utility costs due to fewer and/or more efficient buildings and 
income receipts from shared accommodation partners will be taken towards 
the efficiency programme.

Affordable Housing Project

4.2.13. The Council’s affordable housing project is being delivered via Ascent 
Housing – the joint venture established by the Council in partnership with Your 
Housing.  Phase one is now complete with the majority of the 276 units now 
occupied.

4.2.14. The £5 million debenture facility was fully drawn in 2014/15, and is generating 
annual income of £100,000 for the remainder of the 25 year period (subject to 
early repayments by Ascent).

4.2.15. £14 million of the £20 million loan facility has been drawn to date, the current 
Ascent business plan projections suggest that the remaining £6million loan 
facility will not be drawn during the 4 year period of this plan.  However, if 
further schemes are developed as part of the business plan, further 
drawdowns may be required.  

4.2.16. It is assumed at this stage that Ascent will refinance with the Council on 
maturity the initial 5 year loans.  The Council has met with Your Housing to 
commence refinancing discussions, which will progress during 2017. 

Page 80



  Growth Fund

4.2.17. Members approved the establishment of a growth capital fund. The growth 
fund was set up with the aim of supporting capital projects that have a positive 
impact upon the Council’s strategic objectives and generate revenue income 
streams.  

4.2.18. Formal applications to the fund were invited, but after an appraisal of the 
business cases, no external applications have progressed to the next stage of 
assessment.  However, there are internal schemes currently being developed 
with the aim of accelerating business growth and employment - the business 
case for moving forward with these projects will be assessed by the 
Transformation Board. Therefore, the capital budget remains in place to fund 
potential growth related projects.     

4.2.19. Growth related projects should cover the costs of capital (borrowing costs) 
associated with supporting the project and generate additional income 
receipts for the Council, for example via increased business rates, rental 
income or interest receipts to contribute towards the Efficiency and 
Rationalisation Strategy 2017/18- 2020/21.   

  Housing Grants

4.2.20. The District Council is the duty holder under the Housing Grants, Construction 
and Regeneration Act 1996 for the mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) 
and this status remains despite changes to funding arrangements. All eligible 
applicants are entitled to receive mandatory funding for certain major 
adaptations to their properties. The funding for these adaptations has 
previously been given directly to the council but from 2015/16, the funding has 
been incorporated into the Better Care Fund and paid to the county council. In 
2016-17 the county council has paid over DFG funding of £1,008,000 which 
represents an increase of £355,000 from the previous year’s allocation.

4.2.21. The Better Care Fund is a single pooled fund for all health and social care 
provision and covers the whole range of services including public health, 
social care services and clinical commissioning groups. 

4.2.22. It is uncertain however what the level of funding or the payment mechanism 
might be for future years. The county council has launched a review of DFG 
provision in partnership with the district authorities which intends to re-
engineer the delivery of adaptation services and this will lead to the 
development of jointly agreed plans that will subsequently inform the 
allocation of funding. There is a risk that Staffordshire Moorlands will need to 
increase its level of funding contribution in future years depending on levels of 
demand and any revised funding regime.  Further updates will be provided as 
this becomes clear.

Page 81



  ICT Strategy

4.2.23. The framework for a new 3 year ICT Strategy was established in 2014/15.  
The key drivers of which are to support delivery of the Efficiency and 
Rationalisation Plan, provide the infrastructure to support joint working, 
support new ways of working and improve access to services for our 
customers.

4.2.24. Implementation of the Strategy has commenced in order to find an Alliance 
wide solution in regard to IT provision. The aim of which is to reduce the 
number of applications and software and consequently pressure on server 
space. The capital provision for this project has been reprofiled to account for 
the acceleration of the infrastructure and Microsoft compliancy phase of the 
project resulting in higher than originally anticipated expenditure in 2016/17.  
An additional £100,000 has been added to the ICT capital programme overall 
to account for an additional years expenditure. 

4.2.25. Capital investment is required to establish the infrastructure required to meet 
the key drivers. This in turn will identify the revenue consequences of capital 
purchases – increased costs including maintenance, updates and annual 
licence purchases, offset by savings resulting from better usage and 
consolidation of the Council's suite of systems.

  Brough Park

4.2.26. A report was presented to Cabinet in July 2016 seeking approval for up to 
£600,000 in capital funding to support enhancements to Brough Park in Leek.  
This would be the Council’s 20% (maximum) contribution to the overall 
project, with the remaining 80% funding to be applied for from the Heritage 
Lottery Fund (HLF).

4.2.27. However, the funding bid submitted to the HLF has been rejected; therefore 
this project is currently on hold pending a new funding application.
 

  Financing the Capital Programme

4.2.28. The capital programme can be funded from a number of options which include 
external grants and contributions from third parties comprising of Government 
and lottery funding; capital receipts from asset sales as part of the asset 
management plan; earmarked revenue reserves and borrowing. 

4.2.29. £5million in external contributions is forecast to support the capital programme 
(the majority in relation to Disabled Facilities Grants). In addition, an estimated 
£0.3million in capital receipts will be available over the next four years (subject 
to a review of surplus assets) and revenue reserves of £0.9m are forecast to 
be applied 2016/17. 

4.2.30. The remaining £4.4million capital programme expenditure is then funded via 
borrowing. The Treasury Management Strategy considers whether this is 
funded externally or internally - both options have a consequence on revenue 
either through reduced investment income or increased external interest 
liability as highlighted in the table below.

Page 82



4.2.31. There remains a balance of £100,000 within the earmarked reserve 
established specifically to fund capital projects.  It is proposed to use this fund 
where an options appraisal on the acquisition of vehicles, plant and equipment 
has been carried out and suggests that the most financially viable option is to 
outright purchase.      

  Revenue Consequences of the Capital Programme

4.2.32. The capital investment proposals above will result in estimated revenue 
consequences as follows:

*growth fund projects should cover the costs associated with supporting them (i.e. costs of borrowing) through 
income generated to the Council

4.3.   Efficiency & Rationalisation Programme

4.3.1. The current Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy was approved by 
Members in April 2014, which identified a programme of £2.5million in savings 
to be made over the period 2014/15 – 2016/17.

4.3.2. In establishing that plan, importance was placed on ensuring the programme 
of savings was well focussed and recognised the capacity constraints on the 
organisation following the departure of a significant number of staff under 
voluntary redundancy.

4.3.3. During 2016/17, £240,000 in Procurement related savings (reduced spend as 
a result of procurement activity being challenged/increased on contract spend 
etc) have been realised against the efficiency programme as part of the 
2016/17 budget setting process.  Additionally the majority of the £535,000 
targeted service review savings will be realised by the end of 2016/17. 

4.3.4. However, current forecasts suggest that there will be £443,600 outstanding 
against the £2.5million target at the end of 2016/17.  

4.3.5. In addition to the existing efficiency programme, in order to balance the 
general fund budget in 2017/18- 2020/21, there is a new savings requirement 
of £2,697,690.  This results in a new efficiency programme for the general 
fund of £3,141,290.

Revenue Consequence                     
(changes year-on-year)

2016/17
(baseline)

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

£ £ £ £ £

Ascent Loan Income (490,100) 15,830 17,770 540 960
Debenture Income (100,000) - - - -
Growth Fund (recovery of Borrowing costs)* (7,700) 2,010 (26,690) (23,000) -

Borrowing Costs 259,000 14,240 66,850 57,740 (13,940)

Total (338,800) 32,080 57,930 35,280 (12,980)

Page 83



4.3.6. Consequently, a new Efficiency Programme has been developed to address 
the MTFP budget shortfall and incorporate unachieved efficiencies from the 
previous efficiency programme. The new Efficiency and Rationalisation 
Strategy is attached at Appendix B.

4.3.7. The new Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy will have the effect of both 
reducing expenditure and increasing income. The need to grow income is now 
more of a priority as the Council moves more towards being self-financing i.e. 
not reliant on direct government funding such as revenue support grant. 

4.3.8. The strategy has been developed with the underlying principles of protecting 
frontline service delivery. It is also intended that the strategy is a tool to enable 
the Council to ensure that its service spending is determined by the 
established priorities set out in the Corporate Plan.

4.3.9. It is intended that there will be five areas of focus:-
 Major Procurements - There is the opportunity to focus attention on a 

number of large service functions which are currently provided by an 
external contractor / supplier. A number of significant contracts are coming 
to an end. This will also allow a fundamental review of these services with 
proper consideration of the current financial constraints.  The contract 
commitments have sometimes restricted the opportunity to align services 
across the alliance with High Peak.  The individual projects will focus on 
Waste Collection & Environment Services, Leisure Management and 
Facilities Management

 Asset Management Plan – continuation of the existing priority of 
rationalising the Council’s asset base with a focus around priorities in order 
to allow for the necessary capital investment

 Growth – development of a clear focus upon housing and economic 
growth based upon the established Local Plan. 

 Income Generation – focus on increasing the yield from existing sources 
on income and a drive towards identifying new sources of income

 Rationalisation – a commitment to reducing expenditure on non-priority 
areas of spend e.g. management arrangements, channel shift, non-
statutory services 

4.3.10. The below table summarises the finanical savings requirements and profile for 
achievement (ANNEX B provides more detail of the savings plan):-

General Fund Efficiency 
Strategy 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 TOTAL

 £ £ £ £ £
Major Procurements 100,000 275,000 100,000 600,000 1,075,000
Asset Management 50,000 50,000 25,000 25,000 150,000
Growth 65,000 150,000 250,000 300,000 765,000
Income Generation 305,000 355,000 100,000 250,000 1,010,000
Rationalisation 141,000 - - - 141,000
TOTAL 661,000 830,000 475,000 1,175,000 3,141,000

Page 84



4.3.11. A further exercise reviewing the revenue underspends of recent years will also 
take place during the 2017/18 budget setting process. The review will identify 
areas, which have consistently underspent against the base budget, with a 
view to removing the excess provision. Any budget adjustments will be used 
to support the Efficiency & Rationalisation Strategy.

4.4. Member Priority Actions / Projects

4.4.1. During the development of the Corporate Plan a number of priority actions 
have been identified and prioritised by members. These are as follows: 

Financial Implications

Member Priority Actions / Projects
(y/n) Firm - in 

plans

Costs 
understood - 
not in plans

Costs not  
yet known

Environment 
Refresh the processes for dealing with enforcement action 
against environmental crime (fly tipping and littering) in 
order to ensure that there is zero tolerance

Y 

Agree and implement actions that will ensure that the 
waste collection service can deal with the reducing levels 
of recycling income and recycling credits 

Y 

Agree an approach that results in joint operating 
arrangements with High Peak for waste collection and 
street cleansing 

Y 

Reduce the Council’s energy consumption and associated 
costs Y 

Customer Services 
Implement the agreed Customer Services Strategy Y 
Agree and implement an approach to bring about effective 
channel shift Y 
Agree and implement a plan for further improvement of the 
Council’s website Y 
Review and revise processes to ensure that they are 
focused upon the customer and are effectively aligned 
across services 

Y 

Develop a plan to ensure better sharing of information 
between services and with partners N

Planning & Property 
Develop and implement a new approach that ensures that 
the planning applications process is quicker, linked to 
growth and focussed upon increasing income 

Y 

Develop and implement plans to extend the public market 
operation in Leek Y 
Develop and implement a plan which will address the 
planning enforcement backlog Y 
Ensure that delegations in respect of planning applications 
are appropriately applied and that Parish Council views’ 
are taken into account 

N

Implement a system to ensure that planning conditions 
implementation is tracked effectively N

 

Page 85



Financial Implications

Member Priority Actions / Projects
(y/n) Firm - in 

plans

Costs 
understood - 
not in plans

Costs not  
yet known

Leisure, Sports, Parks, Countryside and Communities
Agree an approach that results in joint leisure centre 
contract renewals across the Alliance 

Y 

Develop and implement a plan that is focussed on 
increasing footfall in Leisure Centres by the effective use of 
off-peak capacity 

Y 

Work with health services to develop a plan to enhance 
leisure provision with a focus on health improvement Y 
Identify and implement an approach to reduce the cost of 
country parks Y 
Develop a plan to improve Brough Park with HLF support N
Develop a strategy for further development of affordable 
and specialist housing Y 
Develop and agree a new empty properties strategy Y 
Develop and implement a plan to reduce anti-social 
behaviour N

Develop a scheme that supports the upgrading of security 
in vulnerable people’s homes N

Support the Community Safety Partnership with improved 
provision of outreach workers for dealing with domestic 
violence 

N

Leader 
Develop and implement a plan to identify new and 
innovative ways of generating income Y 
Implement the Growth Fund initiative to support small 
businesses Y 
Support the development of London Mill N
Support the development of Cornhill Y 
Support the development of improved rail links in 
partnership with Stoke-on-Trent City Council N

Support the development of a Cinebowl / Fast Food Outlet N
Implement the town deal in Biddulph in partnership with 
Biddulph Town Council N

4.4.2. Any costs or revenue associated with these actions will need to be included in 
the MTFP. The impact of a number of them is already included in this iteration 
of the plan but additional work will need to be undertaken to develop a number 
of the actions further and at the same time identify any financial implications.

Page 86



5. Financial Forecasts

5.1. Interest Rates

5.1.1. The Bank of England Base Rate was cut from 0.50% to 0.25% following the 
Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) meeting of 4th August 2016. Forward 
views are that Bank Rate could still go up or down depending on how 
economic data evolve in coming months. Capita (the Council’s treasury 
advisors) are forecasting the rate to remain at 0.25% with the first increase to 
0.50% in June 2019.

5.1.2. Economic forecasting remains difficult with so many external influences 
weighing on the UK. Capita’s Bank Rate forecasts will be liable to further 
amendment depending on how economic data and developments in financial 
markets transpire over the next year. 

5.1.3. Borrowing commentary reports that yields are at historic lows and borrowing 
should be considered where appropriate to the strategy. The general 
expectation for an eventual trend of gently rising gilt yields and PWLB rates 
remains. 

5.1.4. Based on the current forecasts, changes in investment income and borrowing 
costs are highlighted below:

Investment Income 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

£ £ £
Changes in Investment Income 17,690 990 (37,870) (33,850)
Changes in Borrowing costs (17,840) (28,420) 10,980 (4,470)

(150) (27,430) (26,890) (38,320)

5.2. Inflationary Projections  

5.2.1. The Retail Price Index (RPI) and Consumer Price Index (CPI) 12 month rate, 
as at December 2016, stood at 2.5% and 1.6% respectively.  Inflation 
forecasts are made reflecting the composition of the Council’s expenditure, 
resulting in an inflation rate specific to the Council.

5.2.2. The inflation assumptions included in the MTFP presented to members in 
November 2016 have been updated, where appropriate, to reflect the latest 
available information. The additional costs to the Council arising from inflation 
are forecast in the table below.

Expenditure/Income 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
£ £ £ £

Employee Costs 292,770 319,950 325,570 321,070
Premises Costs 29,190 32,930 33,490 34,060
Transport 6,020 13,320 13,420 13,570
Supplies and Services 59,680 63,560 64,100 65,030
In-Year Inflation Pressure 387,660 429,760 436,580 433,730

Page 87



5.3.   Budgetary Demand 

5.3.1. The Medium Term Financial Plan presented to Council in February 2016 
analysed and projected forward both income and expenditure.  This has been 
revised to reflect known changes in budgetary demand. A small number of 
additional items have been added to those presented in November.

5.3.2. The current known changes in budgetary demand are detailed below:- 

Increased / (Reduced) Budget Demand 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
 £ £ £ £
Staff conference costs (biennial)* - - - -
Reduction in level of Parish Council Local Council 
Tax Support (22,200) (13,780) (13,830) -

Internal Audit (5 yearly external review) (2,500) - - -
Uniforms – Customer Services (2,500) 2,500 (2,500) 2,500
MMI second levy (10,500) - - -
Supported housing scheme – subsidy loss 15,000 - - -
Removal of salary recharge to capital programme 16,300 - -- -
Building Control – service change 90,000 - - -
Local Tax administration support funding (5,780) - - -
Benefits administration – reduced funding 17,770 13,500 - -
Rough Sleepers service 6,000 - - -
Homelessness prevention service 16,000 - - -

 Total 117,590 2,220 (16,330) 2,500
  * The cost of the staff conference is now met from an earmarked reserve in the year of occurrence

5.4.   Budget Growth 

5.4.1. In previous years, very few additions in respect of budget growth have been 
included in the MTFP. It is assumed in light of the financial pressures faced by 
the Council, that any local issues that necessitate budget growth will be 
financed by internal spending reductions elsewhere. 

5.4.2. No new items of budget growth have been included in this version of the 
Medium Term Financial Plan.

5.5.   Pensions 

5.5.1. The Staffordshire Pension Fund underwent a triennial actuarial valuation in 
2016 to determine the level of future contributions necessary to achieve a 
balanced position. The final outcome has now been received confirming the, 
position reported in November.

5.5.2. At the last valuation in 2013 the Fund had a funding level (the ratio of assets 
to liabilities) of 71.7%, and a scheme deficit of £1,209 million. The 2016 
valuation results show that the scheme deficit has improved £150 million to 
£1,059 million; a funding level of 78%.

Page 88



5.5.3. The Staffordshire Moorlands District Council portion of the Fund had a funding 
level of 61% at the 2013 valuation and a deficit £24.8 million. The 2016 
valuation results show that this position has improved in line with the wider 
Fund position (66% funding level and a deficit of £23.04 million). The 
Staffordshire Moorlands portion of the Fund remains, however, poorly funded 
in comparison with the Fund as a whole.

5.5.4. The contributions necessary over the next three years have been actuarially 
determined by the 2016 Fund valuation exercise. The Council is required to 
contribute 16.6% of pensionable pay annually over the next 3 years, together 
with secondary contributions totalling £1.9 million over that period. This 
represents an increase of £348,800 in line with the position reported in 
November. 

5.5.5. In year 4 of the MTFP (2020/21) the contributions necessary will be 
determined by a further revaluation scheduled to take place in 2019. Provision 
for an increase in contributions of £125,000 has been included in this iteration.

5.5.6. These additional pension costs are shown in the employee inflation element of 
the Plan.

6. Funding & Income Generation

6.1. Council Tax

6.1.1. The Council has the capacity to vary Council Tax levels, following the abolition 
of capping.  However the Council’s ability to increase Council Tax by more 
than 1.99% is subject to referendum.   

6.1.2. The MTFP assumes that a 1.9% Council Tax increase will be implemented in 
2017/18, 2018/19, 2019/20, and 2020/21.

6.1.3. Provision has been made in the Plan to reflect anticipated growth in Council 
Tax base over the next 4 years. The figures included are shown in the table 
below:

Increased Council Tax Income 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
£ £ £ £

Council Tax increase (92,920) (95,420) (98,110) (100,960)
Revenue from tax base growth (44,560) (46,360) (51,670) (54,160)
TOTAL (137,480) (141,780) (149,780) (155,120)

6.2.   Business Rates Retention 

6.2.1. The 2013/14 Local Government Finance Settlement saw the introduction of 
the new business rates retention system, replacing the previous system of 
financing with a system based on the retention of business rates.  

Page 89



6.2.2. Under the current system, the Council retains 40% of Business Rates less a 
tariff that is payable into a pool maintained by a number of Staffordshire 
Authorities. This amount is then compared to a Funding Baseline (estimated 
at £2,477,200 for 2017/18): any amount in excess of this Baseline is subject to 
levy, or conversely if the amount of retained Business Rates is below this 
Baseline, the loss is capped by a safety net payment. The MTFP does not 
anticipate the Council falling below the Baseline.

6.2.3. As part of the Staffordshire Pool, the levy or the safety net payment is made to 
or from the Pool instead of Central Government. If the Council was not in the 
Staffordshire Pool it would have to pay 50p in the £1 to the Government as a 
levy, effectively limiting the income the Council can gain from business rates 
growth. However, as part of the Pool, the Council is able to retain 40% of this 
levy; meaning that each £1 achieved above the baseline, is distributed as 
follows: 
 70p is retained by the Council;
 20p is paid to a Central Incentive Fund which is managed by the Pool 

Board;
 10p is paid to a Contingency Fund maintained by the Pool Board to assist 

should a safety net payment be triggered. 

The benefit to the Council of being part of the Pool arrangement is estimated to 
be approximately £172,000 in 2017/18.

6.2.4. In October 2015, the Government announced a forthcoming package of 
reforms to the Business Rates Retention System including a move to local 
government retaining 100% of the rates that they received with an end to 
RSG.

6.2.5. In outline the proposals for reform are as follows: 
 Local authorities will retain 100% of BR to fund local spending on 

services; 
 The new system will be in place by the end of the current Parliament;
 Local authorities with be able to retain income from growth – i.e. there will 

be no levy; 
 The reform will be fiscally neutral and local authorities will have new 

responsibilities and / or central government grants will be phased out; 
 Local authorities will have the ability to reduce rates – there will be the 

ability to increase for combined authority mayors; and 
 The new system will retain a system of tariffs and top ups subject to a 

fundamental review of needs. 

6.2.6. In July 2016 the Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) 
published two consultation papers: 
 Self-sufficient local government: 100% Business Rates Retention; and 
 Business Rates Reform - Fair Funding Review: Call for evidence on 

Needs and Redistribution. 

6.2.7. The Council responded to the consultation documents, detail of which was 
reported to Cabinet on 20th September 2016.

Page 90



6.2.8. There remains uncertainly surrounding how the new system will be phased in 
and in what form. Further updates will be presented as more information is 
released.  For the purpose of the MTFP, no financial assumptions have been 
included based on the proposed new system, however, any financial benefits 
of the scheme will contribute towards the growth efficiency project as part of 
the new Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy.

6.2.9. A national revaluation of Business Rates premises has taken place and the 
new list of rateable values will be introduced from 1st April 2017. Central 
Government has adjusted the tariff applied to the Council’s Business Rates 
income to take account of this change. The change in this tariff is offset by the 
net change in income following the introduction of the revised rateable values.

6.2.10. The MTFP anticipates that Business Rates retention will be above the 
baseline, but is somewhat suppressed due to the extension of reliefs including 
increased small business rate relief, multiplier cap, re-occupied long-term 
empty property relief, and newly built empty relief.  To compensate for the loss 
of business rates income resulting from the reliefs, funding has to date been 
made available to Councils under Section 31 of the Local Government Act 
2003. The MTFP assumes both the extension of reliefs and Section 31 grants 
will continue.

6.2.11. Changes in the level of the Council’s business rates will be impacted by a 
range of factors, including the Staffordshire Pool’s success in generating new 
and retaining existing business within its area. At this stage, predicted levels 
of business rates income are based on known and expected changes to the 
business rates listing. 

Business Rates Retention 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
£ £ £ £

In year:
      Baseline Funding (2,447,200) (2,519,400) (2,599,920) (2,683,020)
      Achievement against Baseline (98,460) (52,550) 8,650 73,080
      Section 31 Grant (549,530) (559,870) (570,220) (580,750)
Total (3,095,190) (3,131,820) (3,161,490) (3,190,690)
Change between years:
      Business Rates retained (85,120) (26,290) (19,320) (18,670)
      Section 31 Grant (20,430) (10,340) (10,350) (10,530)
Total (105,550) (36,630) (29,670) (29,200)

6.3.   Collection Fund 

6.3.1. The Council maintains a Collection Fund to record the receipt of Council Tax 
and Business Rates and their distribution to precepting authorities. Any 
surplus or deficit generated is distributed or recovered from the preceptors in 
subsequent years.

6.3.2. It is expected that the Staffordshire Moorlands’ share of a surplus in respect of 
Council Tax will be £65,290 in 2017/18.

6.3.3. There is an anticipated deficit on the Business Rates collection fund; the 
Council’s share is currently estimated at £127,680.

Page 91



6.3.4. These and future year movements are set out in the table below:

Changes in Collection Fund Income 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
£ £ £ £

Council Tax 10 7,580 (1,390) (1,440)
Business Rates (190,680) (127,680) - -
Total (190,670) (120,100) (1,390) (1,440)

6.4.   Income from Government Grants

  Revenue Support Grant
 
6.4.1. The current approved MTFP, reported to Council in February 2016, includes 

the continued phased elimination of Revenue Support Grant (RSG) 
announced by the Government in October 2015.  

6.4.2. This revision of the MTFP maintains the profile of RSG reduction proposed by 
the Government as part of the 4 year settlement in February 2016. Reductions 
of £554,840 (31%), £344,450 (19%) and £347,000 (20%) in 2017/18, 2018/19 
and 2019/20 respectively are included. This results in no RSG being included 
in the Authority’s funding by 2019/20. 

6.4.3. Local Authorities were required to submit an efficiency plan to Government by 
14th October 2016 if they wanted to accept the 4 year settlement.  The plan 
should set out what the Council intends to do in order to address the 
challenge of financial sustainability.  If the four-year offer is not accepted the 
Council would be subject to the existing annual process for determining the 
local government finance settlement. Allocations could be subject to additional 
reductions dependent on the fiscal climate and the need to make further 
savings to reduce the deficit.  The Council accepted the 4 year settlement and 
submitted an efficiency plan – a copy of which was attached to the November 
2016 iteration of this report.

  New Homes Bonus

6.4.4. New Homes Bonus (NHB) is aimed at encouraging local authorities to grant 
planning permission for the building of new houses, in return for additional 
revenue.

6.4.5. New Homes Bonus represents a significant element of the Authority’s funding. 
Historically, the Council has been awarded £209,040 (2011/12), £152,870 
(2012/13), £60,640 (2013/14), £310,160 (2014/15), £248,415 (2015/16) and 
£283,260 (2016/17) in New Homes Bonus. 

6.4.6. Consultation on the future format of New Homes Bonus was carried out in 
2016 with the outcome being included in the settlement details released in 
December. The main changes to the scheme, which will come into effect on 
1st April, have been incorporated into the MTFP. These are:-
 The reduction in the number of years for which the Bonus is paid from the 

current 6 years to 5 years in 2017/18; to be followed by a further reduction 
to 4 years in 2018/19; 

Page 92



 The removal of New Homes Bonus paid on development below a 0.4% 
baseline; representing the percentage of housing that would have been 
built anyway.

6.4.7. Further changes, proposed in the consultation, have been put on hold to be 
considered for implementation in 2018/19. These include:
 Withholding the Bonus from areas where an authority does not have a 

Local Plan in place; and
 Abating the Bonus in circumstances where planning permission for a new 

development has only been granted on appeal.

6.4.8. Under the new rules; New Homes Bonus of £43,090 has been awarded for 
2017/18. This has been incorporated into the MTFP together with anticipated 
receipts of £31,860 in respect of 2018/19; 2019/20 and 2020/21.

6.4.9. The reduction in NHB payment from 6 to 5 to 4 years was included in the 
previous iteration of the MTFP. This change has cost the Authority £1.6 million 
in forecast NHB receipts over the next 4 years.

6.4.10. The removal of bonus payments on property growth below the 0.4% 
(deadweight) threshold has been incorporated into the MTFP. This change 
has cost the Authority £1.1 million in forecast NHB receipts over the next 4 
years.

  Local Council Tax Support Grant

6.4.11. The Council operates a scheme whereby funding received from Central 
Government in respect of Local Council Tax Support is passed on to the 
Parishes by means of an annual grant. The allocation of this grant is based on 
the eligibility of parish residents for Council Tax discounts.

6.4.12. The level of resources made available for this grant has been reduced each 
year in line with the reduction in overall Government funding suffered by the 
Authority. The Medium Term Financial Plan assumes that this approach will 
continue (see changed budget demand as set out in table 5.3.2 above).

  Summary of Income from Government Grants

6.4.13. The table below summarises the movement in Government funding from the 
2014/15 baseline:-  

Government Grant 2014/15 
(baseline)

2015/16 
(actual)

2016/17 
(actual)

2017/18 
(actual)

2018/19 
(forecast)

2019/20 
(forecast)

2020/21 
(forecast)

 £ £ £ £ £ £ £
Revenue Support Grant (2,610,220) 831,660 532,270 554,840 344,450 347000 -
Rural Services Delivery 
Grant (8,580) (2,990) (3,360) (33,580) 11,190 (11,190) 15,000

Transition Grant 0 0 0 (4,800) 20 4,780
Council Tax Freeze (105,300) (56,390) 161,690 - - - -
New Homes Bonus (732,710) (248,420) (283,260) 318,820 338,940 216,550 251,400

Change in Govt Funding (3,456,810) 523,860 407,340 835,280 694,600 557,140 266,400
    

Page 93



6.5.  Fees and Charges

6.5.1. Charging for local services makes a significant contribution to the Council’s 
finances. The Council also uses charging to influence individual choices and 
behaviour, and to bring other benefits to local communities. The Council’s 
Charging Policy sets out the following principles for establishing the level of 
fees and charges:  
 The cost of providing services should be fully met by income
 There is a standard approach to concessions for those on low incomes
 Where a subsidy is agreed, this should be used to support the 

development of Council services in accordance with priorities
 Subsidies should be reconfirmed annually

6.5.2. Services have completed the fees and charges templates, the financial 
outcomes of the process are shown in ANNEX C. The summary includes 
categorisation of charges and identifies where fee-earning services are 
provided at a subsidy.  

6.5.3. The Medium Term Financial Plan assumes that the Council will increase fees 
and charges (and other income) broadly in line with inflation.  However, it is 
also recognised that certain income streams (such as car parking, planning 
receipts) may not increase each year and that other income streams (such as 
grants and rental income) are fixed or subject to periodic review.

6.5.4. The projected revenue from increased fees and charges (and other income) is 
summarised in the table below:

Increased Fees and Changes 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
£ £ £ £

Revenue from increased Fees and Charges (55,000) (55,000) (55,000) (55,000)

Total (55,000) (55,000) (55,000) (55,000)

6.5.5. Further work will be developed in order to review fees and charges and 
identify new areas of charging in order to contribute to the Efficiency 
Programme.

7. Risks, Contingencies & Use of Reserves

7.1. Risk Identification and Management

7.1.1. The early identification and management of risks is critical to the Budget and 
Medium Term Financial Planning process. Risks are assessed, mitigated and 
actively managed to ensure that the Council delivers its services effectively 
within the funding at its disposal. The principal risks to the Medium Term 
Financial Plan are summarised in ANNEX C.

7.1.2. Risk areas will be closely monitored and reviewed on an on-going basis and 
remedial action taken as appropriate. 

Page 94



7.1.3. The table below highlights specific financial risks that are embedded within 
this Medium Term Financial Plan: 

Revenue Risks Capital Risks
 Inflationary assumptions
 Interest rates
 Revenue consequences of capital
 Housing benefits
 Fees and charges
 Universal Credit
 Business Rates 
 Council Tax collection
 Government grants
 Financial benefits from partnerships / 

shared services
 Pension costs
 Insurance costs
 Waste management costs

 Interest rates 
 External funding
 Capital receipts
 Capacity to deliver capital 

programme
 Project overspend
 Project overrun
 External factors (e.g. planning 

objections, judicial reviews etc. 
leading to project delay)

 Housing Joint Venture
 Suppliers / Contractors
 Weather 

7.2.   Contingencies

7.2.1. The Medium Term Financial Plan is underpinned by a number of assumptions. 
These assumptions have been made in the light of currently available 
information. New information, when it emerges, may require the Council to 
alter its assumptions with a consequential effect on the Council’s financial 
position.

7.2.2. Key risk areas will be closely monitored and reviewed on an ongoing basis 
and remedial action taken.  Members will receive quarterly updates on 
performance against the budget. 

7.2.3. The Council carries reserves as a contingency for situations where risks 
cannot be fully mitigated. Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 
requires the Chief Finance Officer (CFO) to report on the robustness of the 
estimates included in the budget and the adequacy of the reserves that the 
budget provides. 

7.2.4. While there is no detailed guidance on calculating the level of general 
reserves the Council is encouraged to take into account the strategic, 
operational and financial risks facing the Council.  The table below present 
analysis undertaken by the Council in calculating the minimum level of general 
reserve required.

Page 95



Risk Item Calculation Factor Value Reserve 
Requirement

£’m £
Expenditure Items (gross) – Employee Related 2% of value 8.30 166,000

Expenditure Items (gross) – Other 2% of value 8.53 171,000

New Budget Growth Additional 10% of value 0.00 0

Housing Benefits 0.25% of value 15.61 39,000

Fees and Charges 3.5% of value 5.73 201,000

Interest Receipts/Payments 50% fall in average rate 0.04 20,000

Efficiency Provisions 30% of value 0.73 220,000

Council Tax Collection 1.5% of value 5.02 75,000

Business Rates Retention 5% of value 3.10 155,000

Development Services Income 5% of value 0.47 22,000

Local Land Charges 5% income fall 0.14 7,000

Total Minimum Requirement 1,076,000

7.2.5. It is proposed that the minimum general reserve contingency balance should 
increase by £75,000 to £1,075,000 to meet unforeseen expenditure and/or 
shortfalls in income.  [The Council currently holds a contingency reserve of 
£3,326,710 and earmarked reserves (held for specific purposes) of 
£2,811,830].

7.2.6. The level and utilisation of reserves is determined formally by the Council, 
having received the advice and judgement of the Chief Financial Officer 
(CFO). The Chief Financial Officer’s advice is:  
“In the view of the Executive Director & Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 
Officer), the budget includes estimates which take into account circumstances 
and events which are reasonably foreseeable at the time of preparing the 
budget. The view is therefore held, that the level of reserves are adequate for 
the Council based on this budget and the circumstances in place at the time of 
preparing it.” 

[Note: A formal record of the Chief Finance Officer’s advice is recorded in the 
minutes of the Council meeting.  In the unusual event that a Chief Finance 
Officer’s advice is not accepted by a Council, the rejection by a Council of the 
Chief Finance Officer’s advice must be recorded in the minutes].

7.3.   Use of Reserves and Balances  

7.3.1. The February 2016 Medium Term Financial Plan included a £22,680 
contribution from General Fund Reserves in 2016/17. This reflected usage of 
the Section 106 (Commuted Sum) Reserve (£12,180); and usage of the 
Insurance Fund to meet the costs of the Council’s obligations under the 
Municipal Mutual Insurance (MMI) scheme of arrangement (£10,500). The 
MMI obligation is a one-off payment, at this stage, affecting 2016/17 only. The 
level of Section 106 reserve usage is assumed to continue throughout the life 
of this plan.

Page 96



7.3.2. The February 2016 MTFP also included a contribution of £160,650 into 
General Fund contingency reserves made possible by the anticipated levels of 
Business Rates Retention.

7.3.3. The use of reserves anticipated over the 4 years has been updated in this 
iteration of the plan, in line with revenue forecasts. The annual changes are 
shown in the table below:

Reserve / Balance 2016/17 
(Budget)

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

 £ £ £ £ £
General Fund Contingency Reserve 160,650 (516,210) (489,780) (764,720) -
Section 106 Monies (12,180) (12,180) (12,180) (12,180) (12,180)
Other Earmarked Reserves (10,500) - - - -
Total Reserve Usage 137,970 (528,390) (501,960) (776,900) (12,180)

Change in use of reserves (666,360) 26,430 (274,940) 764,720

7.3.4. Consequently, the forecast year end detailed usable reserves position is 
shown below:-

Reserve 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
 £ £ £ £ £
General Fund Contingency 3,326,710 2,810,500 2,320,720 1,556,000 1,556,000
Earmarked Reserves:-      

   Efficiency & Rationalisation 208,950 208,950 208,950 208,950 208,950

   Pension 600,000 600,000 600,000 600,000 600,000
   Unused Third Party Funds 466,840 466,840 466,840 466,840 466,840
   Insurance 330,620 330,620 330,620 330,620 330,620
   Other 688,580 676,400 664,220 652,040 639,860
   Capital Schemes 516,840 99,840 99,840 99,840 99,840

Total 6,138,540 5,193,150 4,691,190 3,914,290 3,902,110
      

8.   Budget 2017/18

8.1. The prospects for the 2017/18 Budget were considered by the Council, as part 
of the update of the Medium-Term Financial Plan, on 7th December 2016 prior 
to the commencement of the budget exercise.  

8.2. Budget preparation work has now been completed and an overall balanced 
budget position has been reached with the inclusion of a £661,000 efficiency 
target and a drawdown of £517,000 in reserves.

Page 97



Proposed Budget

8.3. The proposed 2017/18 Budget is detailed below:-

Budget Heading
2017/18  

Projection
 £
Employees 8,311,440
Premises 1,936,990
Transport 1,210,730
Supplies & Services 4,541,910
Benefits 5,010
Borrowing 255,400
Parish Grant re Council Tax Support 27,610
Financing Costs 555,000
Unachieved Efficiencies (2014/15 - 16/17 plan) 443,600
Total Expenditure 17,287,690
  
Fees and Charges / Other Income      (5,733,990)
Interest Receipts          (39,000)
Ascent LLP Income        (574,270)
Net Expenditure 10,940,430
  
Council Tax      (5,027,910)
Revenue Support Grant        (696,250)
Business Rates Retention      (3,095,190)
Rural Service Delivery Grant          (48,510)
New Homes Bonus        (945,570)
Earmarked Reserves        (528,390)
Collection Fund            62,390
Total Financing    (10,279,430)
  
Cumulative Deficit / (Surplus)          661,000
  
Efficiency Requirement        (661,000)
  In Year Deficit / (Surplus)                    0
  

Council Tax Requirement 2017/18

8.4. The table below illustrates the Council Tax requirement for 2017/18:-

 2017/18
 £
Net Expenditure 10,940,430
Efficiency Target (661,000)
Revenue Support Grant (691,450)
New Homes Bonus (945,570)
Rural Service Delivery Grant (48,510)
Transition Grant (4,800)
Business Rates Retention (3,095,190)
Use of Reserves (528,390)
Collection Fund (62,390)
Net Requirement from Council Tax 5,027,910

Page 98



8.5. Members will be aware that the Council has adopted the following items of 
expenditure as Special District Expenses (SDEs) to be levied on specific 
parishes:
 Leek – Brough Park, Birch Gardens, Recreation Grounds and Leek 

Cemetery; and
 Biddulph – Recreation Grounds.

8.6.    Estimated net expenditure for 2017/18 in respect of Special District Expense 
items is set out in the table below:

Special District Expense Net Cost

 £
Leek
Brough Park 90,160
Recreation Grounds 73,600
Birch Gardens 27,610
Cemetery 121,230
Total 312,600

Biddulph
Recreation Grounds 61,680
Total 61,680

TOTAL LEVY 374,280

8.7. Members should note that overall Special District Expenses have been 
adjusted to achieve a 1.9% increase, to accord with the Council’s strategy for 
District Council Tax levels in 2017/18.

8.8. The overall Council Tax requirement contained within these proposals is 
summarised in the table below.

Budget 
Requirement

£
Tax Base

Band D 
Council Tax

£

Increase/
(Decrease) 

%

District Council Tax 4,653,630 32,730 142.18 1.9%

Special District Expense

Leek 312,600 6,373 49.05 1.9%
Biddulph 61,680 6,256 9.86 1.9%

Page 99



9. MTFP General Fund Revenue Position

9.1. The medium term general fund revenue position is as set out in the table below, 
which summaries the impact of the discussions in the previous sections of the 
report:-

     
 Summary Revenue Position 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

   
 £ £ £ £

Revenue Consequences of Capital Spend (section 4.2.31) 32,080 57,930 35,280 (12,980)
Interest Rate Changes (section 5.1) (150) (27,430) (26,890) (38,320)
Inflation Pressures (section 5.2) 387,660 429,760 436,580 433,730
Increased / (Reduced) Budget Demand (section 5.3) 117,590 2,220 (16,330) 2,500
Budget Growth (section 5.4) 0 0 0 0
Increased Council Tax Income (section 6.1) (137,480) (141,780) (149,780) (155,120)
Business Rates Retention (section 6.2) (105,550) (36,630) (29,670) (29,200)
Changes in Collection Fund Surplus (section 6.3) (190,670) (120,100) (1,390) (1,440)
Reduction in Government Grant (section 6.4) 835,280 694,600 557,140 266,400
Additional Fees and Charges (section 6.5) (55,000) (55,000) (55,000) (55,000)
Unachieved Efficiencies (14/15 – 16/17 Plan) (section 4.3.4) 443,600 0 0 0
Contribution to / (Use of) Reserves & Balances (section 7) (666,360) 26,430 (274,940) 764,720
     
In Year Change in Position 661,000 830,000 475,000 1,175,290

Efficiency & Rationalisation Plan (section 4.3) (661,000) (830,000) (475,000) (1,175,290)
     
Budget (Surplus) / Deficit - - - -
Cumulative (Surplus) / Deficit - - - -

9.2. The table above shows a balanced position over the life of the Medium Term 
Financial Plan. 

9.3. ANNEX E shows the indicative detailed revenue budget for the period 2017/18 
– 2020/21.

10.  Consultation

10.1. The Council is committed to consulting with residents and other stakeholders to 
help inform the budget setting process and spending priorities/non-priorities. A 
variety of techniques have been used and the approaches have been iterative, 
building year on year on what has gone before. The Council already holds 
comprehensive information gathered about residents’ spending priorities. Much 
of this information was gathered in times of rising expenditure. The financial 
challenges for the Council are now very different. 

10.2. The consultation process for 2017/18 was undertaken via an online survey 
available on the Council’s website which summarised the financial challenges 
the Council faces and invited comment.  This survey will remain live until 31st 
March 2016, with any additional responses feeding into the 2018/19 budget 
setting process. 

Page 100



10.3. It will be particularly important that the Council, as it makes difficult budgetary 
decisions, is able to evidence that it has considered the impact of its decisions 
on groups with ‘protected characteristics’.

10.4. Going forward, the Council will be developing a timetable of consultation, which 
will focus on specific emerging issues that will potentially have a significant 
impact on the Council’s finances over the medium term.

Page 101



ANNEX A

Proposed Capital Projections (2016/17 to 2020/21)

Capital Schemes 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 Total
 £ £ £ £ £ £
Asset Management Plan       
Council Offices/ Public 
Buildings 100,000 1,058,540 475,880

      
92,320

      
55,150 1,781,890

Leisure Centres              -   155,000
     

200,000              -                -   355,000

Car Parks              -                -   270,000
     

242,000 
     

242,000 754,000

Infrastructure 5,270 238,730
     

180,360 
      

56,000 
      

68,000 548,360

 105,270 1,452,270 1,126,240
     

390,320 
     

365,150 3,439,250
       

Affordable Housing Project              -                -                -                -                -                -   
       

Growth Fund              -   
     

700,000 
     

800,000              -                -   1,500,000
       
Private Sector Housing 
Grants 532,060 1,008,000 1,008,000

  
1,008,000 

  
1,008,000 4,564,060

       

ICT Projects 281,000 50,000 50,000 50,000
      

80,630 511,630
       
Other Schemes       

Conservation 44,500 44,500
      

50,000 
      

50,000 
      

50,000 239,000
Outdoor Sports Facilities 152,000              -                -                -                -   152,000
Play Facilities 154,000 22,000    114,000              -                -   290,000
       

 350,500 66,500 164,000 50,000 50,000 681,000
       

TOTAL PROGRAMME 1,268,830 3,276,770 3,148,240
  

1,498,320 
  

1,503,780 10,695,940
       

CONTRIBUTIONS 685,950 1,085,810 1,008,000
  

1,008,000 
  

1,008,000 4,795,760
       

NET PROGRAMME 582,880 2,190,960 2,140,240
     

490,320 
     

495,780 5,900,180

Page 102



ANNEX B

Summary of Approved Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy 2017-18 – 2020-21

Efficiency 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 TOTAL
 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Major Procurements      
Ansa Joint Venture 100 200 100 100 500
Leisure Centres - - - 500 500
Facilities - 75 - - 75
 100 275 100 600 1,075
Asset Management      
Asset Rationalisation 50 50 25 25 150
 50 50 25 25 150
Growth      
Housing Growth 50 50 150 150 400
Business Growth 15 50 50 150 265
Industrial Units - 50 50 - 100
 65 150 250 300 765
Income Generation      
Fees & Charges 125 175 100 250 650
Affordable Housing 100 100 - - 200
Advertising / Sponsorship 30 30 - - 60
Commercial Property - 50 - - 50
Enhanced Trading 50 - - - 50
 305 355 100 250 1,010
Rationalisation      
Management Staffing 100 - - - 100
Channel Shift - - - - -
Service Rationalisation 41 - - - 41
 141 - - - 141
      
TOTAL 661 830 475 1,175 3,141
      

Page 103



 ANNEX C

Fees & Charges
 SMDC Proposed 

Fees & Charges Charging Policy Category

Service Area 2017/18 Full 
commercial

Fair 
charging

Cost 
recovery Subsidised Nominal Free Statutory Total

Income £11,563 £23,014 £0 £2,115 £0 £0 £18,749 £55,440Environmental 
Health Surplus/ (Subsidy) 

after Costs
£4,151 £3,035 £0 (£627) £0 (£47,575) (£13,059) (£54,075)

Income  £3,450 £0   £0 £122,089 £125,539
Licensing Surplus/ (Subsidy) 

after Costs
 £3,120 £0   (£719) £62,038 £64,439

Income   £201,325   £0 £0 £201,325
Land Charges Surplus/ (Subsidy) 

after Costs
  £27,257   £0 (£1,836) £25,421

Income       £17,825 £17,825Environmental 
Crime Surplus/ (Subsidy) 

after Costs
      £10,574 £10,574

Income       £1,050 £1,050
Community Surplus/ (Subsidy) 

after Costs
      (£175) (£175)

Income   £27,088 £6,421    £33,509
Planning Surplus/ (Subsidy) 

after Costs
  £14,616 £2,096    £16,712

Income   £3,788     £3,788
Building Control Surplus/ (Subsidy) 

after Costs
  £0     £0

Income  £7,688      £7,688
Street Naming Surplus/ (Subsidy) 

after Costs
 £6,624      £6,624

Income £4,144  £17,280   £0  £21,424
Waste Surplus/ (Subsidy) 

after Costs
£2,795  £2,304     £5,099

Income £4,320 £93,031  £0  £0  £97,351
Cemeteries Surplus/ (Subsidy) 

after Costs
£3,912 £48,334  £0  £0  £52,246

Income  £6,985      £6,985
Street Scene Surplus/ (Subsidy) 

after Costs
 £2,339      £2,339

Income £5,655 £1,392  £225  £0  £7,272
Horticulture Surplus/ (Subsidy) 

after Costs
£3,988 £643  £9  (£649)  £3,991

Income  £698,896    £0 £102,500 £801,396
Car Parks Surplus/ (Subsidy) 

after Costs
 £428,694    (£18,992) £44,329 £454,031

Income  £320,288      £320,288
Markets Surplus/ (Subsidy) 

after Costs
 £114,297      £114,297

Income  £223,250 £0     £223,250
Finance Surplus/ (Subsidy) 

after Costs
 (£6,721) £0     (£6,721)

Income     £1,600   £1,600
Elections Surplus/ (Subsidy) 

after Costs
    £1,396   £1,396

Income  £9,079      £9,079
Lettings Surplus/ (Subsidy) 

after Costs
 £5,640      £5,640

Charging Policy Policy Objective

Full commercial Service is promoted to maximise revenue within an overall objective of generating a surplus from 
the service

Fair charging Service is promoted to maximise income but subject to defined policy constraints including 
commitments made to potential customers on an appropriate fee structure

Cost recovery Service generally available to all but without a subsidy

Subsidised Service is widely accessible, but users of the service should make some contribution from their 
own resources

Nominal Service to be fully available and a charge is made to discourage frivolous usage

Free Service fully available at no cost

Statutory Charges are set in line with legal obligations

Page 104



ANNEX D

Medium Term Financial Plan – Principal Risks

Risk Category Risk Mitigation and Controls

Financial 
Implications

Robustness of financial 
assumptions within Efficiency 
and Rationalisation Strategy

Structured project management 
arrangements have been put in place with 
detailed business cases for each initiative – 
these will be strengthened in the service 
review process

Financial 
Implications

Additional financial pressures 
emerge – cost & income 

The strategy is kept under constant review 
and adjustments will be made where 
necessary

Service 
Continuity

Interruptions to key services or 
performance standards

Resource implications and impact are 
identified as part of the business case 
process. Service continuity and 
maintenance of standards of service are 
key requirements of any new proposals

Corporate 
Governance

Maintaining stakeholder 
confidence; lack of clarity on 
accountability

Ongoing review of standards of internal 
control (e.g. Financial Procedure Rules 
reviewed and updated). Internal Audit Plan 
will ne reviewed to account for the new 
approach proposed in the efficiency & 
Rationalisation Strategy

Management of 
Change

Management of corporate and 
local, cultural change; 
behavioural risks; residual 
effects of aggregation; 
proposed changes to 
organisational structure, roles 
& responsibilities

Progress with achievement of aims will be 
monitored through an effective performance 
management structure. Investment has 
been made in a new approach to 
Organisational Development.

People Risks Impact of cultural changes;
assessment of skills; 
recruitment & retention;
capacity issues

Continuing communications process for the 
delivery of transformation programme

Key Projects & 
Partnerships

Managing changes to shared 
service delivery arrangements

The project management methodology 
provides for an adequate transition where 
there are changes in service delivery
  

Performance 
Management

Adequacy of framework to 
monitor transition

Risk management processes are 
embedded

Page 105



Risk Category Risk Mitigation and Controls

Reputation and 
Relationship 
Risks

Maintaining existing partner 
confidence

Continuing communications process for the 
delivery of transformation programme

Programme 
Delivery

Delays in implementation of 
efficiency savings

Effective governance arrangements in place 
to monitor plans. 

Executive Directors and Senior Managers 
own delivery of efficiencies. 

Executive Director (Transformation) 
appointed as programme director. 

Programme 
Delivery

A number of the efficiency / 
rationalisation initiatives are 
not achieved

Structured project management approach is 
in place for delivery including effective 
exception reporting

The strategy is kept under constant review

Identification of further efficiency / 
rationalisation opportunities through 
benchmarking / effective member working 
groups
  

Political Support Lack of Members support for 
Plan.

Regular reporting and member briefings 
including effective scrutiny arrangements

Page 106



ANNEX E

Proposed Revenue Projections (2017/18 to 2020/21)

Budget Heading
2017/18  

Projection
2018/19  

Projection
2019/20  

Projection
2020/21  

Projection
 £ £ £ £
Employees 8,311,440 8,764,470 9,090,040 9,411,110
Premises 1,936,990 2,058,640 2,092,130 2,126,190
Transport 1,210,730 1,268,410 1,281,830 1,295,400
Supplies & Services 4,541,910 4,785,410 4,847,010 4,914,540
Benefits 5,010 5,010 5,010 5,010
Borrowing 255,400 293,830 362,550 344,140
Parish Grant re Council Tax Support 27,610 13,830 0 0
Financing Costs 555,000 555,000 555,000 555,000
Unachieved Efficiencies (2014/15 - 16/17 plan) 443,600 0 0 0
     
Total Expenditure 17,287,690 17,744,600 18,233,570 18,651,390

Fees and Charges / Other Income
     

(5,733,990)
  

(5,802,180)
     

(5,880,180)
     

(5,935,180)

Interest Receipts 
         

(39,000)
      

(38,010)
         

(75,880)
       

(109,730)

Ascent LLP Income 
       

(574,270)
     

(556,500)
       

(555,960)
       

(555,000)

Recharges                    0                 0
                   

0                    0
     
Net Expenditure 10,940,430 11,347,910 11,721,550 12,051,480
     

Council Tax
     

(5,027,910)
  

(5,169,690)
     

(5,319,470)
     

(5,474,590)

Revenue Support Grant
       

(696,250)
     

(351,780)
                   

0                    0

Business Rates Retention
     

(3,095,190)
  

(3,131,820)
     

(3,161,490)
     

(3,190,690)

Rural Service Delivery Grant
         

(48,510)
      

(37,320)
         

(48,510)
         

(33,510)

New Homes Bonus
       

(945,570)
     

(606,630)
       

(390,080)
       

(138,680)

Earmarked Reserves
       

(528,390)
     

(501,960)
       

(776,900)
         

(12,180)

Collection Fund
           

62,390
      

(57,710)
         

(59,100)
         

(60,540)

Total Financing
   

(10,279,430)
  

(9,856,910)
     

(9,755,550)
     

(8,910,190)

Cumulative Deficit / (Surplus)
         

661,000
    

1,491,000
       

1,966,000
       

3,141,290

Total Efficiency Requirement (Cumulative)
       

(661,000)
  

(1,491,000)
     

(1,966,000)
     

(3,141,290)
     

In Year Deficit / (Surplus)                    0                 0
                   

0                    0
     

Page 107



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Efficiency & Rationalisation Strategy

2017/18 to 2020/21

Page 109



1 Background and Introduction

1.1 In October 2010, the Chancellor of the Exchequer announced the outcome of 
the Comprehensive Spending Review (CSR). The announcements were 
made in the context of the objective of removing the overall budget deficit. 
This announcement provided the starting point for a long period of significant 
public spending reductions. 

1.2 Since this point in time all of the government’s announcements on public 
spending have brought ongoing reductions in the levels of funding for local 
authorities. It is against this backdrop that the Council’s Medium Term 
Financial Plans (MTFPs) have been developed over the last six financial 
years (2011/12 to 2016/17). 

1.3 In this time the Council has agreed and delivered two Efficiency & 
Rationalisation Strategies. These strategies have outlined the actions required 
to ensure that the budget deficits have been eliminated over the life of the 
MTFPs and that the Council can continue to provide excellent services in the 
context of its priorities. 

1.4 The Council agreed its previous Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy 
(2014/15 to 2016/17) in February 2014. This strategy provided for General 
Fund efficiency savings of £2.25 million. This financial target has almost been 
achieved which has allowed the Council to maintain standards of services to 
residents. 

1.5 The latest forecasts show that the need to deliver efficiency savings is on 
going. The latest MTFP shows a significant budget deficit in each of the next 
four financial years (2017/18 through to 2020/21), which is mainly attributable 
to the phasing out of Revenue Support Grant. There is the need to develop a 
new a new Efficiency & Rationalisation Strategy to provide a framework for 
removing these budget deficits.

1.6 This strategy set out in this document details the Council’s proposed 
approach to balance the budget through reducing its expenditure and where 
possible increasing its income. 

2 The Council’s Previous Approach to Efficiency

2.1 The Council’s efficiency plans have historically been focussed around two 
priorities:

 Maintaining front line services; and
 Limiting Council Tax increases

2.2 Prior to 2011/12, when the large-scale public sector spending reductions were 
implemented, the Council’s efficiency savings were realised from the following 
areas of activity:

Page 110



 Procurement; 
 Process Improvement;
 Workforce Planning;
 Value for Money; and
 Asset Management / Property Rationalisation

2.3 Since April 2008 these savings have been underpinned by a Transformation 
Programme, which was created following the formation of the strategic 
alliance with High Peak Borough Council. This has seen services transformed 
jointly by the two councils. A unique method of transformation (AIMS – 
Alliance Improvement Method for Services) was developed to ensure that the 
shared arrangements were developed in an appropriate way. All of the 
Council’s services are now managed jointly, an arrangement which has been 
in place since July 2009. Since this point the Council’s efficiency plans have 
continued to be developed jointly through the strategic alliance   

2.4 The Council has sustained its successful track record of delivering efficiency 
savings. The performance over the financial years prior to the existing 
Efficiency & Rationalisation Strategy is summarised in the table below:

Financial SavingsYear
Target Actual
£’000 £’000

2005/06 330 337
2006/07 299 257
2007/08 299 405
2008/09 503 680
2009/10 519 679
2010/11 694 589
2011/12 1,283 1,003
2012/13 1,148 1,038
2013/14 410 389

Total 5,485 5,377

3 Efficiency & Rationalisation Strategy 2014/15 to 2016/17  

3.1 The existing Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy was approved by the 
Council in April 2014. In establishing this plan, importance was placed on 
ensuring the programme of savings was well focussed and recognised the 
capacity constraints on the organisation. Therefore, external challenge work 
was commissioned to assist in identifying areas that had the greatest potential 
for further savings. 

3.2 A number of principles were also developed in order to ensure that the plans 
are focussed in the right areas and are deliverable. These were:

 Service reviews would be completed on a structured basis during the early 
years;

Page 111



 Individual service structures would be properly combined across the 
Strategic Alliance;

 There would be continued protection of front-line services;
 Non-priorities would be identified in discretionary services and targeted for 

savings if possible;
 Mandatory services would be developed to ensure that they are efficient 

when compared with the best local authorities;
 Transactional services would be delivered around the needs of customers 

and development of “channel shift”;
 There would be a strong focus on corporate efficiencies e.g. procurement, 

asset management to minimise the impact on staffing levels 

3.3 After taking into account these principles the Efficiency and Rationalisation 
Strategy was developed around five areas:

Enhancing Income and Improving Trading - increasing the income 
generated from services including identifying and generating new income 
streams, improving the effectiveness of services that compete with other 
service providers, and improving the yield from fees and charges through 
increased activity.

Extending Shared Services – building on the existing alliance with 
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council along with identifying new partners 

Corporate Efficiency Projects - targeting savings that do not directly impact 
on front line service provision including implementation of the procurement 
strategy, further development of the Asset Management Plan etc.

Service Reviews – a structured and comprehensive review of all of the 
Council’s services including its staffing provisions

Innovation and Growth - creation of a Growth Fund on an “invest to save” 
basis

3.4 The strategy identified a programme of £2.25 million in general fund savings 
to be made over the period 2014/15 – 2016/17. The financial savings that 
were agreed in the strategy are summarised in the table below:

Efficiency Strategy 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 TOTAL

 £ £ £ £
Enhancing Income & Improving Trading 52,940 135,740 78,760 267,440
Extending Shared Services 25,000 50,000 50,000 125,000
Corporate Efficiency Projects 425,000 520,000 235,000 1,180,000
Service Reviews 170,000 240,000 125,000 535,000
Innovation & Growth - 25,000 125,000 150,000

Total 672,940 970,740 613,760 2,257,440

Page 112



3.5 In the main the delivery of the strategy has progressed well. The key 
achievements include:

 
 A comprehensive review of all services was completed resulting the 

implementation of a number significant service improvements whilst 
exceeding the overall savings targets;

 The Council’s Procurement Strategy has been implemented with 
improvements in the purchase-to-pay processes and savings exceeding 
the initial targets; and

 Services have been more fully aligned across the strategic alliance, which 
has allowed for “back-office” efficiencies such as reduced ICT system 
costs; administrative and support costs and further reductions in 
management overheads.  

3.6 The estimated position at the end of March shows that there will be a shortfall 
in the required efficiency savings of £443,600. This is summarised in the table 
below:

Financial SavingsYear
Target Actual

£ £
2014/15 672,940 582,020
2015/16 970,740 372,410
2016/17 613,760 859,410

Total 2,257,440 1,813,840

3.6 The shortfall broadly relate to two areas of activity:

 Growth fund – no projects emerged from the launch of the fund; and
 Income generation – a number of potential initiatives have been identified 

but have long lead-in times.

3.7 This shortfall will need to be added to the identified MTFP deficits for 2017/18 
to 2020/21 to establish the new efficiency savings requirements.

4 The New Savings Requirements

4.1 Since December 2016 detailed budget plans have been developed for the 
2017/18 financial-year and a revision to the MTFP has been made in light of 
these. The efficiency savings requirement can be summarised as follows:  

Page 113



Requirement Financial Saving 
Required

£
Shortfall from previous strategy 443,600

MTFP deficits:

2017/18 733,610
2018/19 803,570
2019/20 749,940
2020/21 410,570

Total 3,141,290

5 Strategic Focus of New Plan

5.1 The new Efficiency & Rationalisation Strategy will have the effect of both 
reducing expenditure and increasing income. The need to grow income is now 
more of a priority as the Council moves more towards being self-financing i.e. 
not reliant on direct government funding such as revenue support grant. 

5.2 The strategy has been developed with the underlying principle of protecting 
frontline service delivery. It is also intended that the strategy is used as a tool 
to enable the Council to ensure that its service spending is determined by the 
established priorities set out in the Corporate Plan. 

5.3 It is intended that the strategy will have five areas of focus:

Major Procurements
There is the opportunity to focus attention on a number of large service 
functions which are currently provided by an external contractor / supplier. A 
number of significant contracts are coming to an end. This will allow a 
fundamental review of these services with proper consideration of the current 
financial constraints. The contract commitments have sometimes restricted 
the opportunity to align services across the alliance with High Peak. The 
development of new arrangements for these services will allow the Council to 
benefit through the economies of scale through working through the alliance 
and potentially other partners. The individual projects will be as follows: 

• Waste collection & environmental services - Development of “Teckal” 
company for delivery of waste collection, street cleansing, grounds 
maintenance and fleet management in conjunction with Ansa (a wholly 
owned company of Cheshire East Council)

• Leisure management - Transformed service provision with a new 
operating model and a reduced subsidy. Involves three review streams– 
strategic priorities; asset fitness for purpose; and the operating model.

• Facilities Management - New arrangements upon expiry of existing 
arrangement with Derbyshire County Council 

Page 114



Asset Management
There will be a continuation of the existing priority of rationalising the 
Council’s asset base with a focus around priorities in order to allow for the 
necessary capital investment.

 Asset Management Plan - Assessment of property condition and review 
of priorities with the objective of rationalisation and implementation of a 
prioritised investment plan

Growth
Development of a clear focus upon housing and economic growth based upon 
early agreement and adoption of a Local Plan. The individual projects will be 
as follows: 

 Housing Growth - This will include the necessity to develop projects to 
ensure that the targets for housing development included in the planning 
framework are achieved. The Council will utilise its land holdings to 
support the market provision of housing.

 Business Growth - There will be a continuation of the approach used by 
the Council to secure inward investment. This will include working with 
funding partners such as the Local Enterprise Partnership and other local 
partners to secure funding to support new schemes.

 New Industrial Units – the implementation of new business start-up units 
which will be retained for rent income  

Income Generation
There will be a focus on increasing the yield from existing sources of income. 
This will include a regular strategic review of fees and charges. There will also 
be a drive towards identifying new sources of income. The individual projects 
will be as follows: 

 Enhanced Trading – initial focus on improving the financial yield from 
existing services such trade waste but will involve the investigation of the 
potential to trade other services

 Advertising / Sponsorship – generate money from sponsorship of assets 
such as car parks, boundary signs, open spaces and buildings.

 Fees & Charges - Increases in levels in line with annual review of 
subsidies and the consideration of new fees and charges

 Commercial Property - Investigate feasibility of the purchase of 
commercial property to generate rental returns

 Affordable Housing – further development of the Ascent joint venture or 
something similar

Rationalisation
There will be a commitment to reducing expenditure on non-priority areas of 
spend. The individual projects will be as follows: 

• Management Arrangements – review of management structure in line 
with the move towards new service delivery models

Page 115



• Channel Shift – continuing rollout of the existing programme  
• Rationalise Non-Statutory Services - investigate on an opportunistic 

basis

5.4 The deliverables for each of the projects are set out in more detail in Annex A.

5.5 The level of financial savings anticipated from the strategy is detailed in the 
table below:

Efficiency 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 TOTAL
 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Major Procurements      
Ansa Joint Venture 100 200 100 100 500
Leisure Centres - - - 500 500
Facilities - 75 - - 75
 100 275 100 600 1,075
Asset Management      
Asset Rationalisation 50 50 25 25 150
 50 50 25 25 150
Growth      
Housing Growth 50 50 150 150 400
Business Growth 15 50 50 150 265
Industrial Units - 50 50 - 100
 65 150 250 300 765
Income Generation      
Fees & Charges 125 175 100 250 650
Affordable Housing 100 100 - - 200
Advertising / Sponsorship 30 30 - - 60
Commercial Property - 50 - - 50
Enhanced Trading 50 - - - 50
 305 355 100 250 1,010
Rationalisation      
Management Staffing 100 - - - 100
Channel Shift - - - - -
Service Rationalisation 41 - - - 41
 141 - - - 141
      
TOTAL 661 830 475 1,175 3,141
      

6 Risks

6.1 The successful delivery of the Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy is 
subject to a number of risks. There are a number of specific risks associated 
with the individual projects and these are identified in Annex A. There are 
however a number of key risks that are inherent throughout the programme. 
These are identified below along with the proposed mitigating actions:

Page 116



Risk category Risk Mitigation and Controls
Financial Implications Robustness of financial assumptions 

within the Efficiency and 
Rationalisation Strategy

Structured project management 
arrangements with detailed business 
cases for each initiative

Financial Implications Additional financial pressures emerge The strategy is kept under constant 
review and adjustments are made 
where necessary

Management of 
Change

Management of corporate and local, 
cultural change; behavioural risks; 
residual effects of aggregation

Progress with achievement of aims 
should be monitored with an effective 
performance management structure

Performance 
Management

Adequacy of framework to monitor 
progress

Risk management processes need to 
be aligned and understood

Programme Delivery Delays in implementation of efficiency 
savings

Effective governance arrangements in 
place to monitor plans. 

Project Executives to own delivery of 
efficiencies. 

Establishment of a Transformation 
Board with Executive Director 
(Transformation) as programme 
director. Board meets monthly to react 
to a changing landscape and develop 
additional initiatives if necessary.

Use of surplus reserves to mitigate for 
shortfalls / delays

Programme Delivery A number of the efficiency / 
rationalisation initiatives are not 
achieved

Structured project management 
approach for delivery including 
effective exception reporting

The strategy is kept under constant 
review

Fundamental review in October 2017 
in line with budget planning processing

Identification of further efficiency / 
rationalisation opportunities through 
benchmarking / effective member 
working groups
  

Reputation and 
Relationship Risks

Maintaining existing partner confidence Communication plan for delivery of 
transformation programme needs to be 
developed and implemented

Political Support Lack of Members support for Plan. Regular reporting and member 
briefings including effective scrutiny 
arrangements

Page 117



7 Governance

7.1 The delivery of the Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy and will be 
managed and monitored by the Transformation Board. The Transformation 
Board is made up of:

 Executive Director (Transformation) – Programme Director & Chair 
 Executive Director (People)
 Executive Director (Place)
 Head of Operational Services
 Head of Customer Services
 OD & Transformation Manager
 Finance & Procurement Manager
 Assets Manager
 Regeneration Manager
 Programme Manager / Support

7.2 The board will provide regular reports on progress with the delivery of the 
strategy to the Alliance Management Team.

7.3 The progress made with the delivery against each Council’s efficiency targets 
will be included in the quarterly financial updates provided to the Resources 
Overview & Scrutiny Panel and Cabinet.

8 Managing the in-year Shortfalls

8.1 It is recognised that as the spending of the Council has declined over the 
years it is becoming increasingly difficult to implement efficiency saving 
programmes. The financial savings that are to be achieved from the 
programme are going to have longer lead-in times, which will result in 
shortfalls against the requirements in the early years of the strategy.

8.2 The table below sets out the anticipated position: 

Efficiency 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Deficit rolled forward - 517 490 765

Deficit from previous strategy 444 - - -
Deficit in MTFP 734 803 750 410
Total in-year savings requirement 1,178 1,320 1,240 1,175

Anticipated in-year savings 661 830 475 1,175
     
Amount required to fund deficit 517 490 765 -

Page 118



8.3 For a number of years the Council has accrued additional reserves through 
under spending on its service delivery or from windfall income. Reserves are 
now at a level that is significantly higher than the required contingency level of 
£1.0 million. It is proposed that the surplus reserves above this level will be 
applied to manage the shortfalls.

8.4 The expected reserves position will be as follows:

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

General Reserves at start of year 3,327 2,810 2,320 1,555

Reserves required to meet shortfall 517 490 765 -
     
General Reserves at start of year 2,810 2,320 1,555 1,555

Page 119



Major Procurements

Projected SavingsEfficiency
2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 TOTAL

Timescales Risks / Constraints Opportunities

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Waste / Street Cleansing / 
Grounds Maintenance

100 200 100 100 500  Preferred option (joint venture 
partnership) - completed

 Decision on way forward - February 
2017

 Savings to be accrued from the end 
of the HPBC waste collection 
contract - August 2017

 Integration with partners’ services 
will develop over time – on-going

 Teckal compliance
 Workforce issues i.e. pensions, 

equal pay
 Standardisation of service provision 

e.g. waste collection methodology
 Relationships with disposal 

authorities
 Fleet procurement arrangements
 Governance arrangements
 Impact on support services

 Wider trading opportunities could 
further reduce cost

 Waste collection methodology 
changes may be positive for 
residents

Leisure Centres - - - 500 500  Property condition surveys -
completed

 Report commissioned to set out 
current service provision and 
delivery options  - report to 
members March 2017

 Work commenced to establish 
required service focus – completion 
expected June 2017

 Way forward to be determined -
March 2018

 New operating model may take 
some time to determine

 Expiry of existing contract – 
September 2018

 Fundamental change of approach 
is required – potential cessation of 
some services

 Provision of service a zero subsidy 
may be difficult to achieve 

 Workforce issues

 Could be opportunities for income 
generation beyond the level of 
savings

Facilities - 75 - - 75  Initial options appraisal (identifying 
DCC and Penda as potential 
options) – already considered

 Further options appraisal of the two 
options – March 2017

 Way forward agreed – December 
2017

 New arrangements to commence – 
April 2018

 Legalities e.g. delegation of 
functions

 Existing contract extension 
requirement

 Specification complexities
 Current asset condition may add 

risk premium to outsourced 
arrangement

 Arrangement could support 
regeneration and capital projects

 100 275 100 600 1,075

P
age 120



Asset Management

Projected SavingsEfficiency
2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 TOTAL

Timescales Risks / Constraints Opportunities

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Asset Rationalisation 50 50 25 25 150  Property condition surveys 

including estimated investment 
costs (30-yr) – already complete

 Asset management working group 
considering and confirming 
priorities – expected completion 
June 2017

 Rationalisation plan agreed – 
September 2017

 Implementation of plan – March 
2019 

 Obligations associated with existing 
buildings

 Aligning with partners’ property 
plans

 Backlog investment requirements 
 Timescales
 Success / stability of third party 

trusts

 Additional savings from fully 
integrated public estate

 50 50 25 25 150

P
age 121



Growth

Projected SavingsEfficiency
2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 TOTAL

Timescales Risks / Constraints Opportunities

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Housing Growth 50 50 150 150 400  Local Plan – agreed and adopted 

by December 2018
 Accelerated housing development 

approach agreed – June 2017

 Housing market conditions
 Development feasibility
 Deadweight increases
 Value of land / capital receipts
 Empty property growth impacting 

on yield

 Potential to generate significantly 
higher income levels if local plan 
development commitments are met

Business Growth 15 50 50 150 265  Reform of business rates retention 
system known  – December 2019

 Staffordshire Pool arrangements 
 Appeals impacting on yield
 Revaluation
 Potential impact of retention 

reforms

 Additional inward investment could 
have significant benefit

Industrial Units - 50 50 - 100  Investigate feasibility – March 2018  Capital investment requirements
 Demand / market conditions

 Potential new income stream 

 65 150 250 300 765

P
age 122



 Income Generation
     

Projected SavingsEfficiency
2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 TOTAL

Timescales Risks / Constraints Opportunities

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Fees & Charges 125 175 100 250 650  Annual review – February each 

year
 Elasticity of demand
 Reductions in demand levels
 Competition from private sector

 Ability to levy higher fees in new 
planning regime

Affordable Housing 100 100 - - 200  Agree new funding arrangement 
with Ascent – March 2017

 Investigate and identify new 
opportunities – September 2017

 Treasury risk and interest rates
 Vires issues

Advertising / Sponsorship 30 30 - - 60  Investigate feasibility – June 2017  Market conditions
 Potential conflicts of interest

 Potential new income stream 

Commercial Property - 50 - - 50  Investigate feasibility – December 
2017

 Capital investment requirements / 
borrowing requirements

 Demand / market conditions

 Potential new income stream 

Enhanced Trading 50 - - - 50  Investigate feasibility – March 2018  Trade Waste - Role of joint venture
 Demand / market conditions

 Potential new income stream 

 305 355 100 250 1,010

P
age 123



Rationalisation

Projected SavingsEfficiency
2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 TOTAL

Timescales Risks / Constraints Opportunities

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Management Staffing 100 - - - 100  Temporary Heads of Service 

arrangements – already agreed
 Management structure review 

following full implementation of joint 
venture arrangements for waste, 
street cleansing & grounds 
maintenance – September 2018 

 Workforce issues

Channel Shift - - - - -  Approach already agreed and 
currently being implemented

 Review of progress – March 2018

 Technology issues / system 
constraints

 Take-up by residents
 Process review 

 Potential for further efficiency 
savings as forecasts are 
pessimistic 

Service Rationalisation 41 - - - 41  Identify potential areas for focus – 
on-going

 Impact on residents

 141 - - - 141

P
age 124



Environmental Health Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% 

increase

Animal Boarding Establishments including Day 

Care and Home/Over Night Licence (initial or 

renewal, excluding vet fees). Vets fees are 

charged in addition to these fees based on full 

cost recovery:

1-10 animals Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £115.00 £120.00 4.35%

11- 25 animals Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £175.00 £185.00 5.71%

25 plus Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £250.00

Animal Boarding (Crèche Facility) - 

Commercial 
Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £250.00

Approved Food Premises  Charge not VAT-able Statutory £0.00 £0.00

Camping Site Registration Charge not VAT-able Statutory £0.00 £0.00

Caravan & Camping Site Registration Charge not VAT-able Statutory £0.00 £0.00

Park Homes: New application Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £335.00 £340.00 1.49%

Fee per additional 

pitch
Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £9.00 £9.50 5.56%

Licence amendment Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £165.00 £170.00 3.03%

Transfer of Licence Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £100.00 £110.00 10.00%

Annual fee Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £170.00 £175.00 2.94%

Deposit of site rules Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £85.00 £90.00 0.00%

Contaminated Land Enquiry: First hour VAT included Fair charging £95.00 £95.00 0.00%

Each subsequent hour 

or part thereof
VAT included Fair charging £80.00 £80.00 0.00%

Cooling Tower Notification Charge not VAT-able Statutory £0.00 £0.00

Dangerous Wild Animals Licence (initial or 

renewal, excluding vet fees). Vets fees are 

charged in addition to these fees based on full 

cost recovery

Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £275.00 £280.00 1.82%

Dog Breeding Establishments Licence (initial 

or renewal, excluding vet fees). Vets fees are 

charged in addition to these fees based on full 

cost recovery:

1-4 dogs Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £125.00 £130.00 4.00%

5 - 10 dogs Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £230.00 £235.00 2.17%

10 Plus Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £300.00

Environmental Permit Fees Set by DEFRA Charge not VAT-able Statutory
Fees set by 

DEFRA

Fees set by 

DEFRA

Copy of Register of Authorisations  (Permits): 

Copying Charge Plus officer time charged for 

photocopying per hour or part thereof.

per side of A4 (or 

equivalent electronic 

format)

Charge not VAT-able Cost recovery £0.10 £0.12 20.00%

Officer Time (EIR) Charge not VAT-able Cost recovery £25.00

Export Health Certificate VAT included Fair charging £125.00 £125.00 0.00%

Export Health Certificate Unlimited Yearly VAT included Fair charging £1,500.00 £1,500.00 0.00%

Export Health Certificate for Brewery/Artisan 

Products 
VAT included Fair charging £60.00 £50.00 -16.67%

Export Health Certificate Unlimited Yearly 

Brewery/Artisan Products 
VAT included Fair charging £500.00 £500.00 0.00%

Export Health Certificate (Samples/ Low Value 

goods up to £500 per consignment)
VAT included Fair charging £65.00 £50.00 -23.08%

Amendment to Health Certificate VAT included Fair charging £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Amendment to Health Certificate 

(Artisan/Brewery Products)
VAT included Fair charging £10.00

Food Hygiene Rating Scheme - Re-Rate within 

3 Months of Inspection 

Price On Application 

Officer Time hourly 
VAT included Fair charging £150.00 £150.00 0.00%

Food Hygiene/Health & Safety Bespoke 

Training Courses 
Price on Application   Charge not VAT-able Fair charging

Page 125



Environmental Health Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% 

increase

Copy of Food Register (Full Copy of database) Full Register Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £150.00 £150.00 0.00%

One Copy of Any Entry in the Register Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £10.00 £10.00 0.00%

List of Food Premises In a Particular Category Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Food Premises Registration Charge not VAT-able Statutory £0.00 £0.00

House in Multiple Occupation Licence: First application Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £385.00 £385.00 0.00%

 

Subsequent 

application/renewal by 

same landlord

Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £310.00 £310.00 0.00%

Change of ownership 

application
Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £310.00 £310.00 0.00%

Improvement Notice Fee VAT included Statutory £200.00 0.00%

Immigration Housing Certificate per application VAT included Fair charging £80.00 £80.00 0.00%

Hypnotism Registration Charge not VAT-able Statutory £0.00 £0.00

Land Drainage/Culvert Maintenance for 

Private Individuals or Companies 

Price On Application 

Officer Time hourly 
VAT included Fair charging £0.00 £45.00

Pet Shop Licence (initial or renewal) (excluding 

vet fees. Vets fees are charged in addition to 

these fees based on full cost recovery):

Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £100.00 £150.00 50.00%

Pleasure Boats & Pleasure Vessels to be let 

for hire or used for carrying passengers for 

hire (Exemption for such boats on any inland 

waterway owned or managed by the British 

Waterways Board)

VAT included Fair charging £85.00 £95.00 11.76%

Riding Establishments Licence (initial or 

renewal, excluding vet fees). Vets fees are 

charged in addition to these fees based on full 

cost recovery:

1-10 animals Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £110.00 £120.00 9.09%

11-20 animals Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £130.00 £140.00 7.69%

21+ animals Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £165.00 £175.00 0.00%

Sex Shop & Cinema Licence (including Sexual 

Entertainment Venues of any type):
New Application Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £2,800.00 £3,000.00 0.00%

Renewal Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £1,500.00 £1,600.00 0.00%

Transfer Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £600.00 £650.00 0.00%

Special Treatments Registration (Premises) 

including: Massage; Manicure; Other Special 

Treatments e.g. Vapour, Sauna or Other Bath 

Treatments

Charge not VAT-able Statutory £0.00 £0.00

Statement of Officers Opinion: First hour of request VAT included Full commercial £95.00
£95.00

0.00%

subsequent hour or 

part thereof
VAT included Full commercial £80.00 £80.00 0.00%

Home/Mobile Tattooing, Piercing, Acupuncture 

Including 1 person 
Premises/ Person Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £145.00 £150.00 3.45%

Tattooing, Piercing, Acupuncture, Electrolysis 

Licence (initial or renewal)
Premises Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £130.00 £135.00 3.85%

Person Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £80.00 £85.00 6.25%

Guest Tattooist Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £50.00

Page 126



Environmental Health Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% 

increase

Ear Piercing Only Premises Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £50.00

Ear Piercing Only Person Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £25.00

Amendment (e.g. 

Change of address)
Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Zoo Licence (excluding vet fees). Vets fees are 

charged in addition to these fees based on full 

cost recovery:

First (4 year licence) Charge not VAT-able Statutory £550.00 £600.00 9.09%

Second & subsequent 

(6 year licence)
Charge not VAT-able Statutory £550.00 £600.00 9.09%

Zoo Licence: Interim periodical Charge not VAT-able Statutory

Vet fees as 

applicable 

only

Vet fees as 

applicable 

only

Renewal periodical Charge not VAT-able Statutory

Vet fees as 

applicable 

only

Vet fees as 

applicable 

only

Informal inspections Charge not VAT-able Statutory

Vet fees as 

applicable 

only

Vet fees as 

applicable 

only

Pest Control

Contract Work (Commercial) Per hour Per officer VAT included Full commercial £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

treatments in addition to contract agreement: Single treatment VAT included Full commercial £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

up to 3 treatments VAT included Full commercial £200.00 £200.00 0.00%

up to 5 treatments VAT included Full commercial £300.00 £300.00 0.00%

Non Contract Work (Commercial) Per hour Per officer VAT included Full commercial £110.00 £125.00 13.64%

Rodents (Rats) (Domestic) - up to three visits 

to treat:
VAT included Free £0.00 £0.00

Wasps Nest (Domestic Treatment): VAT included Full commercial £55.00 £55.00 0.00%

Recipients of Means 

Tested Benefits 

(Housing Benefit/ 

LCTRS) & Vulnerable 

Adults

VAT included Subsidised £27.50 £27.50 0.00%

Rodents (Mice) (Domestic) - up to three visits 

to treat:
VAT included Full commercial £55.00 £55.00 0.00%

Recipients of Means 

Tested Benefits 

(Housing Benefit/ 

LCTRS) & Vulnerable 

Adults

VAT included Subsidised £27.50 £27.50 0.00%

Bed Bugs:

2 bed house
VAT included Full commercial £100.00 £105.00 5.00%

Recipients of Means 

Tested Benefits 

(Housing Benefit/ 

LCTRS) & Vulnerable 

Adults

VAT included Subsidised £50.00 £52.50 5.00%

3 bed house VAT included Full commercial £150.00 £160.00 6.67%

Recipients of Means 

Tested Benefits 

(Housing Benefit/ 

LCTRS) & Vulnerable 

Adults

VAT included Subsidised £75.00 £80.00 6.67%

Page 127



Environmental Health Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% 

increase

4 bed house VAT included Full commercial £200.00 £210.00 5.00%

Recipients of Means 

Tested Benefits 

(Housing Benefit/ 

LCTRS) & Vulnerable 

Adults

VAT included Subsidised £100.00 £105.00 5.00%

>4 bed house VAT included Full commercial
Price on 

application

Price on  

application

Recipients of Means 

Tested Benefits 

(Housing Benefit/ 

LCTRS) & Vulnerable 

Adults

VAT included Subsidised
50% 

reduction

50% 

reduction

Fleas:

2 bed house
VAT included Full commercial £70.00 £75.00 7.14%

Recipients of Means 

Tested Benefits 

(Housing Benefit/ 

LCTRS) & Vulnerable 

Adults

VAT included Subsidised £35.00 £37.50 7.14%

3 bed house VAT included Full commercial £90.00 £95.00 5.56%

Recipients of Means 

Tested Benefits 

(Housing Benefit/ 

LCTRS) & Vulnerable 

Adults

VAT included Subsidised £45.00 £47.50 5.56%

4 bed house VAT included Full commercial £110.00 £115.00 4.55%

Recipients of Means 

Tested Benefits 

(Housing Benefit/ 

LCTRS) & Vulnerable 

Adults

VAT included Subsidised £55.00 £57.50 4.55%

>4 bed house Price On Application VAT included Full commercial

Ants VAT included Full commercial £70.00

Recipients of Means 

Tested Benefits 

(Housing Benefit/ 

LCTRS) & Vulnerable 

Adults

VAT included Subsidised  £35.00

Other insect pests (domestic): VAT included Full commercial £65.00 £70.00 7.69%

Recipients of Means 

Tested Benefits 

(Housing Benefit/ 

LCTRS) & Vulnerable 

Adults

VAT included Subsidised £32.50 £35.00 7.69%

Moles (Commercial Only) Price on Application VAT included Full commercial

Private Water Supply Charges

Risk Assessment:

Price on Application 

upto a maximum of 

£500

Charge not VAT-able Statutory £285.00 £300.00

Per hour on site  

thereafter of part 

thereof

Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £40.00 £50.00

Sampling

Officer Time per 

Sample Maximum 

£100.00

Charge not VAT-able Statutory £55.00 £60.00

Investigation

Per investigation 

Maximum Charge 

£100.00

Charge not VAT-able Statutory £80.00 £90.00

Page 128



Environmental Health Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% 

increase

Granting an Authorisation
Maximum Charge 

£100.00
Charge not VAT-able Statutory £40.00 £50.00

Analysing a sample under regulation 10
Maximum Charge 

£25.00
Charge not VAT-able Statutory

Laboratory 

Charge

Laboratory 

Charge

Analysing a check monitoring sample
Maximum Charge 

£100.00
Charge not VAT-able Statutory

Laboratory 

Charge

Laboratory 

Charge

Analysing an audit monitoring sample
Maximum Charge 

£500.00
Charge not VAT-able Fair charging

Laboratory 

Charge

Laboratory 

Charge

Copy of Private Water Supplies Register: 

Copying Charge Plus officer time charged for 

photocopying per hour or part thereof.

per side of A4 (or 

equivalent electronic 

format)

Charge not VAT-able Cost recovery £0.10 £0.15

Request from Search Company for Data 

relating to Private Water Supplies in a 

particular area. 

Hourly Rate Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £50.00

Stray Dogs Statutory fee Charge not VAT-able Statutory £25.00 £25.00

Admin fee Charge not VAT-able Statutory £25.00 £25.00

Kennel fee per day or 

part thereof

Fee set by 

kennel 

owner

Fee set by 

kennel owner

Page 129



Licensing Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% 

increase

Gambling Act 2005 Premises Licence Fees

Bingo

New Application Charge not VAT-able Statutory £1,300.00 £1,300.00 0.00%

Annual Fee Charge not VAT-able Statutory £650.00 £650.00 0.00%

Application to Vary Charge not VAT-able Statutory £650.00 £650.00 0.00%

Application to Transfer Charge not VAT-able Statutory £550.00 £550.00 0.00%

Application for Reinstatement Charge not VAT-able Statutory £550.00 £550.00 0.00%

Application for Provisional Statement Charge not VAT-able Statutory £1,300.00 £1,300.00 0.00%

Application in respect of Provisional 

Statement Holder
Charge not VAT-able Statutory £700.00 £700.00 0.00%

Notification of Change Charge not VAT-able Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Copy of Licence Charge not VAT-able Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Adult Gaming Centre

New Application Charge not VAT-able Statutory £1,300.00 £1,300.00 0.00%

Annual Fee Charge not VAT-able Statutory £650.00 £650.00 0.00%

Application to Vary Charge not VAT-able Statutory £650.00 £650.00 0.00%

Application to Transfer Charge not VAT-able Statutory £600.00 £600.00 0.00%

Application for Reinstatement Charge not VAT-able Statutory £600.00 £600.00 0.00%

Application for Provisional Statement Charge not VAT-able Statutory £1,300.00 £1,300.00 0.00%

Application in respect of Provisional 

Statement Holder
Charge not VAT-able Statutory £650.00 £650.00 0.00%

Notification of Change Charge not VAT-able Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Copy of Licence Charge not VAT-able Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Family Entertainment Centre

New Application Charge not VAT-able Statutory £1,000.00 £1,000.00 0.00%

Annual Fee Charge not VAT-able Statutory £500.00 £500.00 0.00%

Application to Vary Charge not VAT-able Statutory £600.00 £600.00 0.00%

Application to Transfer Charge not VAT-able Statutory £550.00 £550.00 0.00%

Application for Reinstatement Charge not VAT-able Statutory £550.00 £550.00 0.00%

Application for Provisional Statement Charge not VAT-able Statutory £1,000.00 £1,000.00 0.00%

Application in respect of Provisional 

Statement Holder
Charge not VAT-able Statutory £600.00 £600.00 0.00%

Notification of Change Charge not VAT-able Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Page 130



Licensing Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% 

increase

Copy of Licence Charge not VAT-able Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Betting Premises (excluding Tracks)

New Application Charge not VAT-able Statutory £1,000.00 £1,000.00 0.00%

Annual Fee Charge not VAT-able Statutory £450.00 £450.00 0.00%

Application to Vary Charge not VAT-able Statutory £650.00 £650.00 0.00%

Application to Transfer Charge not VAT-able Statutory £650.00 £650.00 0.00%

Application for Reinstatement Charge not VAT-able Statutory £650.00 £650.00 0.00%

Application for Provisional Statement Charge not VAT-able Statutory £1,000.00 £1,000.00 0.00%

Application in respect of Provisional 

Statement Holder
Charge not VAT-able Statutory £650.00 £650.00 0.00%

Notification of Change Charge not VAT-able Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Copy of Licence Charge not VAT-able Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Race Tracks

New Application Charge not VAT-able Statutory £1,800.00 £1,800.00 0.00%

Annual Fee Charge not VAT-able Statutory £900.00 £900.00 0.00%

Application to Vary Charge not VAT-able Statutory £1,250.00 £1,250.00 0.00%

Application to Transfer Charge not VAT-able Statutory £900.00 £900.00 0.00%

Application for Reinstatement Charge not VAT-able Statutory £900.00 £900.00 0.00%

Application for Provisional Statement Charge not VAT-able Statutory £1,800.00 £1,800.00 0.00%

Application in respect of Provisional 

Statement Holder
Charge not VAT-able Statutory £900.00 £900.00 0.00%

Notification of Change Charge not VAT-able Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Copy of Licence Charge not VAT-able Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Gambling Act Permit Fees set by the 

Secretary of State 2010/11

Licensed Premises Automatic Notification 

Process: Payable on Notification

Up to 2 

machines
Charge not VAT-able Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Charges for Annual Licences (unless 

stated)

Lotteries: Registration Charge not VAT-able Statutory £40.00 £40.00 0.00%

Renewals Charge not VAT-able Statutory £20.00 £20.00 0.00%

Street Trading Consent Annual Rate Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £3,000.00 £3,000.00 0.00%

Page 131



Licensing Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% 

increase

Street Trading Consent - Weekends Only Annual Rate Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £1,500.00 £1,500.00 0.00%

Charity Street Trading Consent/ Street 

Entertainer
Daily rate Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £11.00 £11.00 0.00%

Daily Street Trading consent Daily rate Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £30.00 £30.00 0.00%

Taxi Licences - Hackney Carriage & Private 

Hire Vehicles

Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle Licence (new & 

renewal) Including Brackets & Plates/Decals
Yearly Charge not VAT-able Cost recovery £180.00

Replacement Plate/Badge/Decals

Per 

Plate/Badge/De

cal

Charge not VAT-able Cost recovery £10.00

Change of Vehicle Including Plate/Card Charge not VAT-able Cost recovery £50.00

New Licensed Driver/Renewal: Including 

Knowledge Test and Resit, Safeguarding 

Training & Driver Badge 

Annual Charge not VAT-able Cost recovery £75.00

3 years Charge not VAT-able Cost recovery £150.00

Private Hire Operators Licence 1 Year Charge not VAT-able Cost recovery £105.00

Private Hire Operators Licence 5 years Charge not VAT-able Cost recovery £315.00

DBS Check (Fees Set by Disclosure & Barring 

Service) 
Charge not VAT-able Statutory £44.00

DBS Admin Fee (Fee to be paid to Authority 

or identity check company) 
VAT included Fair charging  £17.00

DVLA Check (Fee to be paid to Authority or 

identity check company) 
VAT included Fair charging £7.00

Document Identification Check (Fee set by 

Crown Post Office
VAT included Statutory £8.75

Re-Sit Knowledge Test Charge not VAT-able Cost recovery  £20.00

Taxi Test (Paid Directly to Garage) VAT included Full Commercial £46.00

Scrap Metal Dealers

Collectors Licence Charge not VAT-able Statutory £245.00 £245.00 0.00%

Site Licence Charge not VAT-able Statutory £365.00 £365.00 0.00%

Variation to licence Change of Name or 

Address
Charge not VAT-able Statutory £32.00 £32.00 0.00%

Copy of Licence Charge not VAT-able Statutory £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Licensing Act 2003

Premises Licences and Club Premises 

Certificates - First Year Fee:

Band A Charge not VAT-able Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Page 132



Licensing Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% 

increase

Band B Charge not VAT-able Statutory £190.00 £190.00 0.00%

Band C Charge not VAT-able Statutory £315.00 £315.00 0.00%

Band D Charge not VAT-able Statutory £450.00 £450.00 0.00%

Band E Charge not VAT-able Statutory £635.00 £635.00 0.00%

Premises Licences and Club Premises 

Certificates Annual Fee:

Band A Charge not VAT-able Statutory £70.00 £70.00 0.00%

Band B Charge not VAT-able Statutory £180.00 £180.00 0.00%

Band C Charge not VAT-able Statutory £295.00 £295.00 0.00%

Band D Charge not VAT-able Statutory £320.00 £320.00 0.00%

Band E Charge not VAT-able Statutory £350.00 £350.00 0.00%

Personal  Licence (Application or Renewal) Charge not VAT-able Statutory £37.00 £37.00 0.00%

Temporary Event Notice Charge not VAT-able Statutory £21.00 £21.00 0.00%

Permitted Temporary Activities, Personal 

Licences and Miscellaneous:

Theft/ Loss, etc. of Premises Licence or 

Summary
Charge not VAT-able Statutory £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Application for a Provisional Statement where 

premises being built etc.
Charge not VAT-able Statutory £315.00 £315.00 0.00%

Notification of change of name or address Charge not VAT-able Statutory £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Application to vary licence to specify individual 

as premises supervisor
Charge not VAT-able Statutory £23.00 £23.00 0.00%

Application for transfer of premises licence Charge not VAT-able Statutory £23.00 £23.00 0.00%

Interim authority notice following death etc. of 

licence holder
Charge not VAT-able Statutory £23.00 £23.00 0.00%

Theft, loss etc. of certificate or summary Charge not VAT-able Statutory £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Notification of change of name or alteration of 

rules of club
Charge not VAT-able Statutory £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Change of relevant registered address of club Charge not VAT-able Statutory £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Theft, loss etc. of temporary event notice Charge not VAT-able Statutory £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Theft, loss etc. of personal licence Charge not VAT-able Statutory £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Duty to notify change of name or address Charge not VAT-able Statutory £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Right of freeholder etc. to be notified of 

licensing matters
Charge not VAT-able Statutory £21.00 £21.00 0.00%

Minor Variation Charge not VAT-able Statutory £89.00 £89.00 0.00%

Licensed Premises Gaming Machine 

Permit

Page 133



Licensing Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% 

increase

Occasion on which fee may be payable:

Grant Charge not VAT-able Statutory £150.00 £150.00 0.00%

Existing Operator Grant Charge not VAT-able Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Variation Charge not VAT-able Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Transfer Charge not VAT-able Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Annual Fee Charge not VAT-able Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Change of Name Charge not VAT-able Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Club Gaming Permits

Occasion on which fee may be payable:

Grant Charge not VAT-able Statutory £200.00 £200.00 0.00%

Grant (Club Premises Certificate Holder) Charge not VAT-able Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Existing Operator Grant Charge not VAT-able Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Variation Charge not VAT-able Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Renewal Charge not VAT-able Statutory £200.00 £200.00 0.00%

Renewal (Club Premise Certificate Holder) Charge not VAT-able Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Annual Fee Charge not VAT-able Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Club Machine Permits

Occasion on which fee may be payable:

Grant Charge not VAT-able Statutory £200.00 £200.00 0.00%

Grant (Club Premises Certificate Holder) Charge not VAT-able Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Existing Operator Grant Charge not VAT-able Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Variation Charge not VAT-able Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Renewal Charge not VAT-able Statutory £200.00 £200.00 0.00%

Renewal (Club Premise Certificate Holder) Charge not VAT-able Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Annual Fee Charge not VAT-able Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Page 134



Licensing Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% 

increase

Family Entertainment Centre Gaming 

Permits

Occasion on which fee may be payable:

Grant Charge not VAT-able Statutory £300.00 £300.00 0.00%

Existing Operator Grant Charge not VAT-able Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Renewal Charge not VAT-able Statutory £300.00 £300.00 0.00%

Change of Name Charge not VAT-able Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Copies of all Permits Each Charge not VAT-able Statutory £15.00 £15.00 0.00%

Other Licences

Street Collection Licence Charge not VAT-able Free £0.00 £0.00

Registrations

Statement of Officers Opinion Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £45.00 £45.00 0.00%

Page 135



Land Charges Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% 

increase

LLC1 Residential Charge not VAT-able Cost recovery £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

LLC1 Additional Parcels Residential Charge not VAT-able Cost recovery £10.00 £10.00 0.00%

Con 29R

Residential 

(SCC fee 

included)

VAT included Cost recovery £83.00 £73.20 -11.81%

Con 29R Additional Parcels Residential VAT included Cost recovery £18.00 £18.00 0.00%

Full Standard Search (LLC1 + Con 29R) Part 

Con 29 (Inc Vat)
Residential

VAT included as 

applicable
Cost recovery £108.00 £98.20 -9.07%

Full Standard Search Additional Parcels Part 

Con 29 (Inc Vat)
Residential

VAT included as 

applicable
Cost recovery £28.00 £28.00 0.00%

Con 29O - Each Residential VAT included Cost recovery £9.00 £9.00 0.00%

Each Additional Enquiry Residential VAT included Cost recovery £18.00 £18.00 0.00%

Personal Search of the Land Charges 

Register
Residential Charge not VAT-able Statutory £0.00 £0.00

A search on each individual part of the 

Local Land Charges Register:

Parts 5, 7, 8 & 12
Residential - 

each
Charge not VAT-able Free £0.00 £0.00

Parts 1, 2, 6, 9, & 11
Residential - 

each
Charge not VAT-able Cost recovery £1.00 £1.00 0.00%

Parts 4 & 10
Residential - 

each
Charge not VAT-able Cost recovery £4.00 £4.00 0.00%

Part 3
Residential - 

each
Charge not VAT-able Cost recovery £12.00 £12.00 0.00%

LLC1 Commercial Charge not VAT-able Cost recovery £35.00 £35.00 0.00%

LLC1 Additional Parcels Commercial Charge not VAT-able Cost recovery £20.00 £20.00 0.00%

Con 29R

Commercial 

(SCC fee 

included)

VAT included Cost recovery £138.00 £118.20 -14.35%

Con 29R Additional Parcels Commercial VAT included Cost recovery £35.00 £36.00 2.86%

Full Standard Search (LLC1 + Con 29R) Part 

Con29 (Inc Vat)
Commercial

VAT included as 

applicable
Cost recovery £173.00 £153.20 -11.45%

Full Standard Search Additional Parcels Part 

Con29 (Inc Vat) 
Commercial

VAT included as 

applicable
Cost recovery £60.00 £56.00 -6.67%

Con 29O - Each Commercial VAT included Cost recovery £9.00 £9.00 0.00%

Each Additional Enquiry Commercial VAT included Cost recovery £18.00 £18.00 0.00%

Personal Search of the Land Charges 

Register
Commercial Charge not VAT-able Statutory £0.00 £0.00

A search on each individual part of the 

Local Land Charges Register:

Parts 5, 7, 8 & 12
Commercial - 

each
Charge not VAT-able Free £0.00 £0.00

Parts 1, 2, 6, 9, & 11
Commercial - 

each
Charge not VAT-able Cost recovery £1.50 £1.50 0.00%

Parts 4 & 10
Commercial - 

each
Charge not VAT-able Cost recovery £4.50 £4.50 0.00%

Page 136



Land Charges Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% 

increase

Part 3
Commercial - 

each
Charge not VAT-able Cost recovery £18.50 £18.50 0.00%

Fees for access to individual Con 29R 

questions

Con 29R Q1.1 a-l
Residential - 

each
VAT included Cost recovery £1.94 £1.20 -38.14%

Con 29R Q1.2 Residential VAT included Cost recovery £0.35 £0.24 -31.43%

Con 29R Q2

Residential - 

request direct 

to SCC

SCC SCC

Con 29R Q3.1 Residential VAT included Cost recovery £0.35 £0.24 -31.43%

Con 29R Q3.2

Residential - 

request direct 

to SCC

SCC SCC

Con 29R Q3.3 a-c
Residential - 

each
VAT included Cost recovery £0.35 £0.24 -31.43%

Con 29R Q3.4

Residential - 

request direct 

to SCC

SCC SCC

Con 29R Q3.5 a & b
Residential - 

each
VAT included Cost recovery £0.35 £0.24 -31.43%

Con 29R Q3.6

Residential - 

request direct 

to SCC

SCC SCC

Con 29R Q3.7 a-f
Residential - 

each
VAT included Cost recovery £0.35 £0.24 -31.43%

Con 29R Q3.8 Residential VAT included Cost recovery £0.35 £0.24 -31.43%

Con 29R Q3.9 a-n
Residential - 

each
VAT included Cost recovery £0.70 £0.90 28.57%

Con 29R Q3.10 a-h
Residential - 

each
VAT included Cost recovery £0.70 £0.24 -65.71%

Con 29R Q3.11 a & b
Residential - 

each
VAT included Cost recovery £0.35 £0.24 -31.43%

Con 29R Q3.12 
Residential - 

each
VAT included Cost recovery £0.35 £0.24 -31.43%

Con 29R Q3.13 a-c
Residential - 

each
VAT included Cost recovery £0.35 £0.24 -31.43%

Con 29R Q3.14 Residential VAT included Cost recovery £0.35 £0.24 -31.43%

Con 29R Q3.15 a & b
Residential - 

Each
VAT included Cost recovery £0.70 £0.24 -65.71%

Con 29R Q1.1 a-l
Commercial - 

each
VAT included Cost recovery £3.80 £3.00 -21.05%

Con 29R Q1.2 Commercial VAT included Cost recovery £0.75 £0.60 -20.00%

Con 29R Q2

Commercial - 

request direct 

to SCC

SCC SCC

Con 29R Q3.1 Commercial VAT included Cost recovery £0.75 £0.60 -20.00%

Con 29R Q3.2

Commercial - 

request direct 

to SCC

SCC SCC

Con 29R Q3.3 a-c
Commercial - 

each
VAT included Cost recovery £0.75 £0.60 -20.00%

Page 137



Land Charges Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% 

increase

Con 29R Q3.4

Commercial - 

request direct 

to SCC

SCC SCC

Con 29R Q3.5 a & b
Commercial - 

each
VAT included Cost recovery £0.75 £0.60 -20.00%

Con 29R Q3.6

Commercial - 

request direct 

to SCC

SCC SCC

Con 29R Q3.7 a-f
Commercial - 

each
VAT included Cost recovery £0.75 £0.60 -20.00%

Con 29R Q3.8 Commercial VAT included Cost recovery £0.75 £0.60 -20.00%

Con 29R Q3.9 a-n
Commercial - 

each
VAT included Cost recovery £1.35 £1.80 33.33%

Con 29R Q3.10 a-h
Commercial - 

each
VAT included Cost recovery £1.35 £0.60 -55.56%

Con 29R Q3.11 a & b
Commercial - 

each
VAT included Cost recovery £0.75 £0.60 -20.00%

Con 29R Q3.12 Commercial VAT included Cost recovery £0.75 £0.60 -20.00%

Con 29R Q3.13 a-c
Commercial - 

each
VAT included Cost recovery £0.75 £0.60 -20.00%

Con 29R Q3.14 Commercial VAT included Cost recovery £0.75 £0.60 -20.00%

Con 29R Q3.15 a & b
Commercial - 

each
VAT included Cost recovery £1.35 £0.60 -55.56%

Page 138



Environmental Crime Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% 

increase

Fixed Penalty Notices (FPN)

Unlawful repairs / sale of vehicle on roads: Full FPN Charge not VAT-able Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

If paid within 10 

working days
Charge not VAT-able Statutory £60.00 £60.00 0.00%

Abandoning a vehicle: Full FPN Charge not VAT-able Statutory £200.00 £200.00 0.00%

If paid within 10 

working days
Charge not VAT-able Statutory £120.00 £120.00 0.00%

Depositing litter: Full FPN Charge not VAT-able Statutory £75.00 £75.00 0.00%

If paid within 10 

working days
Charge not VAT-able Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Failure to comply with a street litter control 

notice:
Full FPN Charge not VAT-able Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

If paid within 10 

working days
Charge not VAT-able Statutory £75.00 £75.00 0.00%

Failure to comply with a litter clearing notice: Full FPN Charge not VAT-able Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

If paid within 10 

working days
Charge not VAT-able Statutory £75.00 £75.00 0.00%

Unauthorised distribution of free printed 

matter:
Full FPN Charge not VAT-able Statutory £75.00 £75.00 0.00%

If paid within 10 

working days
Charge not VAT-able Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Criminal Damage and fly-posting: Full FPN Charge not VAT-able Statutory £75.00 £75.00 0.00%

If paid within 10 

working days
Charge not VAT-able Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Failure to produce authority (waste carrier’s 

licence) 
Full FPN Charge not VAT-able Statutory £300.00 £300.00 0.00%

Failure to furnish documentation (waste 

transfer notes)
Full FPN Charge not VAT-able Statutory £300.00 £300.00 0.00%

Failure to remove dog faeces from land 

forthwith:
Full FPN Charge not VAT-able Statutory £80.00 £80.00 0.00%

If paid within 10 

working days
Charge not VAT-able Statutory £60.00 £60.00 0.00%

Not putting, and keeping, a dog on a lead 

when directed to do so by an authorised 

officer:

Full FPN Charge not VAT-able Statutory £80.00 £80.00 0.00%

If paid within 10 

working days
Charge not VAT-able Statutory £60.00 £60.00 0.00%

Page 139



Environmental Crime Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% 

increase

Permitting a dog to enter land from which 

dogs are excluded:
Full FPN Charge not VAT-able Statutory £80.00 £80.00 0.00%

If paid within 10 

working days
Charge not VAT-able Statutory £60.00 £60.00 0.00%

Not keeping a dog on a lead in a designated 

area:
Full FPN Charge not VAT-able Statutory £80.00 £80.00 0.00%

If paid within 10 

working days
Charge not VAT-able Statutory £60.00 £60.00 0.00%

Smoke & Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) 

Regulations 2015:
Full FPN Charge not VAT-able Statutory £5,000.00

If paid within 14 

working days
Charge not VAT-able Statutory £2,500.00

Waste Deposit Offence Act s33 (1) (a) 

Environmental Protection Act 1990:
Full FPN Charge not VAT-able Statutory £200.00

If Paid within 

10 Days
Charge not VAT-able Statutory £120.00

Health Act 2006 Smoking in a smoke free 

designated vehicle or area:
Full FPN Charge not VAT-able Statutory £50.00

if Paid within 15 

Days 
Charge not VAT-able Statutory £30.00

Health Act 2006 Failure to Display appropriate 

smoke free signage as dictated by law:
Full FPN Charge not VAT-able Statutory £200.00

if Paid within 15 

Days 
Charge not VAT-able Statutory £150.00

Page 140



Community Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% 

increase

Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime & Policing Act 2014

Failure to comply with a Community 

Protection Notice:
Full FPN Charge not VAT-able Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

If paid within 10 

working days
Charge not VAT-able Statutory £75.00 £75.00 0.00%

Failure to comply with a Public Spaces 

Protection Order:
Full FPN Charge not VAT-able Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

If paid within 10 

working days
Charge not VAT-able Statutory £75.00 £75.00 0.00%

Page 141



Planning Enforcement Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% 

increase

Desk-based history check requested by 

member of the public
Per check Charge not VAT-able Cost recovery £40.00 £40.00 0.00%

Site visit requested by member of the public Per visit Charge not VAT-able Cost recovery £80.00 £80.00 0.00%

Below fees do not apply to alleged breaches of planning regulations (such investigations will continue to be provided free of 

charge)

Page 142



Planning Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% 

increase

Householder PD check VAT included Fair charging £56.00 £67.00 19.64%

Listed Building enforcement check VAT included Fair charging £100.00

COPYING

Decision Notice Per notice VAT included Cost recovery £47.00 £47.00 0.00%

A4 OS maps 4 Copies VAT included Cost recovery £31.00 £31.00 0.00%

Planning Applications (Current & Historic): First page VAT included Cost recovery £7.00 £7.00 0.00%

Additional 

pages
VAT included Cost recovery £1.00 £1.00 0.00%

Planning Applications Plans - AO size Per copy VAT included Cost recovery £18.50 £18.50 0.00%

Planning Applications Plans - A3 size Per copy VAT included Cost recovery £13.50 £13.50 0.00%

Planning Applications Plans - A4 size Per copy VAT included Cost recovery £8.25 £8.25 0.00%

Weekly Planning List Per year VAT included Cost recovery £370.00 £370.00 0.00%

Informal or history Searches: First hour VAT included Cost recovery £51.25 £51.25 0.00%

Additionals VAT included Cost recovery £32.00 £32.00 0.00%

Postage:
Cost of 

Postage
Charge not VAT-able Cost recovery Postage Cost Postage Cost

Admin Charge VAT included Cost recovery £8.25 £8.25 0.00%

PRE APPLICATION ADVICE

Meetings

Strategic major applications

Over 50 

dwellings or 

10,000sqm 

commercial

VAT included Fair charging £1,130.00 £1,130.00 0.00%

Major proposals 

Between 10 

and 50 

dwellings or 

1,000-

10,000sqm 

commercial

VAT included Fair charging £845.00 £845.00 0.00%

Minor proposals and other 

structures/developments not in the above 

categories

Between 1 and 

9 dwellings or 

under 

1,000sqm 

commercial

VAT included Fair charging £500.00 £570.00 14.00%

Written Advice

Strategic major applications

Over 50 

dwellings or 

10,000sqm 

commercial

VAT included Fair charging £565.00 £565.00 0.00%

Page 143



Planning Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% 

increase

Major proposals

Between 10 

and 50 

dwellings or 

1,000-

10,000sqm 

commercial

VAT included Fair charging £425.00 £425.00 0.00%

Minor proposals 

Between 1 and 

9 dwellings or 

under 

1,000sqm 

commercial

VAT included Fair charging £280.00 £285.00 1.79%

Note: Use external measurements when calculating floor areas.

Statutory Planning Fees Statutory
See Planning 

Portal

See Planning 

Portal

Page 144



Building Control Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% 

increase

For the first issue of a Completion Certificate 

where work has been completed/ occupied 

without notice to the council.

VAT included Cost recovery £117.00 £117.00 0.00%

Copies of completion certificates, approvals, 

where an application number is quoted and 

assessment for redaction applied:

For 

regularisation
Charge not VAT-able Cost recovery £41.00 £41.00 0.00%

Not for 

regularisation
VAT included Cost recovery £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Written response to an enquiry on works not 

requiring an application (e.g. confirmation of 

information available on the internet or 

provided over the telephone). Includes a 

search on the presence of public sewers in 

relation to the development where applicable.

VAT included Cost recovery £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Written response to a query. (Charges will 

therefore vary dependent on length of time 

taken to collate information).

Per hour or part 

thereof
VAT included Cost recovery £65.00 £65.00 0.00%

Written response to a query requiring a search 

for information that needs input of senior staff. 

(Charges will therefore vary dependent on 

length of time taken to collate information).

Per hour or part 

thereof
VAT included Cost recovery £65.00 £65.00 0.00%

Making available drawings for viewing subject 

to redaction and permission of copyright 

ownership

Per hour or part 

thereof
VAT included Cost recovery £55.00 £55.00 0.00%

Returning of stamped approved copy plans to 

applicant following scanning of the original file
VAT included Cost recovery £40.00 £40.00 0.00%

Administration fee for withdrawal of an 

application where registered but not assessed
VAT included Cost recovery £40.00 £40.00 0.00%

Administrative fee for the return of invalid 

applications where the applicant does not 

respond within 10 days (including weekends)

VAT included Cost recovery £40.00 £40.00 0.00%

Consultation Advice (in excess of 1 hour) - 

Discounted by 100% on the submission of a 

Building Regulations Application

Per half hour VAT included Cost recovery £40.00 £40.00 0.00%

Dealing with the Notification of Demolition 

Notices under Section 80 of the Building Act. 

Further charges may be incurred if a complex 

demolition is proposed. These charges will be 

based on an hourly rate of £56

Charge not VAT-able Cost recovery £65.00 £65.00 0.00%

Recovery of costs associated with dealing 

with reports of dangerous structures, where 

investigation or action taken:

Normal: Per 

hour - minimum 

charge

Charge not VAT-able Cost recovery £56.00 £56.00 0.00%

Out of Hours: 

Per hour - 

minimum 

charge

Charge not VAT-able Cost recovery £82.00 £82.00 0.00%

Page 145



Street Naming Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% 

increase

New Properties, small developments 
1-5 Properties 

(each)
Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £63.66 £65.57 3.00%

New Properties, large developments 
6+ Properties 

(each)
Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £37.13 £38.25 3.02%

New Street Name Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £190.96 £196.70 3.01%

Renaming Existing Properties Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £63.66 £65.57 3.00%

Confirmation of Postal Address Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £41.20 £42.44 3.01%

Page 146



Waste Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% increase

Trade Waste & Recycling

To ensure that the Council remains 

competitive and is commercially focused, 

rates levied for trade waste and trade 

recycling collections will be calculated based 

upon volumes and demand ensuring at all 

times that they do not fall below the cost of 

service provision to the authority.

Domestic Waste

Charge for new or replacement domestic 

waste or recycling bin
per bin Charge not VAT-able Cost recovery £0.00 £30.00

Special Collection (Difficult Waste) up to 20 

Black Bags
Per 20 bags Charge not VAT-able Full commercial £69.50 £70.50 1.44%

Black Sacks roll of 16 Charge not VAT-able Full commercial £3.65 £3.75 2.74%

Garden Sacks Each Charge not VAT-able Full commercial £0.64 £0.66 3.13%

Additional Garden Waste Bin Each Charge not VAT-able Full commercial £68.00 £70.00 2.94%

Page 147



Cemeteries Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% 

increase

Leek & Buxton Road Cemeteries

Burial Plots Exclusive right of burial & 

issue of certificate

Purchase Fee

New Coffin Grave Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £598.00 £636.00 6.35%

New Cremated Remains Grave Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £299.00 £318.00 6.35%

Out of area fees:

Leek Parish residents only Charge not VAT-able Fair charging Single Fees
Single 

Fees

Other Staffordshire Moorlands residents Charge not VAT-able Fair charging
Double 

Fees

Double 

Fees

All areas outside Staffordshire Moorlands Charge not VAT-able Fair charging Triple Fees
Triple 

Fees

Interment Fees

Grave for three (Leek Cemetery only) Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £810.00 £855.00 5.56%

Grave for two Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £706.00 £746.00 5.67%

Grave for one Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £634.00 £672.00 5.99%

Cremated remains burial Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £211.00 £223.00 5.69%

Lawn burial of ashes Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £132.00 £140.00 6.06%

Cremation Casket in Garden of 

Remembrance
Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £148.00 £156.00 5.41%

Out of area fees:

Leek Parish residents only Charge not VAT-able Fair charging Single Fees
Single 

Fees

Re-opened graves for those not residing in 

Leek Parish
Charge not VAT-able Fair charging

Double 

Fees

Double 

Fees

Outside Staffs. Moorlands (newly dug graves 

only)
Charge not VAT-able Fair charging Triple Fees

Triple 

Fees

Interment

Child under 1 year

Baby's Grave Charge not VAT-able Free £0.00

New full size grave Charge not VAT-able Subsidised £373.00

Ashes Grave Charge not VAT-able Free £0.00

Reopened Grave Charge not VAT-able Subsidised £336.00

Child aged 1-10 years

Child's grave Charge not VAT-able Free £0.00

New full size grave Charge not VAT-able Subsidised £373.00

Ashes Grave Charge not VAT-able Free £0.00

Page 148



Cemeteries Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% 

increase

Reopened Grave Charge not VAT-able Subsidised £336.00

Memorial

Child under 1 year

Dedicated childs memorial Charge not VAT-able Free £0.00

New full size grave Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £151.00

Ashes Grave Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £151.00

Reopened Grave Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £151.00

Child aged 1-10 years

Dedicated childs memorial Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £75.50

New full size grave Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £151.00

Ashes Grave Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £151.00

Reopened Grave Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £151.00

Memorials

New upright memorial including 1st inscription Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £142.00 £151.00 6.34%

Memorial desk tablet/ vase including 1st 

inscription
Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £99.00 £106.00 7.07%

Replacement memorial Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £99.00 £106.00 7.07%

Additional inscription on memorial/ tablet/ 

vase etc.
Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £62.00 £65.00 4.84%

Bronze/ Granite memorial plaque (up to 75 

letters)
Charge not VAT-able Full commercial £340.00 £360.00 5.88%

Sponsored tree plaque (existing tree only) Charge not VAT-able Full commercial £340.00 £360.00 5.88%

Sponsored memorial bench & bronze plaque

50% deposit 

required before 

order

Charge not VAT-able Full commercial £1,200.00 £1,250.00 4.17%

Other Charges

Replacement or transfer of grave deed Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £40.00 £43.00 7.50%

Search fee Per half hour VAT included Fair charging £19.00 £22.00 15.79%

Grave selection requiring Cemetery Officer 

attendance 
Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £19.00 £22.00 15.79%

Walled graves, vaults etc.

Large coffin (both dimensions over 6' 5" and 

25")
Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £62.00 £66.00 6.45%

Cancellation of funeral within 72 hours of 

burial
Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £62.00 £66.00 6.45%

Coffin size not confirmed within 48 hours of 

burial
Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £62.00 £66.00 6.45%

Headstone not removed from grave when 

requested
Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £62.00 £66.00 6.45%

Page 149



Cemeteries Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% 

increase

Paperwork not received in cemetery office 

before burial
Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £62.00 £66.00 6.45%

Page 150



Leisure Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% 

increase

Swimming Pools

Junior (5 to 16 years) and OAP's:

Monday - Friday P/person/p/hr VAT included Subsidised £2.20 £2.25 2.27%

Saturday/Sunday/Bank Holiday P/person/p/hr VAT included Subsidised £2.20 £2.25 2.27%

Children under 5yrs accompanied by adult 

swimmer

Adults:

Monday - Friday 9.00am - 4.00pm P/person/p/hr VAT included Fair charging £3.35 £3.40 1.49%

Saturday/Sunday/Bank Holiday & 4.00pm - 

11.00pm Monday - Friday
P/person/p/hr VAT included Fair charging £3.75 £3.85 2.67%

Family Pass VAT included Fair charging £9.55 £9.75 2.09%

Spectators P/person/p/hr VAT included Fair charging £1.00 £1.00 0.00%

Lessons - Children Per person VAT included Fair charging £4.15 £4.25 2.41%

Lessons - Adults Per person VAT included Fair charging £5.20 £5.30 1.92%

Clubs: Monday - Sunday inc. Per hour VAT included Fair charging £41.30 £42.15 2.06%

Galas:

Cheadle & Biddulph: Monday to Sunday inc Per hour VAT included Fair charging £61.30 £62.50 1.96%

Leek: Monday to Sunday inc Per hour VAT included Fair charging £41.35 £42.20 2.06%

Life Saving Club Per person VAT included Fair charging £2.05 £2.10 2.44%

Cheadle, Leek and Biddulph ASC 1st hour VAT included Fair charging

50% of 

normal 

charge

50% of 

normal 

charge

Aerobics/Keep Fit Class Per person VAT included Fair charging £4.55 £4.65 2.20%

Aqua Aerobics Per person VAT included Fair charging £4.55 £4.65 2.20%

Step Aerobics Per person VAT included Fair charging £4.55 £4.65 2.20%

Spinning Per person VAT included Fair charging £5.55 £5.70 2.70%

Hire of Public Address Per hire VAT included Fair charging £9.25 £9.45 2.16%

South Moorlands Leisure Centre

Squash (per 40 minutes): Off peak VAT included Fair charging £4.20 £4.30 2.38%

On peak VAT included Fair charging £7.25 £7.40 2.07%

Badminton: Off peak VAT included Fair charging £5.40 £5.50 1.85%

On peak VAT included Fair charging £9.20 £9.40 2.17%

Page 151



Leisure Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% 

increase

Hire of Full Hall (Soccer): Off peak VAT included Fair charging £32.25 £32.90 2.02%

On peak VAT included Fair charging £57.45 £58.60 2.00%

Hire of Half Hall (Soccer, Volleyball): Off peak VAT included Fair charging £19.35 £19.75 2.07%

On peak VAT included Fair charging £38.30 £39.10 2.09%

Hire of 1/3 Hall (Basketball, Netball): Off peak VAT included Fair charging £24.70 £25.20 2.02%

On peak VAT included Fair charging £39.80 £40.60 2.01%

Hire of Hall (Bowling): Off peak VAT included Fair charging £16.70 £17.05 2.10%

On peak VAT included Fair charging £27.60 £28.15 1.99%

Cricket Lane: Off peak VAT included Fair charging £15.60 £15.90 1.92%

On peak VAT included Fair charging £23.10 £23.55 1.95%

Table Tennis (Per Table): Off peak VAT included Fair charging £2.05 £2.10 2.44%

On peak VAT included Fair charging £3.15 £3.20 1.59%

Fitness Suite:

Non Members Single Session VAT included Fair charging £6.85 £7.00 2.19%

Basic Induction VAT included Fair charging £18.60 £19.00 2.15%

Member Joining Fee VAT included Fair charging £20.00 £20.00 0.00%

Membership Per month VAT included Fair charging £38.50 £38.50 0.00%

Annual VAT included Fair charging £411.25 £419.50 2.01%

Leisure Key VAT included Fair charging £3.20 £3.20 0.00%

Concessionary Membership (Leisure Key 

Holders)
Per month VAT included Subsidised £30.00 £31.00 3.33%

Concessionary Membership (Leisure Key 

Holders)
Annual VAT included Subsidised £324.00 £334.80 3.33%

Hire of Full Hall for Spectator Events: Off peak VAT included Fair charging £37.80 £38.60 2.12%

On peak VAT included Fair charging £72.10 £73.55 2.01%

Hire of Pool Staff VAT included Fair charging £16.00 £16.35 2.19%

Synthetic Pitch: Single 5-a-side pitch:

Monday - Friday
9.30am - 

5.30pm
VAT included Fair charging £23.40 £23.90 2.14%

Monday - Friday
5.30pm - 

10.30pm
VAT included Fair charging £35.50 £36.20 1.97%

Saturday/Sunday
9.30am - 

4.30pm
VAT included Fair charging £23.55 £24.05 2.12%

Saturday/Sunday
4.30pm - 

10.30pm
VAT included Fair charging £35.25 £35.95 1.99%

Junior Rate (Monday - Friday)
9.30am - 

5.30pm
VAT included Fair charging £23.30 £23.80 2.15%

Page 152



Leisure Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% 

increase

Brough Park Leisure Centre

Squash (per 40 minutes): Off peak VAT included Fair charging £4.20 £4.30 2.38%

On peak VAT included Fair charging £7.25 £7.40 2.07%

Badminton: Off peak VAT included Fair charging £5.40 £5.50 1.85%

On peak VAT included Fair charging £9.20 £9.40 2.17%

Synthetic Pitch Off peak VAT included Fair charging £14.85 £15.15 2.02%

On peak VAT included Fair charging £19.95 £20.35 2.01%

Bowling - OAP/Junior VAT included Fair charging £2.35 £2.40 2.13%

Bowling - Adult VAT included Fair charging £3.00 £3.05 1.67%

Hire of Half Hall (any activity) Off peak VAT included Fair charging £14.40 £14.70 2.08%

On peak VAT included Fair charging £20.10 £20.50 1.99%

Hire of Full Hall (any activity): Off peak VAT included Fair charging £25.10 £25.60 1.99%

On peak VAT included Fair charging £39.80 £40.60 2.01%

Hire of Full Hall (spectator events): Off peak VAT included Fair charging £31.35 £32.00 2.07%

Off peak VAT included Fair charging £53.85 £54.95 2.04%

Fitness Suite:

Non Members Single Session VAT included Fair charging £6.85 £7.00 2.19%

Basic Induction VAT included Fair charging £18.50 £18.90 2.16%

Member Joining Fee VAT included Fair charging £20.00 £20.00 0.00%

Membership Per month VAT included Fair charging £38.50 £38.50 0.00%

Annual VAT included Fair charging £411.25 £419.50 2.01%

Leisure Key VAT included Fair charging £3.20 £3.20 0.00%

Concessionary Membership (Leisure Key 

Holders)
Per month VAT included Subsidised £30.00 £31.00 3.33%

Concessionary Membership (Leisure Key 

Holders)
Annual VAT included Subsidised £324.00 £334.80 3.33%

Meeting Room: Off peak VAT included Fair charging £9.00 £9.20 2.22%

On peak VAT included Fair charging £9.00 £9.20 2.22%

Cricket Lane: Off peak VAT included Fair charging £15.60 £15.90 1.92%

On peak VAT included Fair charging £23.10 £23.55 1.95%

Dance Studio: Off peak VAT included Fair charging £15.60 £15.90 1.92%

On peak VAT included Fair charging £23.20 £23.65 1.94%

Floodlit Area: Off peak VAT included Fair charging £14.85 £15.15 2.02%

On peak VAT included Fair charging £19.95 £20.35 2.01%

Page 153



Leisure Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% 

increase

Hire of pool staff per hour VAT included Fair charging £16.00 £16.35 2.19%

Brough Park

Bowls - Adult P/person/p/hr VAT included Fair charging £3.10 £3.15 1.61%

Bowls - OAP/Junior P/person/p/hr VAT included Fair charging £2.45 £2.50 2.04%

Bowls
P/person/ 

p/season
VAT included Fair charging £47.70 £48.65 1.99%

Bowls - OAP/Junior/Unemployed
P/person/ 

p/season
VAT included Fair charging £24.00 £24.50 2.08%

Tennis - Juniors Only Per court VAT included Fair charging £5.20 £5.35 2.88%

Tennis - Junior and Adults Per court VAT included Fair charging £6.40 £6.60 3.12%

Tennis - Adults Only Per court VAT included Fair charging £7.80 £8.00 2.56%

Biddulph Valley Leisure Centre

Squash (per 40 minutes): Off peak VAT included Fair charging £4.20 £4.30 2.38%

On peak VAT included Fair charging £7.25 £7.40 2.07%

Badminton: Off peak VAT included Fair charging £5.40 £5.50 1.85%

On peak VAT included Fair charging £9.20 £9.40 2.17%

Hire of Full Hall (Soccer): Off peak VAT included Fair charging £33.45 £34.15 2.09%

On peak VAT included Fair charging £58.55 £59.70 1.96%

Hire of Half Hall (Soccer, Volleyball): Off peak VAT included Fair charging £19.45 £19.85 2.06%

On peak VAT included Fair charging £38.30 £39.10 2.09%

Hire of 2/3 Hall (Basket, Netball): Off peak VAT included Fair charging £25.10 £25.60 1.99%

On peak VAT included Fair charging £39.90 £40.70 2.01%

Hire of 1/3 Hall (Bowling): Off peak VAT included Fair charging £16.70 £17.05 2.10%

On peak VAT included Fair charging £27.40 £27.95 2.01%

Cricket Lane: Off peak VAT included Fair charging £15.60 £15.90 1.92%

On peak VAT included Fair charging £23.20 £23.65 1.94%

Table Tennis (Per Table):
Off peak & 

junior
VAT included Fair charging £2.05 £2.10 2.44%

On peak VAT included Fair charging £3.15 £3.20 1.59%

Hire of Full Hall for Spectator Events: Off peak VAT included Fair charging £39.30 £40.10 2.04%

On peak VAT included Fair charging £81.00 £82.65 2.04%

Hire of Pool Staff Per hour VAT included Fair charging £16.00 £16.35 2.19%

Dance Studio: Off peak VAT included Fair charging £15.60 £15.90 1.92%

On peak VAT included Fair charging £23.70 £24.20 2.11%

Page 154



Leisure Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% 

increase

Step Aerobic Class VAT included Fair charging £4.55 £4.65 2.20%

Fitness Suite:

Non Members Single Session VAT included Fair charging £6.85 £7.00 2.19%

Basic Induction VAT included Fair charging £18.50 £18.90 2.16%

Member Joining Fee VAT included Fair charging £20.00 £20.00 0.00%

Membership Per month VAT included Fair charging £38.50 £38.50 0.00%

Annual VAT included Fair charging £411.25 £419.50 2.01%

Leisure Key VAT included Fair charging £3.20 £3.20 0.00%

Concessionary Membership (Leisure Key 

Holders)
Per month VAT included Subsidised £30.00 £31.00 3.33%

Concessionary Membership (Leisure Key 

Holders)
Annual VAT included Subsidised £324.00 £334.80 3.33%

All Sites - School Hire Rate:

Squash/Table Tennis VAT included Fair charging
Junior 

Rate

Junior 

Rate

Sports Hall VAT included Fair charging
70% of Off 

Peak Rate

70% of Off 

Peak Rate

Floodlit Area VAT included Fair charging
70% of Off 

Peak Rate

70% of Off 

Peak Rate

Playing Fields/Recreation 

Grounds/Running Tracks (Inc Changing 

Rooms and Showers):

Mini pitches
Per Game 

VAT included Fair charging £21.10

Per Season:

 - Bi-weekly
VAT included Fair charging £94.60

- Weekly
VAT included Fair charging £178.70

Junior Under 16:

 - Single Pitch with Pavilion Per game VAT included Fair charging £27.50 £28.05 2.00%

Per season - bi-

weekly
VAT included Fair charging £165.80 £169.10 1.99%

Per season - 

Weekly
VAT included Fair charging £288.80 £294.60 2.01%

- Without Pavilion Per game VAT included Fair charging £20.65 £21.10 2.18%

Per season - bi-

weekly
VAT included Fair charging £92.75 £98.95 6.68%

Per season - 

Weekly
VAT included Fair charging £175.20 £182.40 4.11%

Intermediate 16/17 yrs:

Inter -with pavilion Per game VAT included Fair charging £40.30 £41.15 2.11%

Per season - bi-

weekly
VAT included Fair charging £378.00 £385.55 2.00%

Per season - 

Weekly
VAT included Fair charging £655.20 £668.30 2.00%

Page 155



Leisure Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% 

increase

Inter - Without Pavilion Per game VAT included Fair charging £30.25 £30.85 1.98%

Per season - bi-

weekly
VAT included Fair charging £181.45 £185.10 2.01%

Per season - 

Weekly
VAT included Fair charging £322.55 £329.00 2.00%

Adult:

 - Single Pitch with Pavilion Per game VAT included Fair charging £52.40 £53.45 2.00%

Per season - bi-

weekly
VAT included Fair charging £566.90 £578.25 2.00%

Per season - 

Weekly
VAT included Fair charging £1,072.00 £1,093.45 2.00%

- Without Pavilion Per game VAT included Fair charging £41.25 £42.10 2.06%

Per season - bi-

weekly
VAT included Fair charging £289.20 £295.00 2.01%

Per season - 

Weekly
VAT included Fair charging £515.10 £525.40 2.00%

Birchall/ Thorley Pavilion changing rooms Per hour VAT included Fair charging £15.00 £15.30 2.00%

Birchall / Thorley Pavilion Meeting Room and 

kitchen
Per hour VAT included Fair charging £24.75 £25.25 2.02%

Floodlights – Birchall:

Football Pitch
Per 2 hour 

session
VAT included Fair charging £37.40 £38.15 2.01%

Running Track
Per 2 hour 

session
VAT included Fair charging £18.75 £19.15 2.13%

Page 156



Street Scene Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% 

increase

Street Signs – Developers VAT included Fair charging £300.00 £300.00 0.00%

Carnivals: (quote plus hourly charge) Quote VAT included Fair charging £20.00 £22.50 12.50%

Private sweeps Per Hour VAT included Fair charging £45.00 £47.50 5.56%

Private picks Per Hour VAT included Fair charging £45.00 £47.50 5.56%

Poll booths for Parishes, Town Councils and 

barrier erection
Per Hour VAT included Fair charging £45.00 £47.50 5.56%

Parish Council Works Per Hour VAT included Fair charging £45.00 £47.50 5.56%

Private removal of Asbestos: (quote plus 

hourly charge)
Quote VAT included Fair charging £20.00 £22.50 12.50%

Graffiti: (quote plus hourly charge) Quote VAT included Fair charging £20.00 £22.50 12.50%

Gritting Per Hour VAT included Fair charging £45.00 £47.50 5.56%

Page 157



Horticulture Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% 

increase

Horticulture

Copy of Tree Preservation Order Per hard copy Charge not VAT-able Full commercial £30.00 £30.00 0.00%

Fishing Tickets (Biddulph Grange Country 

Park)
VAT included Fair charging £6.50 £6.70 3.08%

Memorial Bench
Purchase & 

Installation
Charge not VAT-able Full commercial £750.00

High Hedges

High Hedge Complaints Per complaint Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £500.00 £500.00 0.00%

Parks & Open Space Concession

Sport / Fitness Classes Per session Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £6.50 £6.60 1.54%

Park /Open Space Event Charges

Commercial Fairs - Small (< 10 items) Admin Fee Charge not VAT-able Full commercial £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Commercial Fairs - Small (< 10 items) Day Rate Charge not VAT-able Full commercial £200.00 £200.00 0.00%

Commercial Fairs - Large (> 10 Items) Admin Fee Charge not VAT-able Full commercial £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Commercial Fairs - Large (> 10 Items) Day Rate Charge not VAT-able Full commercial £385.00 £385.00 0.00%

Commercial Circus - Small (1- 300) Admin Fee Charge not VAT-able Full commercial £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Commercial Circus - Small (1- 300) Day Rate Charge not VAT-able Full commercial £125.00 £125.00 0.00%

Commercial Circus - Large (300 +) Admin Fee Charge not VAT-able Full commercial £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Commercial Circus - Large (300 +) Day Rate Charge not VAT-able Full commercial £340.00 £340.00 0.00%

Commercial Event - Small (1-500) Admin Fee Charge not VAT-able Full commercial £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Commercial Event - Small (1-500) Day Rate Charge not VAT-able Full commercial £120.00 £120.00 0.00%

Commercial Event - Medium (A) (500 - 1000) Admin Fee Charge not VAT-able Full commercial £75.00 £75.00 0.00%

Commercial Event - Medium (A) (500 - 1000) Day Rate Charge not VAT-able Full commercial £240.00 £240.00 0.00%

Commercial Event - Medium (B) (1000 - 2000) Admin Fee Charge not VAT-able Full commercial £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Commercial Event - Medium (B) (1000 - 2000) Day Rate Charge not VAT-able Full commercial £360.00 £360.00 0.00%

Commercial Event - Large (2000 - 5000) Admin Fee Charge not VAT-able Full commercial £200.00 £200.00 0.00%

Commercial Event - Large (2000 - 5000) Day Rate Charge not VAT-able Full commercial £485.00 £485.00 0.00%

Commercial Event - Very Large (5000 - 

10,000)
Admin Fee Charge not VAT-able Full commercial £250.00 £250.00 0.00%

Commercial Event - Very Large (5000 - 

10,000)
Day Rate Charge not VAT-able Full commercial £630.00 £630.00 0.00%

Commercial Event - Major (+ 10,000) Admin Fee Charge not VAT-able Full commercial £500.00 £500.00 0.00%

Page 158



Horticulture Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% 

increase

Commercial Event - Major (+ 10,000) Day Rate Charge not VAT-able Full commercial £925.00 £925.00 0.00%

Charitable Event - Some Commercial 

Activity<1500
Admin Fee Charge not VAT-able Subsidised £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Charitable Event - Some Commercial 

Activity>1500
Admin Fee Charge not VAT-able Subsidised £75.00 £75.00 0.00%

Community Event -Some Commercial Activity 

<1500
Admin Fee Charge not VAT-able Subsidised £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Community Event - Some Commercial Activity 

>1500
Admin Fee Charge not VAT-able Subsidised £75.00 £75.00 0.00%

Charitable Event - No commercial activity Admin Fee Charge not VAT-able Free £0.00 £0.00

Community Event -No Commercial Activity Admin Fee Charge not VAT-able Free £0.00 £0.00

Commercial Filming Admin Fee Charge not VAT-able Full commercial £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Commercial Filming Day Rate Charge not VAT-able Full commercial £600.00 £600.00 0.00%

Commercial photo shoot Admin Fee Charge not VAT-able Full commercial £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Commercial photo shoot  Half Day Rate Charge not VAT-able Full commercial £300.00 £300.00 0.00%

Discretionary Commercial Event Admin Fee Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Discretionary Commercial Event Day Rate Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £60.00 £60.00 0.00%

Educational Establishments Admin Fee Charge not VAT-able Free £0.00 £0.00

Catering concessions - lesiure sites Admin Fee Charge not VAT-able Full commercial £50.00

Catering concessions - lesiure sites Day Rate Charge not VAT-able Full commercial £20.00

New sites for concessions - amusements Admin Fee Charge not VAT-able Full commercial £50.00

New sites for concessions - amusements
Day Rate / Per 

Item
Charge not VAT-able Full commercial £30.00

Page 159



Car Parks - 2017/18 Proposed Charges 

effective 1st May 2017
Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% 

increase

Season tickets (long stay car parks)

Leek: Per annum VAT included Fair charging £348.00 £348.00 0.00%

Half yearly VAT included Fair charging £180.00 £180.00 0.00%

Quarterly VAT included Fair charging £96.00 £96.00 0.00%

Cheadle: Per annum VAT included Fair charging £300.00 £300.00 0.00%

Half yearly VAT included Fair charging £156.00 £156.00 0.00%

Quarterly VAT included Fair charging £81.00 £81.00 0.00%

Biddulph: Per annum VAT included Fair charging £234.00 £234.00 0.00%

Half yearly VAT included Fair charging £120.00 £120.00 0.00%

Quarterly VAT included Fair charging £63.00 £63.00 0.00%

Smithfield Centre Per annum VAT included Fair charging £330.00 £330.00 0.00%

California Car Park (proven Leek workers & 

Residents)
Per annum VAT included Fair charging £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Buxton Road Car Park (proven Leek workers 

only)
Per annum VAT included Fair charging £200.00 £200.00 0.00%

Pay and Display

Leek: Brook Street Up to 1 hour VAT included Fair charging £0.60 £0.80 33.33%

Up to 2 hours VAT included Fair charging £1.10 £1.30 18.18%

Up to 3 hours VAT included Fair charging £1.50 £1.70 13.33%

Leek: Buxton Road Up to 1 hour VAT included Fair charging £0.60 £0.80 33.33%

Up to 2 hours VAT included Fair charging £1.10 £1.30 18.18%

Up to 3 hours VAT included Fair charging £1.50 £1.70 13.33%

Up to 10 hours VAT included Fair charging £2.00 £2.20 10.00%

Leek: High Street Up to 1 hour VAT included Fair charging £0.60 £0.80 33.33%

Up to 2 hours VAT included Fair charging £1.10 £1.30 18.18%

Up to 3 hours VAT included Fair charging £1.50 £1.70 13.33%

Up to 10 hours VAT included Fair charging £2.00 £2.20 10.00%

Leek: Joliffe Street Up to 1 hour VAT included Fair charging £0.60 £0.80 33.33%

Up to 2 hours VAT included Fair charging £1.10 £1.30 18.18%

Up to 3 hours VAT included Fair charging £1.50 £1.70 13.33%

Page 160



Car Parks - 2017/18 Proposed Charges 

effective 1st May 2017
Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% 

increase

Up to 10 hours VAT included Fair charging £2.00 £2.20 10.00%

Leek: Market Place Up to 1 hour VAT included Fair charging £0.60 £0.80 33.33%

Up to 2 hours VAT included Fair charging £1.10 £1.30 18.18%

Up to 3 hours VAT included Fair charging £1.50 £1.70 13.33%

Leek: Market Street East Up to 1 hour VAT included Fair charging £0.60 £0.80 33.33%

Up to 2 hours VAT included Fair charging £1.10 £1.30 18.18%

Up to 3 hours VAT included Fair charging £1.50 £1.70 13.33%

Leek: Market Street West Up to 1 hour VAT included Fair charging £0.60 £0.80 33.33%

Up to 2 hours VAT included Fair charging £1.10 £1.30 18.18%

Up to 3 hours VAT included Fair charging £1.50 £1.70 13.33%

Leek: Moorlands House Up to 1 hour VAT included Fair charging £0.60 £0.80 33.33%

Up to 2 hours VAT included Fair charging £1.10 £1.30 18.18%

Up to 3 hours VAT included Fair charging £1.50 £1.70 13.33%

Leek: Queen Street Up to 1 hour VAT included Fair charging £0.60 £0.80 33.33%

Up to 2 hours VAT included Fair charging £1.10 £1.30 18.18%

Up to 3 hours VAT included Fair charging £1.50 £1.70 13.33%

Leek: Regent Street Up to 1 hour VAT included Fair charging £0.60 £0.80 33.33%

Up to 2 hours VAT included Fair charging £1.10 £1.30 18.18%

Up to 3 hours VAT included Fair charging £1.50 £1.70 13.33%

Leek: Silk Street Up to 1 hour VAT included Fair charging £0.60 £0.80 33.33%

Up to 2 hours VAT included Fair charging £1.10 £1.30 18.18%

Up to 3 hours VAT included Fair charging £1.50 £1.70 13.33%

Leek: Smithfield South Up to 1 hour VAT included Fair charging £0.60 £0.80 33.33%

Up to 2 hours VAT included Fair charging £1.10 £1.30 18.18%

Page 161



Car Parks - 2017/18 Proposed Charges 

effective 1st May 2017
Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% 

increase

Up to 3 hours VAT included Fair charging £1.50 £1.70 13.33%

Leek: Stockwell Street Up to 1 hour VAT included Fair charging £0.60 £0.80 33.33%

Up to 2 hours VAT included Fair charging £1.10 £1.30 18.18%

Up to 3 hours VAT included Fair charging £1.50 £1.70 13.33%

Leek: St Edward Street Up to 1 hour VAT included Fair charging £0.60 £0.80 33.33%

Up to 2 hours VAT included Fair charging £1.10 £1.30 18.18%

Up to 3 hours VAT included Fair charging £1.50 £1.70 13.33%

Leek: Vicarage Road/ California Up to 1 hour VAT included Fair charging £0.60 £0.80 33.33%

Up to 2 hours VAT included Fair charging £1.10 £1.30 18.18%

Up to 3 hours VAT included Fair charging £1.50 £1.70 13.33%

Up to 10 hours VAT included Fair charging £2.00 £2.20 10.00%

Leek: West Street Up to 1 hour VAT included Fair charging £0.60 £0.80 33.33%

Up to 2 hours VAT included Fair charging £1.10 £1.30 18.18%

Up to 3 hours VAT included Fair charging £1.50 £1.70 13.33%

Up to 10 hours VAT included Fair charging £2.00 £2.20 10.00%

Cheadle:Tape Street Up to 1 hour VAT included Fair charging £0.50 £0.70 40.00%

Up to 2 hours VAT included Fair charging £1.00 £1.20 20.00%

Up to 3 hours VAT included Fair charging £1.40 £1.60 14.29%

Cheadle:Well Street Up to 1 hour VAT included Fair charging £0.50 £0.70 40.00%

Up to 2 hours VAT included Fair charging £1.00 £1.20 20.00%

Up to 3 hours VAT included Fair charging £1.40 £1.60 14.29%

Up to 10 hours VAT included Fair charging £1.80 £2.00 11.11%

Biddulph: Wharf Road Up to 2 hours VAT included Fair charging £0.40 £0.60 50.00%

Up to 3 hours VAT included Fair charging £0.60 £0.80 33.33%

Up to 10 hours VAT included Fair charging £1.40 £1.60 14.29%

Page 162



Car Parks - 2017/18 Proposed Charges 

effective 1st May 2017
Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% 

increase

Penalty Charge Notices Off Street: Two tier 

system depending on the seriousness of the 

offence

Tier one: Per fine Charge not VAT-able Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

If paid within 14 

days
Charge not VAT-able Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Tier two: Per fine Charge not VAT-able Statutory £70.00 £70.00 0.00%

If paid within 14 

days
Charge not VAT-able Statutory £35.00 £35.00 0.00%

Charge levied for grant of parking waiver Vehicle per day VAT included Statutory £15.00 £15.00 0.00%

Charge levied for grant of parking waiver Bay per day VAT included Statutory £15.00 £15.00 0.00%

Page 163



Markets Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% 

increase

LEEK RETAIL MARKETS

Wednesday Outdoor (General Retail):

- Regular Traders Per day Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £18.25 £19.25 5.48%

- Regulars - non attendance Per day Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £9.25 £9.60 3.78%

- Casual Traders Per day Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £21.50 £22.50 4.65%

Wednesday Trestle (General Retail):

- Regular Traders Per day Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £21.50 £21.50 0.00%

- Regulars - non attendance Per day Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £10.75 £10.75 0.00%

- Casual Traders Per day Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £23.50 £23.50 0.00%

Friday Trestle (Franchised Archer Fairs)

- Per Stall Per day Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £15.00 £16.00 6.67%

Saturday Trestle (General Retail)

- Regular Traders Per quarter Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £182.00 £192.00 5.49%

- Casual Traders Per day Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £19.00 £20.00 5.26%

Saturday Outdoor Craft (Franchised Archer 

Fairs)

- Per Pitch Per day Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £16.50 £17.50 6.06%

Festival of Fine Food

- Per Stall Per day Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £25.50 £26.00 1.96%

- Per Stall

Per day 

(payment in 

advance)

Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £20.00 £21.00 5.00%

Page 164



Finance Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% 

increase

Financial Services

Statement of Accounts
Per copy (plus 

postage)
VAT included Cost recovery £21.00 £21.00 0.00%

Credit Card Charge Per transaction Charge not VAT-able Cost recovery £2.50 1.3%

Committee Services

Agenda
Per copy (plus 

postage)
VAT included Cost recovery £10.00 £10.00 0.00%

Recovery Services - Summons costs 

recharged

Application for summons re Liability Order: Council Tax Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £60.00 £60.00 0.00%

Non-Domestic 

Rates
Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £65.00 £65.00 0.00%

Issue of Liability Orders: Council Tax Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £35.00 £35.00 0.00%

Non-Domestic 

Rates
Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £35.00 £35.00 0.00%

Committal summons Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £310.00 £310.00 0.00%

Arrest warrants Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £150.00 £150.00 0.00%

Committal to prison Charge not VAT-able Fair charging
Reasonable 

charge

Reasonable 

charge

Page 165



Elections Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% 

increase

Confirmation of Residency Letter Per letter Charge not VAT-able Nominal £20.00 £20.00 0.00%

Page 166



Lettings Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% 

increase

All Room Booking fees exclude optional extra 

Facilities  (Bar, Kitchen etc) - Charitable and 

Non Profit Making organisations subject to 

20% discount - Bookings outside hours stated 

and commercial events by special 

arrangement

Moorlands House Leek

Churnet Room Full Day (9am - 5pm) - 

Monday-Friday
VAT included Fair charging £108.00 £108.00 0.00%

Churnet Room Full Day (9am - 5pm) - 

Saturday
VAT included Fair charging £156.00 £156.00 0.00%

Churnet Room Full Day + Evening (9am - 

10pm) - Monday-Friday
VAT included Fair charging £168.00 £168.00 0.00%

Churnet Room Full Day + Evening (9am - 

10pm) - Saturday
VAT included Fair charging £248.00 £248.00 0.00%

Churnet Room Monday - Friday half day 

charge
VAT included Fair charging £55.00 £55.00 0.00%

Churnet Room Saturday (9am-12noon) VAT included Fair charging £79.00 £79.00 0.00%

Churnet Room Saturday (1pm-5pm) VAT included Fair charging £97.00 £97.00 0.00%

Churnet Room Evening (6pm - 10pm) - 

Monday-Friday
VAT included Fair charging £110.00 £110.00 0.00%

Churnet Room  Evening (6pm - 10pm) - 

Saturday
VAT included Fair charging £155.00 £155.00 0.00%

Trent Room Full Day (9am - 5pm) - Monday-

Friday
VAT included Fair charging £86.00 £86.00 0.00%

Trent Room Full Day (9am - 5pm) - Saturday VAT included Fair charging £109.00 £109.00 0.00%

Trent Room Full Day + Evening (9am - 10pm) 

- Monday-Friday
VAT included Fair charging £134.00 £134.00 0.00%

Trent Room Full Day + Evening (9am - 10pm) 

- Saturday
VAT included Fair charging £174.00 £174.00 0.00%

Trent Room Monday - Friday half day charge VAT included Fair charging £44.00 £44.00 0.00%

Trent Room Saturday (9am-12noon) VAT included Fair charging £55.00 £55.00 0.00%

Trent Room Saturday (1pm-5pm) VAT included Fair charging £97.00 £97.00 0.00%

Trent Room Evening (6pm - 10pm) - Monday-

Friday
VAT included Fair charging £88.00 £88.00 0.00%

Trent Room Evening (6pm - 10pm) - 

Saturday
VAT included Fair charging £109.00 £109.00 0.00%

Dove Room Full Day (9am - 5pm) - Monday-

Friday
VAT included Fair charging £97.00 £97.00 0.00%

Dove Room Full Day (9am - 5pm) - Saturday VAT included Fair charging £140.00 £140.00 0.00%

Dove Room Full Day + Evening (9am - 10pm) 

- Monday-Friday
VAT included Fair charging £151.00 £151.00 0.00%

Dove Room Full Day + Evening (9am - 10pm) 

- Saturday
VAT included Fair charging £223.00 £223.00 0.00%

Dove Room Monday - Friday half day charge VAT included Fair charging £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Dove Room Saturday (9am-12noon) VAT included Fair charging £71.00 £71.00 0.00%

Dove Room Saturday (1pm-5pm) VAT included Fair charging £97.00 £97.00 0.00%

Dove Room Evening (6pm - 10pm) - Monday-

Friday
VAT included Fair charging £99.00 £99.00 0.00%

Page 167



Lettings Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% 

increase

Dove Room Evening (6pm - 10pm) - 

Saturday
VAT included Fair charging £140.00 £140.00 0.00%

Dove Room Excess Hours - 10pm - Midnight Per hour VAT included Fair charging £42.00 £42.00 0.00%

Rooms in the One Stop Shop: Tean, 

Rudyard, etc 

Monday-Friday (Half day) between 9am and 

5pm
VAT included Fair charging £24.00 £24.00 0.00%

Monday-Friday (Full day) 9am-5pm VAT included Fair charging £45.00 £45.00 0.00%

Moorlands House  Other Facilities for Hire:

Kitchen Per booking VAT included Fair charging £21.00 £21.00 0.00%

Piano Per booking VAT included Fair charging £16.00 £16.00 0.00%

Bar Per booking VAT included Fair charging £30.00 £30.00 0.00%

Portable Drinks Machine: Per session VAT included Fair charging £30.00 £30.00 0.00%

Audio Visual Equipment: NB All prices are per 

booking/ session - am or pm. Whole day 

usage will be 2 x per item hired.

VAT included Fair charging

- Overhead Projector VAT included Fair charging £21.00 £21.00 0.00%

- OHP Screen VAT included Fair charging £14.00 £14.00 0.00%

- Nobo Flipchart Easel with Paper (provide 

own markers)
VAT included Fair charging £14.00 £14.00 0.00%

Biddulph Town Hall

Full Day (9am - 5pm) - Monday-Friday Per session Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £59.00 £59.00 0.00%

Full Day (9am - 5pm) - Saturday Per session Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £70.00 £70.00 0.00%

Full Day + Evening (9am - 10pm) - Monday-

Friday
Per session Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £112.00 £112.00 0.00%

Full Day + Evening (9am - 10pm) - Saturday Per session Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £121.00 £121.00 0.00%

Morning (9am - 12noon) Monday-Friday Per session Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £32.00 £32.00 0.00%

Morning (9am - 12noon) Saturday Per session Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £34.00 £34.00 0.00%

Afternoon (1pm - 5pm) - Monday-Friday Per session Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £32.00 £32.00 0.00%

Afternoon (1pm - 5pm) - Saturday Per session Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £45.00 £45.00 0.00%

Evening (6pm - 10pm) - Monday-Friday Per session Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £84.00 £84.00 0.00%

Evening (6pm - 10pm) - Saturday Per session Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Excess Hours - 10pm - Midnight Per hour Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £42.00 £42.00 0.00%

Rooms A, B, C in Extension Per half day Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £28.00 £28.00 0.00%

Rooms A, B, C in Extension Per full day Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £55.00 £55.00 0.00%

Kitchen Per session Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £21.00 £21.00 0.00%

Piano Per session Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £16.00 £16.00 0.00%

Page 168



Lettings Unit

Is VAT included in this 

Charge? (select from 

dropdown)

Charging 

Category (select 

from dropdown)

2016/17 

Current 

Charge

2017/18 

Proposed 

Charge

% 

increase

Bar Per booking Charge not VAT-able Fair charging £30.00 £30.00 0.00%

Page 169



This page is intentionally left blank



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report to Cabinet

14 February 2017

Appendices Attached 
Appendix A - Northern Gateway Development Zone – governance 
structure
Appendix B - Draft Heads of Terms for Collaboration Agreement

1. Reason for the Report
1.1 This report provides an update on progress of the Northern Gateway 

Partnership (‘the Partnership’) and the work done to date. This updates the 
report to Cabinet on the 1st December 2015. It seeks Cabinet endorsement of 
proposed additional work, to define a cross-border Growth Strategy for the 
region to maximise the potential growth and increased connectivity resulting 
from HS2. 

1.2 This report also includes a governance structure for the Partnership in which 
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council will be represented. 

2. Recommendation

TITLE: Update on the Northern Gateway Development 
Zone (NGDZ) 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Councillor Sybil Ralphs – Leader of the Council

CONTACT OFFICER: Dai Larner – Executive Director (Place)

WARDS INVOLVED: Non-Specific

Page 171

Agenda Item 9.4



2.1 That Cabinet : 

 Note the progress made by the Northern Gateway Partnership to date and 
to approve the proposed work programme to further develop the regional 
Growth Strategy for the Northern Gateway Development Zone (NGDZ); 

 Endorse the emerging Vision for the Partnership;

 Endorse Staffordshire Moorlands District Council’s role within the 
Governance structure as proposed by the Northern Gateway Board, see 
Appendix A; and

 Authorise the Leader, in consultation with the Chief Executive, to enter into 
a formal Collaboration Agreement for the Northern Gateway, in accordance 
with the draft Heads of Terms at Appendix B; 

 Authorise the Executive Director Place to approve and execute all legal 
documentation he considers necessary to give effect to the above.

3. Executive Summary
3.1 The Northern Gateway Partnership has made significant progress since its 

launch at MIPIM UK (the property investment event) in Autumn 2015. A 
Partnership of seven local authorities and two Local Enterprise Partnerships  
(Cheshire East Council, Stoke –on-Trent City Council, Cheshire West and 
Chester Council, Newcastle-under-Lyme Borough Council, Stafford Borough 
Council, Staffordshire Moorlands District Council and the LEPs representing 
Stoke and Staffordshire, and Cheshire and Warrington) have been working 
with Government to develop a cross-border Growth Strategy to capitalise on 
investment in HS2 to fully realise the economic potential in Cheshire and North 
Staffordshire.  

3.2 In March 2016, Government granted £625,000 to drive forward development 
of the Growth Strategy.  It reinforced its support for the Partnership with a 
further allocation of £625,000 in November to continue this work. 

3.3 Staffordshire Moorlands District Council has been represented at Director, 
Chief Executive and Leader level since the Partnership was established in 
2015, in order to define and progress a comprehensive work programme 
which will inform and shape the Growth Strategy. This paper includes a 
proposal for the structure of continued representation and support, as 
suggested by the Partnership (see Appendix A). 

3.4 In October 2016, the Partnership announced the appointment of Jackie Sadek 
as the Independent non-executive Chair of the Northern Gateway Partnership 
for an initial period of 12 months, which can be extended for a further 12 
months, subject to review by the Partnership.  This post will help to promote 
the Northern Gateway at a national and international level – Jackie Sadek 
brings a wealth of expertise, experience and knowledge to the Partnership and 
is a keen advocate of the ambitions held by Partners to realise the potential of 
the NGDZ. 

Page 172



3.5 In December 2016, the Partnership completed Phase 1 of the NGDZ work 
programme, undertaking a detailed economic and housing baseline analysis, 
together with a place visioning report.  This formed the draft Growth Strategy 
that has been submitted to Government to demonstrate the growth potential of 
the area and plans to realise the potential. 

3.6 The Partnership is now working closely with colleagues from the Department 
of Communities and Local Government (DCLG) to refine the Growth Strategy, 
to develop a series of investment opportunities, and complementary research 
packages, which will further inform the final Growth Strategy that is to be 
formally submitted to DCLG in April 2017.  

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1 The draft Growth Strategy documents already submitted to Government 
include an outline, high-level spatial strategy which is not a substitute for the 
Local Plan, but has highlighted a series of potential and prioritised locations for 
future development (including Blythe Vale in Staffordshire Moorlands) which is 
now the subject of further testing and refinement in order to establish a firm set 
of proposals and investable propositions in the final Growth Strategy to be 
submitted to Government in April 2017. The proposals in the Growth Strategy 
will assist the delivery of the emerging Local Plan priorities and the growth 
plans contained in the Council’s Corporate Plan.

5. Options and Analysis
5.1 Option 1 – to engage with the NGDZ partnership. With Cabinet 

endorsement of the work done to date on the Partnership, and of the emerging 
Vision for the Partnership, work will then continue to further inform and refine 
the Growth Strategy in order to meet the target date for submission to DCLG 
in April 2017. The Growth Strategy will act as a key advocacy and policy 
document which will define what we need from Government to deliver 
balanced growth for the whole region to 2040 and beyond. 

5.2 This work will require support and commitment from the Council in terms of 
budgetary support, plus officer time and resource in implementing the 
Governance structure. 

5.3 The Partnership recognises the importance of governance in helping to 
programme and navigate the process of developing and delivering the Growth 
Strategy. Cabinet approval is sought to enter into a formal Agreement for the 
Partnership which will be based on the Heads of Terms for the Partnership 
(attached at Appendix B to this report), and outline the roles, responsibilities 
and relationship between Partners in progressing this work, in order to 
illustrate a clear and transparent Partnership arrangement which stakeholders 
can have confidence in. Recommended

5.4 Option 2 – to not engage with the NGDZ partnership.  The alternative 
option is to not to endorse the work underway on the regional Growth Strategy 
and for the Council to withdraw from the Northern Gateway Partnership. 

Page 173



5.5 This Partnership, however, provides a significant opportunity to work 
collaboratively with neighbouring local authorities and two regional Local 
Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs) to realise the potential of the region, helping to 
fuel economic growth for all as well as attracting new communities and 
investors to the area. 

5.6 The Partnership is also a powerful mechanism through which to present a 
compelling case to Government for investment in the region and securing 
appropriate investment in the Moorlands and improving road and rail links. The 
Partnership has strong backing from Government, who recognise that the 
public sector has a significant role to play in helping to realise balanced growth 
across the region. The Northern Gateway Partnership represents a new 
opportunity for placed-based growth through collaborative leadership, 
combining the dedication and commitment of seven local authorities and two 
Local Enterprise Partnerships.

5.7 To withdraw at this point has potentially significant implications not only for the 
Council but also for the region.  Staffordshire Moorlands is a low-growth area 
with low-levels of business start-ups, low wages and a lack of investment in 
land and property. The Partnership offers an opportunity to address this 
problem. Not recommended.

6. Implications

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
No implications

6.2 Workforce
At this stage the workforce implications are none.  The initiative 
has required support from a range of senior officers and 
professional/technical staff, this has been achieved by prioritising 
within existing work programmes.  

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment

The Partnership’s overall goal is to develop a comprehensive 
Growth Strategy for the NGDZ. This Growth Strategy will include a 
spatial strategy which ensures that ‘good growth’ is delivered in the 
right way, in the right places, building on a programme of 
infrastructure investment which enhances connectivity, capitalising 
on existing competative economies and securing prosperity for 
local people of today and tomorrow through a comprehensive skills 
package. 

The Partnership recognises that not all commuities, businesses 
and individuals will benefit in the same way and at the same time, 
but aligning investment and targeting intervention on a regional 
scale through a comprehensive Growth Strategy will deliver the 

Page 174



most effective and appropriate sequencing for growth in order that 
this is inclusive and balanced. 

6.4 Financial Considerations
Each participant authority has agreed to pay £8,000 towards 
funding programme management costs for NGDZ.  The partnership 
has received £1.25m from the government to support the 
development of the growth strategy. 

6.5 Legal
The Partnership Governance and the development of a 
Collaboration Agreement between Partners, in accordance with the 
Heads of Terms as set out at Appendices A and B, to this report, 
will enable all members of the Partnership to be clear on their roles 
and responsibilities, and demonstrates accountability and 
transparency to external stakeholders.

6.6 Sustainability
The spatial aspects of the Growth Plan will be incorporated in the 
Council’s emerging Local Plan where appropriate. These aspects 
of the plan will be subject to a detailed sustainability appraisal and 
consultation through the statutory Local Plan process.

6.7 Internal and External Consultation
Senior officers and the Leader have been involved in the process 
so far. This report is part of the internal consultation process to 
keep the councillors informed. Further consultation is planned on 
the draft growth strategy with a wider group of stakeholders. 

6.8 Risk Assessment

The work being undertaken by the Partnership to produce the 
regional Growth Strategy is centred around, and contingent on, 
investment in HS2.  The Government’s proposals for HS2 are 
continuing to be developed but remain subject to consultation and 
legislation. 

In July 2013, the initial HS2 Phase 2 route was announced and 
consulted on. Since 2014, Phase 2 has been split into 2a and 2b, 
so that the programme for HS2 Phase 2a could be accelerated to 
deliver the route from Phase 1 at Fradley to Crewe by 2027. The 
Phase 2a hybrid Bill is expected to be deposited in Parliament in 
2017, with construction starting in 2020.

On 15th November 2016, Government made the announcement 
and published a Command Paper confirming the proposed Phase 

6.4

Page 175



2b route, which covers the remainder of Phase 2, the section from 
Crewe to Manchester (as well as the eastern leg from Birmingham 
to Leeds). The Phase 2b route has been immediately safeguarded.  
The announcement has included the launch of two consultations:

 A consultation on route refinements

 A consultation on property schemes

The Command Paper states that Government continues to support 
the vision for a Crewe Hub station and confirms that the preferred 
location for the Hub Station is around the existing Crewe Station 
(as opposed to at Basford).

Key considerations in developing options for the Crewe Hub, and 
deciding whether or not to take them forward, is affordability and 
value for money. The Government plans to take decisions on 
additional investment at Crewe in 2017 and will confirm whether 
any such measures should be included in the hybrid Bills for Phase 
2a and Phase 2b. Work is being undertaken jointly with the HS2 
Growth Partnership and Government to further understand the 
costs and funding options for the Crewe Hub which is being fed 
into the wider Growth Strategy.

There is a significant amount of work underway in order to meet 
the deadline of April 2017 for submission of the final Growth 
Strategy to Government. The Partnership’s success in developing 
the Growth Strategy, is contingent on the collaboration of those 
Partners and their willingness to committ to development and 
delivery of the Growth Strategy. This Partnership represents a 
significant step in realising the potential of the NGDZ through 
ambitious, radical yet deliverable growth. By entering into the 
Partnership Agreement in accordance with the Heads of Terms set 
out at Appendix B, and by implementing the Governance structure 
at Appendix A, all Partners will be formalising this collaboration 
which, by clarifying roles, responsibilities and aims of the 
Partnership, will help to avoid the risks associated with any 
fragmentation or ambiguity. 

7. Background and Detail
Growth Strategy: Work to date

7.1 The Northern Gateway Partnership has commissioned a team, led by property 
consultants CBRE, to conduct a baseline economic and housing analysis for 
the Northern Gateway region. This includes an analysis of case studies 
illustrating the impact that investment in high speed rail can have on local 
economies. Alongside this, a further place visioning report (the draft, 

Page 176



embryonic Growth Strategy) has been developed by a team led by Peter Brett 
Associates LLP.   

7.2 This analysis shows that significant growth is possible, but also that in order to 
unlock this growth we need the maximum level of high speed rail investment in 
the area coupled with improved inter- and intra-regional connectivity to 
generate new opportunities for economic development.  It is the combination 
of a regular, frequent and reliable high speed rail service, alongside a 
comprehensive growth strategy, which will ensure that the whole NGDZ area 
is in a strong position to deliver the full economic potential of HS2. 

7.3 Whilst the broad picture is good, a more detailed analysis of the area clearly 
shows that the economic landscape is highly diverse, with significant areas of 
high deprivation and low housing market demand. The analysis, for example, 
demonstrates the relatively low level of housing demand in the Moorlands.

7.4 An analysis of land supply for future development across the NGDZ has been 
undertaken, with a high-level analysis of the deliverability of sites.  CBRE 
conclude that in broad terms there is a healthy and well-balanced land supply 
across the NGDZ that can support the Partnership’s ambition to deliver 
significant levels of homes and jobs across the Development Zone area. It is 
recognised that delivery of well-connected, high quality residential 
environments is vital to attracting and retaining people throughout all stages of 
life.  

7.5 By focussing investment upon creating high-performing schools, academies, 
apprenticeships and further education facilities, and connecting these 
opportunities to residential areas and job opportunities, the NGDZ could assist 
in the creation of a highly skilled population, with good access to jobs which 
will help fuel future economies. 

7.6 The Partnership needs to work ‘with the market’ to improve linkages between 
key manufacturing sectors within the NGDZ, which will ensure that the highly-
valued businesses within the sub-region are incentivised to stay within the 
area and grow to the benefit of the wider population.

7.7 The Partnership is clear that this growth will be inclusive growth targeted at 
improving conditions for Northern Gateway residents and businesses as well 
as attracting new communities and investors to the area.  

7.8 Achieving this scale of ‘good growth’ though, is contingent on both securing 
the maximum possible levels of high speed rail connectivity across the area, 
supported by a range of infrastructure investments to support connectivity, 
alongside innovative approaches to secure far-reaching change.

The emerging Vision for the Partnership
7.9 The NGDZ is well placed to take advantage of major changes underway in the 

economic geography of the UK and governance structures.  HS2 will create 
new connections across the UK, providing a real opportunity to re-shape 
growth patterns across the area to deliver ‘good growth’. This, combined with 
an active process of devolving power from central Government to localities, 
offers real opportunity for areas to plan and direct investment more effectively.  
An Industrial Strategy is being developed nationally which is likely to recognise 
the importance of the UK’s regions in playing their part in growing the 

Page 177



economy which provides a platform for the Northern Gateway to define a new 
economic chapter for the area and provide a focus for policy innovation. 

7.10 The proposed Vision for the Northern Gateway is to become a distinctive 
constellation of connected, successful places, offering a competitive, 
accessible quality of life and a diversity of investment opportunities, which will 
drive a new economic chapter and identity for the area. This Vision is built on 
a moment of change, catalysed by the optimum investment in high speed rail, 
and we seek to become an internationally recognised exemplar, delivering 
‘good growth’ that is welcomed by all, creating new and lasting connections 
between people, places and businesses, enabling existing and new residents 
to contribute to and benefit from economic success.

7.11 This emerging Vision therefore recognises the importance of capitalising on 
the potential of the region’s urban heart, with a  focus on Crewe, Stoke-on-
Trent, Newcastle-under-Lyme and Stafford, all underpinned by unparalleled 
connectivity to the national transport network via the hub at Crewe. This will be 
complemented by a robust package of transport, and infrastructure initiatives 
will deliver a highly-connected HS2 sub-region, bringing more places closer 
together and delivering growth well beyond the tight growth footprint of HS2 
locations. 

7.12 The Northern Gateway Partnership will lead ambitious change which will 
improve the prosperity, life chances and wellbeing of our existing and future 
communities, through a series of targeted measures which are underpinned by 
a commitment to achieving a quality and diversity of place second to none. 

Growth Strategy: Next Steps 
7.13 Work is currently underway to complete four distinct but inter-related areas of 

additional research across the NGDZ which includes: 

 Spatial Opportunity Plans- defining options for growth;

 Land Use, Connectivity and Development Viability Study –setting out 
proposals for connectivity improvements to provide strategic transport 
capacity and more locally unlock sites;

 Financial Model ,Funding Delivery and Economic Assessment;

 Skills, Supply Chain and Local Labour Strategy.  
7.14 Partners are also working to present an update on the Partnership’s progress, 

similar to this report, to the respective approval mechanisms in order to ensure 
all Partners are aligned and taking reports to their cabinets / approval 
processes to ensure that the partnership is operating on the same footing.

7.15 Further information on the Growth Strategy will be provided to Cabinet in 
subsequent reports over the coming months. 

Page 178



Dai Larner
Executive Director – (Place)

Web Links and
Background Papers

Location Contact details

High Speed Two: East and West

The next steps to Crewe and 
beyond

https://www.gov.uk/government/upl
oads/system/uploads/attachment_d
ata/file/480712/hs2-east-and-
west.pdf

Regeneration Team

Moorlands House

Leek

Pranali Parikh

Regeneration Manager 

Tel:  07583055366

Email: pranali.parikh@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

Page 179



This page is intentionally left blank



Northern Gateway Leaders 
and LEP Chairs Board 

Independent Chair – Jackie 
Sadek 

CEX Delivery Board 
SRO- Mike Suarez  

Programme Director 
 LA Directors 

Growth Strategy 

Phase 1 Area Masterplans Crewe Hub Funding 
and Delivery 

HS2 and Rail 
Delivery incl Crewe 

Station  

Comms and 
Engagement 

PMO 

Crewe Joint Sponsor 
Board 

SRO – Mark Carne 

Stafford Stoke-on-
Trent Crewe 

Phase 2 

NGDZ 
Spatial 

Opportunity 
Plans 

Place 
Visioning 

Baseline 
Economic and 

Housing 
Analysis 

Financial 
Model, 

Funding 
Delivery and 

Economic 
Assessment 

NGDZ Land 
Use, 

Connectivity 
and 

Development 
Viability Study NGDZ 

Skills and 
Supply 
Chain 
Study 

Leadership 

Accountability 

Delivery 

Winsford 

Workstreams 

P
age 181



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B 

SUMMARY OF PROPOSED COLLABORATION AGREEMENT:
NORTHERN GATEWAY DEVELOPMENT ZONE

(THE CONDITIONS OF PARTNERSHIP SET OUT IN THIS SUMMARY ARE FOR 
INFORMATION ONLY AND REMAIN SUBJECT TO CONTRACT)

Partners to the proposed Consortium:-

 Cheshire East Borough Council (CEBC)

 Cheshire West and Chester Borough Council 

 Newcastle under Lyme Borough Council  

 Stafford Borough Council 

 Staffordshire County Council 

 Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 

 Stoke-on-Trent City Council 

 Cheshire and Warrington Local Enterprise Partnership 

 Stoke-on-Trent and Staffordshire Local Enterprise 

Any member of the Consortium may propose that an organisation be co-opted to the 
Consortium as an Associate Consortium Member 

BACKGROUND

The Government’s announcement to bring High Speed rail to the region and High Speed 2 
(HS2) interchange hub at Crewe, together with other HS2 connectivity at Stoke-on-Trent and 
Stafford, has the potential to bring significant economic growth and regeneration benefits to 
the region. 

The parties to the agreement intend to record the nature of their collaboration with regard to 
various legal, financial and administrative obligations in respect of the development and 
delivery of a coherent Growth Strategy for the Northern Gateway Development Zone 
(NGDZ).

The parties to the agreement agree in principle to collaborate in the subsequent development of a 
Delivery Strategy rooted in the principles, proposals and priorities established in the Growth Strategy, 
that Delivery Strategy to be subject to a separate Agreement and Approval.

GEOGRAPHICAL COVERAGE

The Northern Gateway Development Zone boundary extends to the area on the attached plan 
(Appendix A). 

Page 183



APPENDIX B 

OBJECTIVES

 To develop a coherent Growth Strategy for the NGDZ delivering 100,000 new homes 
and 120,000 new jobs by 2040;

 To subsequently collaborate in the development of a joint Delivery Strategy to deliver 
against the approved Growth Strategy

 To work collaboratively across a single economic footprint creating a coherent 
investment market, boosted by the international investment magnet of High Speed Rail 
connectivity producing attractive growth opportunities for investors; 

 A shared commitment to sustainable places, driven by high quality design and 
construction creating a quality of life that enhances the appeal of the area to enterprise 
and employees. This includes sustainable local housing growth that drives footfall to 
sustain and develop existing town centres that may otherwise continue to struggle and by 
offering innovative design and self-build opportunities to help retain graduates in urban 
centres. 

PRINCIPLES OF COLLABORATION 

The parties agree to adopt the following principles:

 Establish and adhere to the governance structure set out in the Collaboration Agreement;

 Respond to the Growth Strategy through the development of a jointly prioritised 
Delivery Strategy (subject to separate approval) in line with the strategic objectives and 
priorities identified in the Growth Strategy.

 Be accountable;

 Learn, develop, share and seek to achieve full potential;

 Adopt a positive, proactive outlook;

 Adhere to statutory requirements and best practice;

 Act in a timely manner;

 Manage stakeholders effectively;

 Deploy appropriate resources;

 Act in good faith to support achievement of the Objectives. 

ROLES, DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES  

Page 184



APPENDIX B 

CEBC will be appointed as Accountable Body and currently holds a Section 31 grant from 
central Government accepted on behalf of the Consortium. The Agreement will set out the 
functions of the Accountable Body. 

Each Partner will contribute the required Inputs to enable the completion of the Growth 
Strategy

Each Partner proposes to contribute the required inputs to enable the implementation of the 
Delivery Strategy, subject to approval of the Delivery Strategy 

Each Partner will contribute to engagement with a range of stakeholders including investors, 
communities, landowners and central Government to maximise the benefits of the proposed 
investment in HS2 in their region. 

PROPOSALS AND PROJECTS

The Collaboration Agreement allows for the completion of the Growth Strategy and sets out 
proposals for the development of the Delivery Strategy (subject to approval) and its 
component projects and proposals (subject to approval) which fall within the Objectives of 
the Agreement to be put forward. 

GOVERNANCE 

The Consortium’s governance will:

 Provide strategic oversight and direction;

 Be based on clearly defined roles and responsibilities at organisation, group and, where 
necessary, individual level;

 Align decision-making authority with the criticality of the decisions required;

 Provide coherent, timely and efficient decision-making.

INDEPENDENT CHAIR 

An Independent Chair will be appointed by the Consortium and will be tasked with working 
alongside the Consortium Partners to lead the development of the Growth Strategy and the 
subsequent development and implementation of the Delivery Strategy and the propositions 
set out in that Strategy. 

REPORTING AND MONITORING

An Annual Review Meeting will review performance against set objectives.

The agreement will set out the roles and membership of the following boards and associated 
reporting will be undertaken at three levels:

Page 185



APPENDIX B 

 Leadership: The Partnership Board will consist of political Leaders as representatives 
from each Local Authority Partner, the Chairs of the LEPs, and the Independent Chair 
for the Consortium. The Partnership Board will meet monthly and provide strategic 
leadership for the Consortium. 

 Accountability: The Chief Executives’ Delivery Board will consist of Chief 
Executives / Chief Officers as representatives from each Consortium Member. The Chief 
Executives Delivery Board will set delivery objectives for the Directors Delivery Board 
(see below) and scrutinise performance against these objectives. This Board will review 
and monitor reports submitted from the Directors Delivery Board. For the purposes of 
this Agreement activity will be limited to the development and establishment of the 
Growth Strategy. Subject to approval of a separate Agreement this Board will similarly 
set and scrutinise objectives set out in the Delivery Strategy

 Delivery: The Directors’ Delivery Board will consist of the Programme Director for 
the Consortium plus an individual Director from each Consortium Member as a 
representative. The Directors Delivery Board will undertake action to implement 
delivery of those objectives as set by the Chief Executives’ Delivery Board and will 
produce Quarterly Reports to the Chief Executives’ Delivery Board to summarise 
performance against set objectives. Directors shall also be responsible for drafting 
reports into their respective organisation as required for consideration and review. For 
the purposes of this Agreement activity will be limited to the development and 
establishment of the Growth Strategy. Subject to approval of a separate Agreement this 
Board will similarly implement objectives set out in the Delivery Strategy

FUNDING 

The current funding of the Consortium is in accordance with the budget schedule set out in 
Appendix B to enable the completion and establishment of the Growth Strategy

The budget schedule will be reviewed by the Chief Executives Delivery Board.

Any future funding allocations from the Consortium members will be agreed by the Chief 
Executives Delivery Board subject to each Partner’s internal budget approval mechanisms. It 
is anticipated that such funding allocations will be in line with the strategic objectives and 
priorities identified in the Delivery Strategy.

Associate Consortium members are not required to commit regular funding but may be 
requested to contribute on an ad hoc basis.

OWNERSHIP OF ASSETS

It is not intended that the Consortium will hold any assets 

CONFIDENTIALITY

Page 186



APPENDIX B 

Each party shall keep the other party's Confidential Information confidential and shall not 

 Use such Confidential Information except for the purpose of exercising or performing its 
rights and obligations under the Collaboration Agreement 

 Disclose such Confidential Information in whole or in part to any third party, except as 
expressly agreed by the Consortium 

 A party may disclose the other party's confidential Information to those of its 
representatives who need to know such Confidential Information for the Permitted 
Purpose, provided that it informs such representatives of the confidential nature of the 
confidential Information before disclosure; and ensure they comply with the 
confidentiality obligations set out in the agreement. 

ANNOUNCEMENTS

None of the Consortium members shall make, or permit any person to make, any public 
announcement, communication or circular concerning the Consortium as this will be dealt 
with on behalf of the Consortium through an agreed communications protocol.

DATA PROTECTION AND FREEDOM OF INFORMATION

Each Consortium member will ensure that it complies with the requirements of all legislation 
and regulatory requirements in force from time to time relating to the use of personal data, 
including, without limitation, the Data Protection Act 1998. 

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

The agreement does not transfer any interest in Intellectual Property Rights. All Intellectual 
Property Rights developed or created by a Consortium member pursuant to a Project shall be 
owned by that party. 

ANNUAL REPORT AND REVIEW

The Consortium will receive and approve an Annual Report and Accounts and review the 
Collaboration Agreement annually. 

TERMINATION

The agreement will contain termination rights in relation to the agreement as a whole and in 
relation to any individual Projects. 

APPENDIX A – Plan of the Northern Gateway area

Page 187



APPENDIX B 

Image produced by CBRE

APPENDIX B – Budget allocation for the Partnership to enable the delivery and establishment 
of the Growth Strategy (a separate budget will be identified to establish and implement the 
Delivery Strategy the detail of which will be contained in a separate Agreement to establish the 
Delivery Strategy)

Page 188



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report to Cabinet

14 February 2017

Appendix 1: Detailed explanation of methodology and sources of evidence.

1.     Reason for the Report: To prepare a consistent approach to quantifying the 
economic benefits of development (housing, employment and visitor economy) 
in order to comply with s155 of Housing and Planning Act 2016 and provide 
relevant information towards consideration of ‘planning balance’ for 
determination of planning applications. The report outlines a range of 
economic assumptions and establishes a method for calculating the impact of 
each of them to inform the business cases for key corporate priorities and to 
estimate the impact of investing Council’s resources on the short, medium and 
long term financial plans.

2. Recommendation

2.1 That the approach to quantifying economic impact as outlined in this 
report be noted.

2.2 That the Cabinet approve the approach as the Council’s preferred 
method for quantifying economic growth. 

3. Executive Summary

3.1 This report sets out a consistent methodology for capturing and 
quantifying the economic impact of development within Staffordshire 
Moorlands. 

3.2 Key objectives to propose a consistent approach to quantify economic 
impact are:

TITLE: Quantifying the economic impact 
of growth

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: Councillor Sybil Ralphs - Leader

CONTACT OFFICER: Pranali Parikh

WARDS INVOLVED: All

Page 189

Agenda Item 9.5



 To support compliance with s155 of Housing and Planning Act 
2016;

 To quantify the economic impact and resultant community benefits 
of developments to inform the ‘planning balance’ element for 
determination of planning applications;

 To monitor the progress of delivery of the Local Plan (when 
adopted) and measure the economic impact of the proposed 
developments;

 To have a good understanding of the outcomes deriving from new 
developments and inform the priority and budget setting process 
for the Council;

 To inform the Council’s business case analysis and ensure that it 
complies with the Government’s Green Book Appraisal approach;

 To help model and forecast financial benefits of priority projects in 
the Transformation programme and guide the allocation of 
resources.

3.3 This report explains the use of the multiplier system for measuring the 
impact of residential, commercial and tourism related development 
within the borough. 

3.4 The report also identifies the risks associated by lack of development 
and the wider impact of a ‘reverse multiplier’ (that is the impact of 
disinvestment) on our towns and communities.

3.5 This proposed approach is intended to inform the decision making 
process and to be used only as a guidance. The proposed methodology 
may be amended after the government release the detailed guidance 
for s155 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016. The numbers 
generated using the proposed methodology are subject to the 
assumptions made at the time of calculations and available information 
in the public domain. Each development may vary depending upon the 
localised policies, site conditions and the socio-economic impact. The 
intention of this exercise is to provide a consistent base with which to 
compare projects and developments. 

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1 The report identifies a consistent approach to quantifying the economic 
impact of growth and will therefore enable councillors and officers to 
make better informed and consistent decisions in relation to budget 
commitment and planning. This will enable the council to meet aim 2 
and aim 3 of Corporate Plan 2015-19
 Aim 2: Meet Financial Challenges & Provide Value for Money
 Aim 3- To help create a strong economy by supporting further 

regeneration of towns and villages 

5.       Options and Analysis

5.1 Do Nothing

Page 190



Under this option, the Council would not have a consistent approach to 
quantifying the economic impact of growth. This would mean that
 The Council would not necessarily be complying with s155 of 

Housing and Planning Act 2016 which places a legal obligation on 
authorities to include details of the financial benefits information 
when making recommendations for planning applications. 

 There is a risk that without a consistent approach to quantifying 
the economic impact, the Council could be exposed to different 
methods used by various consultants and open to challenge from 
developers and the potential for judicial review of decisions. 

 Councillors will not have access to reliable, consistent and 
comparable information on the potential impact of development 
projects when making decisions. 

Not recommended

5.2 Approve and adopt the proposed approach and methodology for 
calculating economic impact for housing, business and tourism-linked 
development
 Under this option the Council would have a consistent approach to 

assessing the economic impact of housing, industrial, and 
commercial investment.

Recommended

6. Implications

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
None

6.2 Workforce
None

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's 
Diversity and Equality Policies.

6.4 Financial Considerations
Adoption of consistent approach will help identify income to the council 
from growth as well as quantify wider economic impact for district. Key 
financial assumptions are made in discussion with the finance team 
and will be updated in the light of new information such as the 
government’s proposed business rate retention policy. 

6.5 Legal
There is no known implementation date for  s155 of Housing and 
Planning Act 2016 and when it does come into force it will be subject to 
detailed guidance that may require a re-evalutation of the approach set 
out in this report. 

Page 191



6.6 Sustainability
The National Planning Policy Framework makes clear that the purpose 
of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of 
sustainable development. There are three dimensions to sustainable 
development - economic, social and environmental – and the NPPF 
highlights that these roles should not be undertaken in isolation.

Sustainability Appraisal to assess (and if required mitigate) the 
environmental impact of the Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan is on-
going throughout its production process.

In addition to Sustainability Appraisal, key evidence used to support 
policies in the Local Plan is the assessment of objectively assessed 
housing and employment needs which takes into account the social, 
cultural and political aspects along with the economic and 
environmental ones.

This report focuses on the economic impact of development to inform 
this key element of ‘planning balance’.

6.7 Internal and External Consultation
This report is prepared in consultation with relevant teams within the 
Council such as, Planning Policy, Economic Development, 
Development Management, Finance, Visitor Services and Legal.
Following the approval of Overview & Scrutiny Committee, it will be 
presented to the Cabinet for approval.

6.8 1. Risk Assessment
2. Risk of challenge to approach by those opposed to an application 

based on perceived focus on economic issues.
Mitigation
 This report does not alter or give any additional priority to 

economic factors, but seeks only to give a consistent 
methodology to capturing the economic impact of a 
development. Planning officers are required to report on all 
aspects of development as part of their report.

 Complies with guidance issued around s155
 Council has used widely available robust data in the public 

domain and the methodology is used in other public sector 
organisations.

7.         Background and Detail

7.1  Background

7.1.1 This report sets out a methodology for quantifying the economic impact of 
growth in Staffordshire Moorlands. 

7.1.2 The purpose for this report is to objectively assess the economic impact of 
any development within the borough by using standard multipliers to inform 

Page 192



councillors and officers about the potential impact of the development on the 
local economy.

7.2 Planning Context

7.2.1 Since 2012 the National Planning Policy Framework NPPF, has carried a 
presumption in favour of sustainable development and has made clear that 
 there are three dimensions to sustainable development - economic, social 
and environmental – and the NPPF highlights that these roles should not be 
undertaken in isolation. Consequently, planning reports already contain a 
Section entitled “Planning Balance” where the implications for each of the 
three dimensions are considered and benefits are weighed against 
disbenefits.

7.2.2 The ‘Planning Balance’ is the process of ‘weighing up’ the key relevant 
factors- environmental, social and economical, in determination of a planning 
application. As a planning authority, the Council is obliged to exercise its 
judgement and consider many (sometimes) conflicting issues to decide 
whether planning permission should be granted. These factors must be 
properly considered otherwise the decision of whether or not to grant 
permission may be unlawful.

7.2.3 As part of this consideration, economic benefits are already taken into 
account in general terms, but the Council does not have an adopted 
methodology by which such benefits can be quantified, in contrast to the 
environmental strand of sustainable development, which is objectively 
assessed using standard tools such as Transport Impact Assessments of 
Landscape and Visual Impact Assessments. 

7.2.4 S155 of Housing and Planning Act 2016 now places a legal obligation on 
authorities to include and consider financial benefits information when 
making recommendations for planning applications “whether or not material 
to the application”. Under clause 75ZA, the Act requires

     “A local planning authority in England must make arrangements to ensure 
that the required financial benefits information is included in each report 
which is made by an officer or agent of the authority” 

7.2.5 Clause 75ZA states that in relation to each listed financial benefit a statement 
explaining the extent to which it is material to the application must be 
provided. Some benefits secured through Section 106, such as education 
contributions, only mitigate the impact of the new development and therefore 
would carry neutral weight in the overall assessment of the ‘planning  
balance’. Others, such as the provision of a convenience store as part of a 
new development, which would be of benefit to the whole community, and 
which would create new jobs and income for a new local business, would 
carry a positive weight.

7.2.6 It is therefore necessary to ensure that a more detailed and site specific 
analysis is provided within reports relating to any planning decision. 

7.2.7  In order to meet this obligation, it is important for the Council to adopt a 
consistent methodology for capturing and measuring economic outcomes 

Page 193



that is robust and acceptable by all. Without that, the Council could be 
exposed to different methods used by various consultants  Failure to properly 
consider all 3 aspects of sustainable development when taking planning 
decisions could lead to potential challenges in the form of Appeals or Judicial 
Review. 

7.3 Methodology and reliability of data

7.3.1 Economists have been studying the circular flow of money arising from 
investment and withdrawal of investment for over 120 years, and in the 
1930s the concept of a multiplier effect was established. Since 2010, 
significant research has been undertaken by international academics to 
understand and evaluate the impact of multipliers on a local area and the 
effect that a specific development investment would have in its local 
environment. This report uses this established methodology to create a 
formula for calculating the impact of development in the context of 
Staffordshire Moorlands. 

7.3.2 The Council has used the Oxford Economics employment forecasts to inform 
the emerging local plan. This data was supplemented by a Quantitative Retail 
Study in 2013 to understand shopping spending patterns across the main 
towns.

This report draws on reliable and credible sources of evidence, such as 
Office for National Statistics (ONS), Scarborough Tourism Economic Activity 
Monitor (STEAM) and Visit England data related to tourism spend. 

Further background is attached within the Annexe 1 which evidences the 
detail.

7.4 Explaining economic benefit to the area and the multiplier effect

7.4.1 Every time there is investment (or disinvestment) into an economy – such as 
new housing or business investment in equipment and premises - there is an 
impact on the local economy in terms of jobs and purchasing of supplies and 
services. The multiplier effect refers to the additional economic benefits 
resulting from this initial investment. 

7.4.2 The initial investment starts a circular flow of money into the wider economy 
which is known as the multiplier effect or circular flow concept. This is 
because an injection of extra investment leads to spending, which creates 
increased income for other businesses.  At a local level, this can be 
calculated as a formula for income retained in the area for each new home or 
for each square metre of new business floor-space.   

Multipliers are usually sub dived into three tiers. 

 Tier 1 includes – outcomes from the direct investment 
For example: new jobs created in construction; new jobs in expanding 
businesses; and the direct expenditure related to the construction; 

Page 194

http://www.economicsonline.co.uk/Managing_the_economy/Aggregate_demand.html
http://www.economicsonline.co.uk/Managing_the_economy/Aggregate_demand.html
http://www.economicsonline.co.uk/Managing_the_economy/Aggregate_demand.html


 Tier 2  - includes all of the above but also direct new or safeguarded 
employment in the supply chain generated by the expenditure arising 
specifically from this contract. 
For example: new and safeguarded jobs at firms that manufacture 
products used by the construction industry; supply machinery or other 
equipment which will be housed in the new business premises.

 Tier 3 includes all of the above but also the jobs and spend generated 
in the local area by spend of tier 1 and tier 2 employees, subcontractors 
and in the case of tourism businesses, by visitors. 
For example: Money spent in shops and on other services by new 
householders, by construction/permanent employees and by visitors – 
which in turn supports and creates additional jobs. 

7.4.3 It is proposed that the Council adopts a methodology for calculating the 
impact of residential, commercial and tourism development, reflecting the full 
impact of development across all three tiers, where these can be realistically 
and reliably be quantified. This will estimate the financial income to the 
Council as well as total community benefits in both the first year and as a 
total for first five years following completion. 

7.4.4 It is to be noted that while each new home and business premise generates 
income to the council in the form of council tax, business rates and the New 
Homes Bonus (in addition to other government tax revenues such as stamp 
duty, income tax, value-added tax), there is also an increase in operational 
costs in form of waste collection and other related operational and 

Page 195



infrastructural costs incurred to the Council due to any additional 
development. 

7.5 Assumptions for Housing Development:

7.5.1 Council Tax: The Council retains 12.08% of Council Tax generated by each 
new dwelling. Considering the average house in Staffordshire Moorlands is 
classified in Council Tax Band D, this equates to £183.71 per dwelling per 
year. ( For full explanation of calculation see Annex 1, paragraph 1)

7.5.2 New Homes Bonus: For homes developed over and above the 0.4% of 
dwelling stock in band D equivalents (for Staffordshire Moorlands: 175 units 
or 158 band D equivalents), the Council could receive approximately £1200 
per unit per year for four years or £4800 per unit over four years. (for full 
details please see Annex 1 paragraph 3)

7.5.3 Planning application fees: The Council receives an average £385 per 
dwelling for major planning applications.  ( For full explanation of calculation 
see Annex 1, paragraph 2)

7.5.4 S106 contributions for community benefits: The council receives income from 
s106 payments to mitigate against impact of development. However a 
percentage of this money is secured for transport, education and other 
community facilities and is shared by the County or Parish Councils.  Each 
development will need to be assessed on case by case basis. 

S106 income for Council: Not all developments will be subject to this 
contribution and each development will need to be assessed on tis own 
merit.
(For full explanation of calculation see Annex 1, paragraph 4)

7.5.5 Investment in the local area
A new home in the Staffordshire Moorlands could cost on average £109,000 
generating property investment in the local area. (For full explanation of 
calculation see Annex 1, paragraph 5)

7.5.6 Additional spend in the area
The new householders occupying each new house will spend some of their 
income locally through shopping and use of local services such as local 
builders. This includes both an initial amount ‘to make their house feel like 
their home’ and on-going amount as part of their disposable income.
 Initial one off spend: Nathaniel Lichfield & Partners, ‘The Economic & 

Social Benefits of Home Building in Scotland’ (2015) calculated this as 
a minimum £5000 per home

 Annual spend: The GVA Quantitative Retail Study (update) 2013 
identified that 34% of all household expenditure is spent at district level 
or below. This equates to ££180.54 per week or £9,388 per year.

(For full explanation of calculation see Annex 1, paragraph 6-7)

7.5.7 New Jobs

Page 196



 Direct jobs (Construction and supply chain): Nathaniel Lichfield & 
Partners report ‘The Economic footprint of UK housebuilding’ (March 
2015) identified that each new house generates 4.3 jobs within 
construction or the associated supply chain of which 25 per cent or 1.07 
jobs are likely to be locally based. 

 Indirect jobs (shops and services): The local spend generated by new 
households will also support jobs in shops and services. Deloitte, in 
partnership with Oxford Economics, have calculated that this equates to 
an additional local job for every seven new homes (or 0.14 per dwelling) 
in addition to those generated in construction and supply chain.
(For full explanation of calculation see Annex 1, paragraph 8-9)

7.5.8 Affordable homes
Private sector housing developments with over 15 properties or more within 
towns should provide a target of 33% of affordable homes; elsewhere the 
policy states this is applicable for 5 or more properties. This maybe subject to 
review as part of viability works on emerging Local Plan.
(For full explanation of calculation see Annex 1, paragraph 10)

7.6 Assumptions for Business/Employment use Development excluding 
tourism businesses

7.6.1 Business Rates
Business Rates are calculated using a property’s ‘rateable value’, which is its 
open market rental value on 1 April 2015 (for Business Rates from 1 April 
2017 onwards) based on an estimate by the Valuation Office Agency (VOA).
Each development will need to be assessed on its own merit or, as a proxy, a 
similar property’s rateable value could be used to estimate business rates 
income to the Council for a specific development. (For full explanation of 
calculation see Annex 1, paragraph 11)

7.6.2 Planning application fees: The Council receives a planning application fee for 
commercial development. This rate is currently £385 for each 75sqm of floor 
area or part thereof up to 3,750sqm & £19.049 plus £115 for each additional 
75 sqm in excess of 3750 up to a maximum of £250,000. The fees for 
change of use is £385 per application.

7.6.3 S106: Community benefits: The council may receive an income from s106 
payments to mitigate against the impact of development, however a 
percentage of this money is secured for highway improvements and is paid to 
Staffordshire County Council. For this reason these will be considered on a 
case by case basis and will be included if applicable. 
(For full explanation of calculation see Annex 1, paragraph 4) 

7.6.4 Investment in the local area
 Development cost: The level of private sector business investment will 

depend on individual scheme evidence supplied to council officers.
 It should be noted that although not considered in this report, business 

investment multipliers can vary depending upon the sector and size of 
the business; smaller firms having a greater propensity to re-spend in 
the local economy. 

Page 197



 Development can also contribute to business growth. Capital 
investment can raise the productivity of businesses and create new job 
opportunities

 (For full explanation see Annex 1, paragraph 12)

7.6.5 Additional spend in the area
Spend close to employment: National research on re-spend of employees 
has identified that between 4.5 per cent and 9 per cent of an employees 
overall weekly household spend is spent close to their place of employment. 
In Staffordshire Moorlands this would equate to £1,394 per annum.

Re-spend in the local area: 
People who live and work locally, spend approximately 41% of their 
disposable income in the local area compared to average households (34%). 
This means that business investment which attracts a proportion of in-
migration of new working age residents through re-location to the area, 
especially higher income earners, will have a greater positive impact on the 
local economy, as long as there is sufficient supply in the housing market. In 
Staffordshire Moorlands, this would equate to £11,182 per relocating/new 
employee per annum.
(For full explanation see Annex 1, paragraph 13)

7.6.6 Savings for other public services: 
The Home Office and Department of Health have undertaken research to 
calculate the financial benefit of moving someone from benefits to 
employment and the impact that this has in terms of savings on the public 
purse. These savings are achieved because working adults use less public 
services than non-working age adults, and when they do, often use more 
cost effective means of communication such as using online payment and 
contact enquiry systems. In Staffordshire Moorlands, this equates to a 
£6855-£12,084 per new employee who were previously in receipt of benefits.
(For full explanation see Annex 1, paragraph 14)

7.6.7 It is to be assumed that the Council would also theoretically receive channel 
shift savings generated by movement of individuals from benefits to work 
however at this point these are not included as any savings are seen as 
marginal. 

7.6.8 New Jobs
Business development could generate a range of job opportunities. Actuals 
will need to be supplied by developer or for comparison estimate. Nathanial 
Litchfield Partnership have estimated the following job numbers based on 
national ratios utilising the ODPM Guidance Note on Employment Land 
Reviews calculations 2015.

Direct jobs: 
 B1 (Office)1 job per 14m2 
 B1 (all) 1 job per 20m2 
 B2 (manufacturing) 1 job per 35m2
 B8(Distribution) 1 job per 50m2

Page 198



Business development will also generate a range of additional job 
opportunities including temporary jobs in the construction phase and jobs 
generated through re-spend of new employees. The developer will need to 
supply estimates of these based on the individual development.
(For full explanation see Annex 1, paragraph 15)

7.7 Assumptions for tourism related development

7.7.1 Business investment by tourism businesses has an economic multiplier effect 
similar to other businesses, but also has a wider impact because customers 
will also spend money in the local economy, which will also increase the 
circular flow of money within the community. Capital investment in tourism 
businesses will be reviewed using the assumptions for Business/Employment 
development outlined above. The calculations below will consider the 
additional impact of visitor expenditure 

7.7.2 Developments which will increase the propensity of visitors to stay overnight, 
by providing new larger scale attractions, festivals, mult-day events as well 
as new or improved accommodation should be considered to increase 
number of staying visitors.
 Spend per day of a day visitor: Steam data for 2015 has identified that 

a day visitor to Staffordshire Moorlands spent on average £35.11 per 
day. 

 Spend per visit of a staying visitor: In contrast, a staying visitor spent 
£202.81 per visit (or £65.42 per day based on an average 3.1 days).

 Assuming there is no overall increase in visitor numbers, the 
conversion of a day visitor to a staying visitor will have an average 
boost to the local economy of £167.70 per visitor 

(Full details, Annex 1, paragraph 16)

7.8. The economic impact of no development

7.8.1 As well as there being a well recognised positive economic impact of 
development, there is also a recognised downward or 'reverse' cycle 
whereby the lack of new direct investment in an area’s economy leads to a 
negative impact on the social and economic health of the area and increased 
expenditure for public sector. (for further details, please see Annex 1, 
paragraph 17)

Page 199



7.8.2 This reverse multiplier is particularly evidenced in communities which have 
not seen investment in housing or business growth as over time the 
increased withdrawal of spending by householders and businesses leads to 
an increasing lack of monetary flow which has a significant detrimental 
impact on the High Street (both in terms of High Street occupancy and 
quality of shops) but also on wider support services, such as health and 
leisure provision, which tends to cluster close to retail centres.  Further 
details available Annex 1, Paragraph 17

An example of this can be seen in Cheadle, which has had 72% less 
housing development and no major business applications between 2013 
and 2016 compared to Leek, which has also seen significant new business 
investment. The shop vacancy rate in Cheadle is almost double (12.4%) 
compared to that in Leek (6.6% ) and there is a higher level of low quality 
outlets including discount, charity and betting premises than within Leek 
town centre.

7.8.3 Lack of employment growth means that the re-spend of these potential 
employees has been lost to the area. This can have a significant long term 
detrimental impact on the High Street, as an aging and commuter based 
population will result in less spend and a decline in the High Street in terms 
of occupancy and quality. For an example, a rise in charity and discount 
stores as well as empty premises.

7.8.4 Lack of employment means increase in recipients of job seeker allowance 
and other benefits and an increased demand for affordable or social rented 
homes, increased need for public sector support and therefore increased 
public sector expenditure.

Page 200



7.8.5 There is also clear evidence that a decreasing monetary flow, ageing 
population and decline of the High Street, renders a place unattractive for 
visitors, residents and investors, resulting in increased pressure on the 
public purse to commit expenditure. For example, a need to offer grant aid 
to invest in shop front and public realm schemes; subsidy of transport 
services; and delivery of services to unemployed/low income households.

7.8.6 It should also be noted that if the principal economy of a locale is linked to 
supporting an aging population (e.g. care and health services, public sector 
services, low value trades) then these employees are unlikely to be able to 
afford to buy homes – and this increases pressure to provide more 
affordable homes.

Dai Larner
Executive Director

Web Links and
Background Papers

Location Contact details

Page 201



Annex 1: Explanation of calculations/Evidence base
Assumptions for Housing Development:

1 Council Tax

A new home generates £1,520.30 council tax for the area based on average 
band D rate for 2016/17. The proportion retained by SMDC is 12.08% which 
equates to £183.71 per new home. The remaining income generated is used for 
Staffordshire County Council, Police, and Fire and Rescue services.  This rate 
will be utilised as the standard amount in line with other service teams, unless 
there is a band identified within the proposed development.

Evidence: Finance team (internal)

2 Planning Application Fees

 All outline applications - £385 per 0.1ha for sites up to 2.5ha. & £9,527 + £155 
for each 0.1ha for sites in excess of 2.5ha up to a max of £125,000.

 Full applications - £385 per dwelling up to 50 dwellings & £19.049 plus £115 
per dwelling for site of over 50 dwellings to  a maximum of £250,000

 Changes of use £385

Evidence: Planning portal fee calculator
https://1app.planningportal.co.uk/FeeCalculator/Standalone

3. New Homes Bonus

New Homes Bonus is a central government funded scheme to financially reward 
councils that deliver new homes. Payment has previously been made over six 
years following completion of the dwelling, but from 2017/18 this will reduce to 
five years, and will reduce to four years in 2018/19 onwards. From 2017 New 
Homes Bonus will be calculated as follows:

 Increase in the dwelling stock in the council tax base, by band = dwelling stock 
this year minus dwelling stock last year, both net of demolitions and long term 
empty property (for Staffordshire Moorlands this is 43,745)

 Increase in band D equivalent dwellings = increase in stock by band, weighted by 
band D equivalence, with a lower weight given to bands A-C, and a higher weight 
given to bands E-H

 Baseline = 0.4% of dwelling stock; for Staffordshire Moorlands this means 175 
units or 158 band D equivalents

 Units for reward = Growth in band D equivalent dwellings minus units under 
baseline

 Payment for band D equivalents = Units for reward multiplied by average band D 
council tax payment

 Affordable homes payment = Number of affordable homes added over the period 
multiplied by affordable homes premium (£350).

 Annual payment = payment for band D equivalents plus affordable homes 
payment

Page 202

https://1app.planningportal.co.uk/FeeCalculator/Standalone


 As an example, 100 additional homes (over baseline), Staffordshire Moorlands 
could receive approx. £121,388pa for four years, with the total payment being 
£485,552. 

In addition to that, Staffordshire County Council will receive £30,347 per year, 
£121,388 over four years for delivery of 100 homes over the baseline.

Evidence: the New Homes Bonus Calculator developed by DCLG 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/new-homes-bonus-calculator-2017-to-
2018

4. S106 payments for Housing developments:

Payments by developers are made in respect of infrastructure investment 
required to accommodate new development. This can include contributions 
towards school places and new classrooms; environmental mitigation; play 
provision, parks and leisure facilities as well as highways and green 
infrastructure. The exact nature of the s106 payment and who it is paid to, will 
depend on the nature of the development and its location. As an example, the 
total contribution secured by Staffordshire Moorlands District Council is 
£581,202.38 which covers planning permission for approximately 400 new 
homes. This gives an average of approximately £1400 per dwelling where a s106 
agreement was necessary to mitigate the effects of development Any 
contribution to third parties will be recorded as an economic impact if identified as 
part of application.

Evidence: National Planning Policy Framework; Finance team (internal)

Open space contribution to Council: 

Open space requirements are currently based on those recommended by the 
Fields in Trust (Planning and design for outdoor sport and play) of a minimum 
of 2.4 hectares (six acres) of outdoor playing space per 1,000 people.

The standard for outdoor playing space provision is based on population, 
derived from the capacity of each dwelling proposed. 

For Outdoor open space, sport and play the recommended standard provision 
is 1.6ha per 1,000 people, or 16m2 space to be provided per person. 

For Children’s outdoor playing space (equipped and informal) the 
recommended standard provision of outdoor children’s playing space is 0.8ha 
per 1,000 people, or 8m2 space to be provided per person. 

For an example of a development of 100 homes, the SHMA states the mix of 
tenure to be 60% 1-2 bed homes and 40% 3-4 bed homes. It is estimated the 
average dwelling to be 2.3 bedrooms.

The amount required per bedroom is £473.80 for play space and £591.22 for 
playing pitches/ open space. This gives an average of £2449.55 per dwelling.

Page 203

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/new-homes-bonus-calculator-2017-to-2018
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/new-homes-bonus-calculator-2017-to-2018


Not all developments will be subject to this contribution and each development 
will need to be assessed on tis own merit.

Evidence: NPPF; Operational services (internal)

S106 for business use:
S106 contributions for planning applications for business use are dependent 
upon the impact of the specific development on the environment, infrastructure 
and community. Each development is considered on its merits and s106 
contributions are only identified if there is any specific impacts that can be 
mitigated. A percentage of this money if secured for highway improvements, is 
paid to Staffordshire County Council.

Evidence: National Planning Policy Framework

5 Private sector investment for housing development: 

The development cost for any scheme will be the investment by private sector in 
the local area. This can vary from site to site considering many factors including 
infrastructure requirements and saleability of development in that specific 
location. Developers can submit evidence of actual costs. As a comparison, the 
development cost of the Council led ASCENT scheme was approximately 
£109,000 per unit. 

Evidence: Your Housing Group 

6. Additional Spend (initial)

Nathaniel Lichfield & Partners Ltd reviewed evidence on surveys which looked at 
initial additional spending undertaken by new householders as part of a 
commission by Homes for Scotland (an organisation representing 200 
companies which deliver 95% new homes). This identified that the average new 
home owner spends between £5,000 and £12,000 within the first year of 
ownership on top of that paid to house builder in the local area to ‘make the 
house feel like a home’. No similar up to date in-depth analysis of English spend 
is available but it is reasonable to assume spend patterns will be similar. As the 
Scotland study analysed spend patterns across varying demographics, it is 
thought reasonable to use the lowest average as a ‘minimum re-spend’ unless 
developer can supply updated reliable evidence.

Evidence: NLP ‘The Economic & Social Benefits of Home Building in Scotland’ 2015

7. Additional Spend (on-going)

The GVA Quantitative Retail Study (update) 2013 commissioned by the Council 
as part of the emerging Local Plan evidence base, analysed household spend 
patterns within Staffordshire Moorlands settlements. This identified that 34% of all 
household expenditure is spent at district level or below. The average weekly 
local spend of each household is calculated by the Office for National Statistics as 
part of the Annual Household Expenditure study. The ONS family spending report 
2015 indicates UK households spent an average of £531 a week. Each new 

Page 204



household is therefore worth £180.54 per week or £9,388 per year of re-spend 
within the district

Car parking income for the Council: In addition to the spend in the economy, more 
people living, shopping and working in the area means more people using town 
centre car parks and hence, increased income for the Council that could be used 
for other community benefits. 

Evidence: GVA Quantitative Retail Study (update) 2013; ONS: Family Spending 
Report 2015

8. New Jobs (housing construction and supply chain)

Nathaniel Lichfield & Partners was commissioned by Home Builders Federation 
(HBF) in March 2015 to value the economic footprint of new home building. This 
research identified that each new house generates between 1.2 to 1.5 direct jobs 
in construction. However, taking into account the supply chain, of which 92 per 
cent is UK based, they concluded that each new house generates an equivalent 
to 4.3 jobs. Clearly, not all of these construction, or supply chain jobs will be 
locally based, but considering the supply chain within the area, a conservative 
estimate is that at least a quarter of these will be locally based. A multiplier rate 
of 1.07 jobs supported by each new home will be utilised as the standard amount 
until further updated reliable evidence is available.

Evidence: NLP- The Economic footprint of UK housebuilding March 2015

9. New Jobs (shops and service, supported by housing re-spend) 

The local spend generated by new households will also support jobs in shops 
and services. Deloitte (in partnership with Oxford Economics) have calculated 
this this undertook a study on additional spend required to generate a new job, 
and identifies that for every £54,000 of additional spend, a new full time 
equivalent job is created. While this study was specifically looking at additional 
spend required to generate jobs within the tourism sector, it has equal relevance 
to other sectors and is being used as standard unless other reliable evidence is 
available. The rate means that an additional (tier 3) local job would be generated 
through household re-spend for every seven new homes (or 0.14 per dwelling).

Evidence:  Deloitte & Oxford Economics ‘Tourism jobs and growth: The economic 
contribution of the tourism economy in the UK’ November 2013

10. Affordable housing

The Staffordshire Moorlands Core Strategy includes Policy H2 outlining the 
Council’s requirements on affordable housing delivery. It states that in order to 
address the need for affordable housing, residential developments should 
seek to achieve the following proportions of residential units as affordable 
housing:
• In the towns, 33% affordable housing on sites of 15 units (0.5 hectares) or 

more

Page 205



• Outside the towns, 33% affordable housing on sites of 5 units (0.16 
hectares) or more

This will be supported by an Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning 
Document which will give more detail on the affordable housing requirements 
and delivery options. This will also include work on assessing the impact of 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) in the Staffordshire Moorlands.  Work to 
procure this will begin later this year.

Evidence: The Adopted Core Strategy Policy H2

Assumptions for Business/Employment use Development

11. Business rates

A proportion of the business rates income is retained locally by the district. Under 
the current business rates system, and as a member of the Staffordshire 
business rates pool, c.3% of the overall income (or c.65% of the growth on 
income) is retained. Consultation by DCLG for a revised retention system to be 
introduced in 2020 is underway when the proportion of retained business rates 
may increase.

Business Rates are calculated using a property’s ‘rateable value’, which is its 
open market rental value on 1 April 2015 (for Business Rates from 1 April 2017 
onwards) based on an estimate by the Valuation Office Agency (VOA). The 
rateable value is multiplied by the correct ‘multiplier’ (‘Standard or ‘Small 
Business Non-Domestic Rating Multiplier’), which is set by central government. 
This charge is then adjusted where the property is eligible for business rates 
reliefs, including small business rate relief and charitable rate relief; and where 
transitional adjustments apply.

Each development can be assessed by the VOA individually to have the rateable 
value estimated for the property. However, this may cause additional pressure on 
time for VOA and cause delay. Therefore as a proxy, a similar property’s rateable 
value could be used to estimate business rates income to the Council. 

Evidence:  Valuation Office; Finance team (internal)

12. Private sector investment for business uses:

As the cost of investment can vary significantly due to the land value, quality and 
features associated with the development, it is most appropriate for officers to 
utilise bespoke calculations either provided by developer or as advised by the 
consultants appointed by the Council. The benefits of development on business 
growth and job creation should also be considered on each individual application.

13. Value of Employee spend to the Local economy

Page 206



Propensity to spend studies have identifies that between 4.5 and 9% of 
employees overall household spend is spent with 2-3 miles of their place of 
employment. In Staffordshire Moorlands this would equate to £24-48 per 
employee per week (£1394 per annum based on mid rate of 6.49%).

NLP identified national average of 41% of weekly household expenditure spent 
locally, for locally based working age residents which would equate to £215.05 
per employee per week (£11,182 per annum). Therefore in terms of employee re-
spend, business growth that attracts relocation of employees/in-migration to fill 
vacancies will have a greater economic impact than business growth which will 
employ only existing residents/in-commuters. It would be considered unrealistic 
that more than 20% of Level 4 (graduate level) new jobs would be filled by 
relocating employees unless the applicant can give evidence to support a 
variation. 

Recent studies into the economic impact of local independent businesses and 
the retail sector has calculated that if this re-spend occurs in independents, this 
has a significantly higher multiplier (research shows £5 spend with an 
independent business has a value of up to £25 to the local economy). This paper 
makes no distinction on re-spend destination, but it does mean that the value of 
re-spend should be seen as a minimum figure not an average.

For example, the Economic Impact Assessment (EIA) of JCB has identified that 
company spends £669 million on goods and services on its UK-based supply 
chain, of which £105m (16% of the total) is spent in Staffordshire and for each 
direct employee in the UK, another three employees are supported via the supply 
chain.

Evidence: Office National Statistics (family spending report 2015); Nathanial 
Litchfield Partners(NLP); Totally Locally; University of Derby Economic Impact 
assessment; JCB EIA.

14. Savings generated by Job growth for wider public sector services

Exchequer savings include reduction in direct benefit payments, reduction in 
costs to NHS and crime reduction benefits. Gross value of this to the tax payer is 
£6,855 to £12,084. (higher levels of savings to the tax payer generated if young 
people and people formerly on incapacity benefits move from worklessness to 
employment). 

 Average JSA benefit receipt £5311 (based on 2009 rates)
 Health savings £513  
 Crime reduction benefit £1080  
 Male 17-24 £5170
 Make 25+ £2610
 Female 17-24 £1250
 Female 25 + £444

The overall saving to public purse is £6268 - £11,497 with a simultaneous boost 
generated by tax and NI income – which even at minimum wage levels would 
generate £587 per annum. This equates to a gross value to tax payer of £6855 - 
£12,084 for new employees who were previously in receipt of benefits.

Page 207



It would be considered unrealistic that more than 20% of entry level positions 
would be filled by workers who are newly economic active unless the applicant 
can give evidence to support a variation.

Evidence: Home office research 217’ The economic and social costs of crime’ 2000 
& revised costs 2011; Dept. Work & Pensions Social Cost-Benefit Analysis 
framework: Methodologies for estimating and incorporating the wider social and 
economic impacts of work in cost benefit analysis of employment programmes 
(working paper 86) 2010.

15 New jobs (employment)

Nathanial Litchfield Partnership have estimated job numbers based on national 
ratios utilising ODPM Guidance Note on Employment Land Reviews calculations 
2015.

Job Density ratios
 B1 (Office)1 job per 14m2 
 B1 (all) 1 job per 20m2 
 B2 (manufacturing) 1 job per 35m2
 B8(Distribution) 1 job per 50m2
 Evidence provided by Nathanial Litchfield Partnership 2015, based on ODPM 

Guidance Note on Employment Land Reviews calculations. 

Business development will also generate a range of additional job opportunities 
including temporary jobs in the construction phase and jobs generated through 
re-spend of new employees. The developer will need to supply estimates of 
these based on the individual development

Evidence: Nathanial Litchfield Partnership 2015; ODPM Guidance Note on 
Employment Land Reviews calculations 2015

16. Tourism investment

Scarborough Tourism Economic Activity Monitor (STEAM) is a nationally 
recognised tourism economic impact modelling process, first used in North 
Yorkshire, which since 2002 has been widely used across the UK and has been 
independently reviewed on at least two occasions. The Council buys this data to 
access reliable and consistent data on the visitor economy at a local level. 

STEAM data for 2015 has identified that there were 4.6m day visitors to the 
Staffordshire Moorlands who spent on average £35.11 per day. In contrast, the 
0.49m staying visitors spent £202.81 per visit (or £65.42 per day based on an 
average 3.1 days). Therefore, assuming there is no overall increase in visitor 
numbers, the conversion of a day visitor to a staying visitor – through the 
investment in accommodation or attractions which encourage people to stay 
longer, will have an average boost to the local economy of £167.70 per visitor.

The overall spend pattern per person for staying visitors for duration of visit 
includes:

 Accommodation: £18.86 pp (9.3%)

Page 208



 Direct expenditure in local area (food and drink, shopping, entrance fees 
recreational activities, parking & transport): £132.64 (65.4%)  

 Indirect expenditure: £51.31 (25.3%)

It is worth noting that the duration of stay and average spend per duration of 
staying visitors in Leek, is lower than the Staffordshire Moorlands average at 2.4 
days with a total spend of £135.25 (£54.96 per day). 

Evidence: Global Tourism Solutions(UK) Ltd; STEAM Final trend report (Leek 
and Staffordshire Moorlands) 2015

17. Reverse Multiplier 

Evidence: 
http://www.economicsonline.co.uk/Managing_the_economy/The_multiplier_effect.html
http://www.economicsonline.co.uk/Fiscal_space.html

Page 209

http://www.economicsonline.co.uk/Managing_the_economy/The_multiplier_effect.html
http://www.economicsonline.co.uk/Fiscal_space.html


This page is intentionally left blank



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report to the Cabinet

14 February 2017

Appendices Attached

Appendix A Draft Consultation Document

Appendix B Draft Public Spaces Protection Order

1. Reason for the Report

The area around the Millennium Gardens/Sainsbury’s in Biddulph attracts 
relatively high levels of anti-social behaviour that continue to have a 
detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the locality. Following 
partnership work with Staffordshire Police, it is considered that a Public 
Spaces Protection Order would assist in stopping individuals or groups 
committing anti-social behaviour in the area.

2. Recommendation

2.1 It is recommended that the Cabinet instructs Officers to carry out formal 
consultation on a proposed Public Spaces Protection Order to prevent 
on-going anti-social behaviour in and around the Millennium Gardens in 
Biddulph.

TITLE: Consultation on a Proposal to Introduce a 
Public Spaces Protection Order in the area 
around the Millennium Gardens, Biddulph

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Cllr Mike Bowen - Portfolio Holder for 
Communities

CONTACT OFFICER: Executive Director (People) and Monitoring 
Officer

WARDS INVOLVED: All

Page 211

Agenda Item 10.1



3. Executive Summary

3.1 The area around the Millennium Gardens has attracted relatively high 
levels of anti-social behaviour. This has generally involved young 
people ranging between the ages of approximately 11 and 18 years of 
age. The behaviour affects legitimate users of the Millennium Gardens, 
shoppers at Sainsbury’s (including those using the car park), users of 
the nearby Methodist Chapel (which includes community activities such 
as Girl Guides, Brownies and Rainbows) and general members of the 
public.

3.2 There were 34 incidents reported to the police in the period between 
1st January and 14th October 2016. Most of the reported incidents 
involved groups of young people with approximately 40 young people 
congregating in the area on one occasion in October. The monument in 
Millennium Gardens has been damaged on two occasions.

3.4 A Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) is designed to stop 
individuals or groups committing anti-social behaviour in a public space 
in order to prevent or reduce any detrimental effect caused by those 
activities to local people. The District Council has the power to make 
such an Order, which can last for up to 3 years (but can be extended 
and/or varied), if certain conditions are met.

3.5 Following discussions with Staffordshire Police, it is believed that the 
introduction of a Public Spaces Protection Order can be justified for the 
area around the Millennium Gardens because the problems 
encountered at that location have a detrimental effect on the quality of 
life of those in the locality and are of a continuing nature. A draft Order 
is provided at Appendix A.

4. How this report links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1 The proposed introduction of a Public Spaces Protection Order to help 
reduce nuisance behaviour in and around Millennium Gardens in 
Biddulph would assist the Council to achieve its corporate aim of 
helping to protect and improve the environment. It supports the priority 
outcome of quality open spaces and the corporate objective of high 
quality public amenities. The Order would generally support the creation 
of a safer and healthier environment for our residents and communities 
to live and work.

5.       Options and Analysis

5.1 None at this stage – the report requests authority to consult of the 
proposed Order. Analysis of options will take place when the outcome 
of any consultation is known.

Page 212



6. Implications

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)

The making of the Public Spaces Protection Order would assist in 
reducing on-going nuisance behaviour in and around Millennium 
Gardens, Biddulph. It would help the Council to meet its duty to do all 
it reasonably can to prevent crime and disorder in its area under 
section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998.

6.2 Workforce

Enforcement of the Public Spaces Protection Order will largely be 
carried out by Staffordshire Police and through the issue of fixed 
penalty notices. District Council Officers may, however, become 
involved in facilitating the prosecution of individuals for any breaches 
of the Order in circumstances where a fixed penalty notice was not an 
appropriate response to the behaviour.

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment

An assessment of the particular needs of people who use the area 
subject to the Order will take place after the results of the consultation 
exercise are known.  

6.4 Financial Considerations

There will be a requirement to erect signage in and around the 
proposed location. The cost of the signage would be met from within 
existing budgets. It is hoped that the introduction of the Order will 
have a deterrent effect and, if there are any breaches, then these can 
be dealt with by means of a fixed penalty notice. However, the Council 
may incur costs if there is a need to prosecute an individual for breach 
of the Order.

6.5 Legal

The power to introduce a Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) is 
found at Section 59 of the Anti-social Behaviour Crime and Policing 
Act 2014. Before introducing an Order the Council must be satisfied 
that the following conditions have been met:

(a) activities carried on in a public place within the authority's 
area have had a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those 
in the locality, or

(b) it is likely that activities will be carried on in a public place 
within that area and that they will have such an effect. 

The aim of a PSPO is to make public spaces more welcoming to the 
majority of law abiding people and communities. This report seeks 

Page 213



authority to consult with the Chief Officer of Police, community 
representatives and the owner of the land and other relevant bodies 
on a proposed Order. 

Section 59 (2) states that a public spaces protection order must:

a) Identify the activities that have a detrimental effect on the 
quality of life of those in the locality;

b) Explain the effect of the breach of any prohibition in the order 
on the consumption of alcohol (where appropriate) and the 
offence of failing to comply with an order;

c) Specify the period for which the order has effect.

Section 3 has been added to the Order to set out the activities that 
have had a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the 
locality and thereby meet the requirements of point a) above.

Sections 5 and 6 of the Order explain the effect of the breach of any 
prohibition in the order on the consumption of alcohol and the offence 
of failing to comply with an order thereby meet the requirements of 
point b) above.

A constable or authorised person can request an individual not to 
consume alcohol in the restricted area or to surrender anything which 
the constable or authorised person reasonably believes to be alcohol 
or a container for alcohol. A person who fails to comply with these 
requirements commits an offence and is liable on a summary 
conviction to a fine not exceeding level 2 on the standard scale.

A person who fails to comply with a PSPO is guilty of an offence and 
is liable on summary conviction to a fine not exceeding level 3 on the 
standard scale. 

In both cases, liability for the offence can be discharged by payment 
of a fixed penalty notice under s 68 of the Act.

Section 2 has been expanded to clarify that the Order will last for a 
period of three years thereby meeting the requirements of point c) 
above.

6.6 Sustainability

No specific implications.

6.7 Internal and External Consultation

The report seeks authority to proceed with the statutory consultation 
exercise. 

Page 214



6.8 Risk Assessment

No specific risks.

7.         Background and Detail

7.1 The area around the Millennium Gardens/Sainsbury’s attracts 
relatively high levels of anti-social behaviour. This has generally 
involved young people ranging between approximately 11 and 18 
years of age. The behaviour affects legitimate users of the 
Millennium Gardens, users of the nearby Methodist Chapel (which 
includes those attending community groups such as Girl Guides, 
Brownies and Rainbows), shoppers at Sainsbury’s (including those 
using the car park), and members of the general public.

7.2 The Millennium Gardens area provides formal seating, and there 
are also some areas of informal seating, which encourages people 
to congregate in the area. The underground part of the supermarket 
car park also provides some shelter in inclement weather. People 
can also take advantage of the free Wi-fi provided by Sainsbury’s in 
the area surrounding the supermarket. This has served to attract 
large numbers of people to gather in the area (the police have 
witnessed up to around 50 people gathering in the area on 
occasions). Some young people have also committed criminal acts 
and other acts of anti-social behaviour in the area. At other times, it 
is just the sheer number of people congregating in the area that has 
caused a nuisance for the local community.

7.3 There were 34 incidents reported to the police in the period 
between 1st January and 14th October 2016. Most of the reported 
incidents involved groups of young people with approximately 40 
young people congregating in the area on one occasion in October. 
The monument in Millennium Gardens has been damaged on two 
occasions.

7.4 Incidents that have been reported include:

 damaging windows; flower beds, 
 threats, intimidation;
 noise nuisance;
 racial abuse;
 racing motor vehicles in the car park;
 fighting;
 underage drinking of alcohol;
 smoking cannabis;
 shouting;
 throwing planters, mud/soil, bricks, eggs, snowballs; and
 playing football on the highway.

7.5 In response to the problem, Staffordshire Police have carried out 
targeted patrols in the area but the problems at the location 
continue to occur.

Page 215



What is a Public Spaces Protection Order?

7.6 A Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) is designed to stop 
individuals or groups committing anti-social behaviour in a public 
space. The District Council has the power to make such an order, 
which can last for up to 3 years (but can be extended and/or 
varied), if satisfied on reasonable grounds that two conditions are 
met:

The first condition is that— .
(a) activities carried on in a public place within the authority's 

area have had a detrimental effect on the quality of life of 
those in the locality, or .

(b) it is likely that activities will be carried on in a public place 
within that area and that they will have such an effect. .

The second condition is that the effect, or likely effect, of the 
activities— .
(a) is, or is likely to be, of a persistent or continuing nature, .
(b) is, or is likely to be, such as to make the activities 

unreasonable, and .
(c) justifies the restrictions imposed by the notice.

7.7 An Order can (a) prohibit specified things being done in the 
restricted area, (b) require specified things to be done by persons 
carrying on specified activities in that area, or (c) do both of those 
things.

7.8 The Act states that the only prohibitions or requirements that may 
be imposed are ones that are reasonable to impose in order (a) to 
prevent the detrimental effect from continuing, occurring or 
recurring, or (b) to reduce that detrimental effect or to reduce the 
risk of its continuance, occurrence or recurrence.

7.9 The local authority must carry out consultation, publicity and 
notification before making a PSPO. The “necessary consultation” 
means consulting with the chief officer of police, the local policing 
body, “whatever community representatives the local authority 
thinks it appropriate to consult”; and the owner or occupier of land 
within the restricted area. The “necessary publicity”, in the case of a 
proposed Order (or variation) means publishing the text of it. The 
“necessary notification” means notifying the relevant town/parish 
council and the county council.

7.10 Once an Order has been made, the local authority must then 
publish a copy of the Order on its website and erect notices in the 
area drawing the attention of members of the public to the fact that 
the Order has been made.

Page 216



7.11 There is scope within the Act for an interested party to challenge 
the making of an Order within the period of 6 weeks beginning with 
the date on which the Order or variation is made.

7.12 The authority to make Public Space Protection Orders has been 
delegated by the Council to the Cabinet.

Proposed PSPO for Biddulph

7.13 Following discussions with Staffordshire Police, it is agreed that the 
introduction of a Public Spaces Protection Order can be justified for 
the area around Sainsbury’s/Millennium Gardens because the 
problems encountered at that location have a detrimental effect on 
the quality of life of those in the locality and are of a continuing 
nature.

Prohibition/Requirement Justification
Congregating or loitering as part of a 
group of six or more people 

One of the key factors of the anti-
social behaviour in the area has 
been groups of young people 
congregating in the area

Playing football, other ball games or other 
sports.

Staffordshire Police has received 
complaints about people playing 
football in the area. It is not a 
suitable place for the playing of 
sports since it can cause nuisance to 
members of the public and possibly 
pose a danger to those playing 
football such as from vehicular traffic

Engaging in, promoting, encouraging or 
assisting in activities of vehicle racing, 
‘doughnutting’, drifting, wheel spinning or 
other forms of vehicle nuisance.

Staffordshire Police has received 
complaints about vehicle nuisance.

Playing loud music such as to cause a 
nuisance for others. This does not include 
music associated with any activities 
organised by, or approved by, Biddulph 
Town Council or Sainsbury’s 
Supermarket.

Staffordshire Police have received 
complaints about the nuisance 
caused by people playing loud music 
whilst congregating in the area

Throwing stones, eggs, street furniture or 
any other items such that it is likely to 
cause damage or alarm, distress, 
harassment or nuisance to others.

This has been a feature of the 
complaints received by the police 
and, amongst other things, is 
believed to have led to the damage 
to the monument in the gardens.

Consuming alcohol or being in the 
possession of alcohol in an unsealed 
container.

Staffordshire Police has received 
complaints about people consuming 
alcohol in the area and this is seen 
as a catalyst for other forms of anti-
social behaviour.

Page 217



Behaving in a manner that causes, or is 
likely to cause, alarm, distress or 
harassment to others.

This is a general prohibition to cover 
other forms of behaviour, not 
specifically covered in the above 
provisions, that have a detrimental 
effect on the quality of life of those in 
the locality

7.14 The Authority recognises that everyone has the right to freedom of 
expression, freedom of peaceful assembly and to freedom of 
association with others (Articles 10 and 11 of the Convention on 
Human Rights). However, the Authority believes that it is 
appropriate to make an Order in these circumstances in the 
interests of public safety and for the prevention of disorder or crime.

7.15 It is proposed that the District Council carry out formal consultation 
on whether to make a PSPO and, if so, what it should include as 
required by Section 72 of the Act.

7.16 A draft Order is provided at Appendix A. It is proposed that the 
Council formally consult with the Chief Officer of Staffordshire 
Police, the Police and Crime Commissioner for Staffordshire, 
Staffordshire County Council, Biddulph Town Council, and 
Sainsbury’s Supermarket and other local businesses on the 
introduction of a PSPO. In addition, it is proposed that members of 
the public also be invited to submit any representations by erecting 
signage in and around the proposed affected area and placing 
details on the Council’s website.

Mark Trillo
Executive Director (People) and Monitoring Officer

Background Papers Location Contact details
David Smith x 4165

Page 218



Appendix A Consultation Document

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

NOTICE OF INTENTION TO APPLY A PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER

Section 59 Anti-Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014

Notice is hereby given that Staffordshire Moorlands District Council proposes to 
make a Public Spaces Protection Order under Section 59 of the Anti-Social 
Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014. 

Anyone who commits an offence under any of the provisions of the proposed Public 
Spaces Protection Order will be liable on conviction in the Magistrates’ Court to a fine 
of up to £1,000.

Under the terms and restrictions of the proposed Public Spaces Protection Order the 
following will be prohibited:

a) Congregating or loitering as part of a group of six or more people 
b) Playing football, other ball games or other sports.
c) Engaging in, promoting, encouraging or assisting in activities of vehicle racing, 

‘doughnutting’, drifting, wheel spinning or other forms of vehicle nuisance.
d) Playing loud music such as to cause a nuisance for others. This does not 

include music associated with any activities organised by, or approved by, 
Biddulph Town Council or Sainsbury’s Supermarket.

e) Throwing stones, eggs, street furniture or any other items such that it is likely to 
cause damage and/or nuisance, alarm, or distress to others.

f) Consuming alcohol or being in the possession of alcohol in an unsealed 
container.

g) Behaving in a manner that causes, or is likely to cause, alarm, distress or 
harassment to others.

Copies of the draft Order are available during normal opening hours at Biddulph 
Councils Connect, Town Hall, High Street, Biddulph, Stoke-on-Trent, ST8 6AR.

Any representations regarding this proposed Order may be sent to the Council in 
writing by XXX and addressed to: David Smith, Principal Community Safety Officer, 
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council, Moorlands House, Stockwell Street, Leek 
ST13 6HQ or david.smith@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

Page 219



Appendix B Draft Public Spaces Protection Order

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

NOTICE OF INTENTION TO APPLY A PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER

Section 59 Anti-Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014

The Staffordshire Moorlands District Council hereby makes the following Order:

1. This Order comes into force on [notice will be given of date if Order is made] and 
will last for a period of three years.

2. This Order applies to the land specified in the Schedule.

Purpose

3. The Order is intended is to help to stop or reduce activities that have had a 

detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the locality, including noise 

nuisance, shouting and swearing, climbing onto the roof of the Smithfield centre, 

playing football, criminal damage, alcohol and substance misuse, vehicle nuisance, 

abuse and intimidation, and other forms of rowdy and inconsiderate behaviour.

Offence

4. Under the terms and restrictions of the Public Spaces Protection Order the 

following is prohibited:

a) Congregating or loitering as part of a group of six or more people. 
b) Playing football, other ball games or other sports.
c) Engaging in, promoting, encouraging or assisting in activities of vehicle racing, 

‘doughnutting’, drifting, wheel spinning or other forms of vehicle nuisance.
d) Playing loud music such as to cause a nuisance for others. This does not 

include music associated with any activities organised by, or approved by, 
Biddulph Town Council or Sainsbury’s Supermarket.

e) Throwing stones, eggs, street furniture or any other items such that it is likely to 
cause damage and/or nuisance, alarm, or distress to others.

f) Consuming alcohol within the area edged in red on the attached map.

Where a constable or an authorised person reasonably believes that a person is 

or has been consuming alcohol in breach of a prohibition in a public spaces 

Page 220



protection order, or intends to consume alcohol in circumstances in which doing 

so would be a breach of such a prohibition.

The constable or authorised person may require that person—

(i) not to consume, in breach of the order, alcohol or anything which the 

constable or authorised person reasonably believes to be alcohol;

(ii) to surrender anything in their possession which is, or which the constable or 

authorised person reasonably believes to be, alcohol or a container for alcohol.

In this section “authorised person” means a person authorised for the purposes 

of this section by the local authority that made the public spaces protection 

order (or authorised by virtue of section 69(1) of the Anti-Social Behaviour, 

Crime and Policing Act 2014).

g) Behaving in a manner that causes, or is likely to cause, alarm, distress or 

harassment to others.

Penalty

5. A person who is guilty of an offence under article 3 shall be liable on summary 

conviction to a fine not exceeding level 3 on the standard scale.

6. If any interested person desires to question the validity of this Order on the 
grounds that the Council has no power to make it or that any requirement of 
the Act has not been complied with in relation to this Order, he or she may 
apply to the High Court within six weeks from the date on which this Order is 
made.

Page 221



IN WITNESS whereof the COMMON SEAL 

of the STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS

DISTRICT COUNCIL was hereunto affixed this 

          day of          two thousand and sixteen in

the presence of 

Chairman

Chief Executive

SCHEDULE

This Order applies to land including, and immediately surrounding, Sainsbury’s 

Supermarket and Millennium Gardens in Biddulph, Staffordshire Moorlands, which 

for the avoidance of doubt is edged in red on the attached map.

Page 222



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report to Cabinet

14 February 2017

Appendices Attached:

Appendix A - Proposed Public Spaces Protection Order

1.        Reason for the Report

The area around Leek Bus Station has historically attracted relatively high 
levels of anti-social behaviour that continues to have a detrimental effect on 
the quality of life of those in the locality. The District Council has consulted on 
a proposal to introduce a Public Spaces Protection Order to assist in stopping 
individuals or groups committing anti-social behaviour in the area.

This report presents the responses from the consultation and proposes that 
the Council proceeds to make a Public Spaces Protection Order.

2. Recommendation

2.1 That Staffordshire Moorlands District Council introduces a Public 
Spaces Protection Order to prevent on-going anti-social behaviour in 
and around Leek Bus Station/Smithfield Centre.

TITLE: Public Spaces Protection Order at Leek Bus 
Station/Smithfield Centre

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Cllr Mike Bowen - Portfolio Holder for 
Communities

CONTACT OFFICER: Executive Director (People) and Monitoring 
Officer

WARDS INVOLVED: All

Page 223

Agenda Item 10.2



3. Executive Summary

3.1 The area around Leek Bus Station has historically attracted relatively 
high levels of anti-social behaviour. In response, the Council consulted 
with relevant parties on introducing a public space protection order.

3.2 A report was brought before members of the Community and Overview 
Scrutiny Panel on 17th October 2016 and Cabinet on 18th October 2016, 
which outlined a proposal to introduce a Public Spaces Protection Order 
to assist in preventing nuisance behaviour in and around Leek Bus 
Station.

3.3 Following approval from Elected Members, the District Council carried 
out the necessary consultation, publicity and notification as required 
under s72 of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014.

3.4 Responses supporting the introduction of the Public Spaces Protection 
Order were received from Staffordshire Police, Leek Town Council, 
D & G Bus Ltd, Optionhouse Limited (owners of the Smithfield Centre) 
and Rt Hon Karen Bradley MP.

3.5 Staffordshire County Council noted that the order does not impact upon 
the ability of the public to use the affected highways and had no further 
comments to make. The Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 
indicated that they had nothing to add to the response provided by the 
Local Policing Team.

4. How this report links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1 The introduction of a Public Spaces Protection Order to help reduce 
nuisance behaviour in and around Leek Bus Station would assist the 
Council to achieve its corporate aim of helping to protect and improve 
the environment. It supports the priority outcome of quality open spaces 
and the corporate objective of high quality public amenities. The Order 
would generally support the creation of a safer and healthier 
environment for our residents and communities to live and work.

5.       Options and Analysis

5.1 Leek Bus Station meets the two conditions required for the Council to 
introduce a Public Spaces Protection Order. The activities that have 
taken place have had a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those 
in the area. Secondly, the activities have been of a persistent, on-going 
nature. 

5.2 Cabinet may choose to approve the proposed Order attached at 
Appendix A (Recommended).

5.3 Alternatively, Cabinet may choose not to make a Public Spaces 
Protection Order (not recommended).

Page 224



6. Implications

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)

The making of the Public Spaces Protection Order would assist in 
reducing on-going nuisance behaviour in and around Leek Bus 
Station. It would help the Council to meet its duty to do all it 
reasonably can to prevent crime and disorder in its area under section 
17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998.

6.2 Workforce

Enforcement of the Public Spaces Protection Order will largely be 
carried out by Staffordshire Police and through the issue of fixed 
penalty notices. District Council Officers may, however, become 
involved in facilitating the prosecution of individuals for any breaches 
of the Order in circumstances where a fixed penalty notice was not an 
appropriate response to the behaviour.

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment

An Equalities Impact Assessment has been completed. There are no 
implications that would prevent the making of the Public Space 
Protection Order. 

6.4 Financial Considerations

There will be a requirement to erect signage in and around the 
proposed location. The cost of the signage would be met from within 
existing budgets. It is hoped that the introduction of the Order will 
have a deterrent effect and, if there are any breaches, then these can 
be dealt with by means of a fixed penalty notice. However, the Council 
may incur costs if there is a need to prosecute an individual for breach 
of the Order.

6.5 Legal

The power to introduce a Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) is 
found at Section 59 of the Anti-social Behaviour Crime and Policing 
Act 2014. Before introducing an Order the Council must be satisfied 
that the following conditions have been met:

(a) activities carried on in a public place within the authority's 
area have had a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those 
in the locality, or

(b) it is likely that activities will be carried on in a public place 
within that area and that they will have such an effect. 

The aim of a PSPO is to make public spaces more welcoming to the 

Page 225



majority of law abiding people and communities. 

Section 59 (2) states that a public spaces protection order must:

a) Identify the activities that have a detrimental effect on the 
quality of life of those in the locality;

b) Explain the effect of the breach of any prohibition in the order 
on the consumption of alcohol (where appropriate) and the 
offence of failing to comply with an order;

c) Specify the period for which the order has effect.

Section 3 has been added to the Order to set out the activities that 
have had a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the 
locality and thereby meet the requirements of point a) above.

Sections 5 and 6 of the Order explain the effect of the breach of any 
prohibition in the order on the consumption of alcohol and the offence 
of failing to comply with an order thereby meet the requirements of 
point b) above.

A constable or authorised person can request an individual not to 
consume alcohol in the restricted area or to surrender anything which 
the constable or authorised person reasonably believes to be alcohol 
or a container for alcohol. A person who fails to comply with these 
requirements commits an offence and is liable on a summary 
conviction to a fine not exceeding level 2 on the standard scale.

A person who fails to comply with a PSPO is guilty of an offence and 
is liable on summary conviction to a fine not exceeding level 3 on the 
standard scale. 

In both cases, liability for the offence can be discharged by payment 
of a fixed penalty notice under s 68 of the Act.

Section 2 has been expanded to clarify that the Order will last for a 
period of three years thereby meeting the requirements of point c) 
above.
 

6.6 Sustainability

No specific implications.

6.7 Internal and External Consultation

The District Council has carried out necessary consultation, publicity 
and notification as required under s72 of the Anti-Social Behaviour, 
Crime and Policing Act 2014.

The relevant section of the Act defines “the necessary consultation” 
as consulting with—
(a) the chief officer of police, and the local policing body, for the police 

Page 226



area that includes the restricted area;
(b) whatever community representatives the local authority thinks it 
appropriate to consult;
(c) the owner or occupier of land within the restricted area;

In response, the Council consulted with Staffordshire Police, the 
Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner for Staffordshire, 
residents of Cromwell Terrace, occupiers of units within the Smithfield 
Centre, bus companies that use the bus station, and the owners of the 
Smithfield Centre.

“The necessary publicity”, in the case of a proposed order, means 
publishing the text of it. 

In response, the Council published a copy of the proposed order on its 
website.

“The necessary notification” means notifying the following authorities 
of the proposed order, extension, variation or discharge—
(a) the parish council or community council (if any) for the area that 
includes the restricted area;
(b) in the case of a public spaces protection order made or to be 
made by a district council in England, the county council (if any) for 
the area that includes the restricted area.

In response, the Council sent details of the proposed order to both 
Leek Town Council and Staffordshire County Council.

6.8 Risk Assessment

No specific risks.

7.         Background and Detail

7.1 A report was brought before members of the Community and 
Overview Scrutiny Panel on 17th October 2016 and Cabinet on 
18th October 2016, which outlined a proposal to introduce a Public 
Spaces Protection Order to assist in preventing nuisance behaviour 
in and around Leek Bus Station.

7.2 The report outlined the activities that have taken place in and 
around Leek Bus Station and which have had a continuing 
detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the area.

7.3 Authorisation was sought and granted to carry out consultation, 
publicity and notification on its proposal to make an order (which is 
required by s72 of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing 
Act 2014). The Council, therefore, wrote to the following to notify 
them of its proposal and obtain their views:

Page 227



 Residents of Cromwell Terrace;
 Staffordshire Police;
 Staffordshire’s Police and Crime Commissioner;
 Staffordshire County Council;
 Leek Town Council;
 Businesses and others located within the Smithfield Centre 

(which includes the offices of the local Member for Parliament);
 The owners of the Smithfield Centre; and
 Bus Companies that use the bus station.

7.4 Details of the proposed order and how to respond were published 
on the Council’s website and copies were placed on lampposts 
around the area to be covered by the Order. Leek Post and Times 
also published a newspaper article outlining the Council’s proposal.

7.5 Responses supporting the introduction of the Public Spaces 
Protection Order were received from Staffordshire Police, Leek 
Town Council, D & G Bus Ltd, Optionhouse Limited (owners of the 
Smithfield Centre) and Rt Hon Karen Bradley MP.

7.6 Staffordshire County Council responded and noted that the order 
does not impact upon the ability of the public to use the affected 
highways and had no further comments to make. The Office of the 
Police and Crime Commissioner indicated that they had nothing to 
add to the response provided by the Local Policing Team.

7.7 The draft order, which was included in the report that was 
considered by Elected Members in October 2016, included a 
prohibition on: “consuming alcohol or being in the possession of 
alcohol in an unsealed container”. It is proposed that this prohibition 
is expanded in the final Order as follows to provide further guidance 
on this specific requirement and ensure consistency with s63 of the 
Act:

Consuming alcohol. 

Where a constable or an authorised person reasonably believes 
that a person is or has been consuming alcohol in breach of a 
prohibition in a public spaces protection order, or intends to 
consume alcohol in circumstances in which doing so would be a 
breach of such a prohibition.

The constable or authorised person may require that person—

(i) not to consume, in breach of the order, alcohol or anything which 
the constable or authorised person reasonably believes to be 
alcohol;
(ii) to surrender anything in their possession which is, or which the 
constable or authorised person reasonably believes to be, alcohol 
or a container for alcohol.

Page 228



In this section “authorised person” means a person authorised for 
the purposes of this section by the local authority that made the 
public spaces protection order (or authorised by virtue of section 
69(1) of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014).

7.8 It is also recommended that further information is provided in the 
‘Penalty’ section of the Order to further explain the consequences of 
consuming alcohol in breach of the order in line with s63 of the Act, 
namely:

In respect of activity h [prohibition on consuming alcohol] above, 
namely consuming, or intending to consume, alcohol within a 
prohibited area in breach of the Order, it is an offence if a person 
fails, without any reasonable excuse, to comply with an authorised 
person’s request as set out in h (i) and (ii) above. An authorised 
person who imposes a requirement under h (i) or (ii) must tell the 
person that failing without reasonable excuse to comply with the 
requirement is an offence. In the event of such a failure, a person 
will commit a criminal offence for which the maximum penalty upon 
summary conviction is a fine not exceeding level 2 on the standard 
scale.

7.9 These amendments are intended to provide clarity rather than to 
change the purpose of the prohibition or the mischief that it aims to 
prevent and, as such, it is not considered that further consultation is 
required on the proposed amendment.

7.10 A final copy of the Order to be introduced is provided at 
Appendix A.

Mark Trillo
Executive Director (People) and Monitoring Officer

Background Papers Location Contact details
David Smith x4165

Page 229



Appendix A Public Spaces Protection Order

PUBLIC SPACE PROTECTION ORDER (Leek Bus Station) 2017

Section 59 Anti-Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014

The Staffordshire Moorlands District Council hereby makes the following Order:

1. This Order comes into force on [notice will be given of date if Order is made] and 
will last for a period of three years.

2. This Order applies to the land specified in the Schedule.

Purpose

3. The Order is intended is to help to stop or reduce activities that have had a 

detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the locality, including noise 

nuisance, shouting and swearing, climbing onto the roof of the Smithfield centre, 

playing football, criminal damage, alcohol and substance misuse, vehicle nuisance, 

abuse and intimidation, and other forms of rowdy and inconsiderate behaviour.

Offence

4. Under the terms and restrictions of the Public Space Protection Order the following 
is prohibited:

a) Congregating or loitering as part of a group of five or more people unless 
waiting for the arrival of a bus that is (or was in the case of late running or 
delayed buses) scheduled to depart within the next 20 minutes for the 
purposes of boarding and travelling on said bus.

b) Playing football or other sports.
c) Climbing onto the roof of any premises in the Smithfield Centre or the bus 

station canopy without written permission of Staffordshire Moorlands District 
Council.

d) Engaging in, promoting, encouraging or assisting in activities of vehicle racing, 
‘doughnutting’, drifting, wheel spinning or other forms of vehicle nuisance.

Page 230



e) Playing loud music such as to cause a nuisance for other users of the bus 
station, passers-by or local residents or businesses.

f) Lighting, throwing or otherwise setting off fireworks such as to cause noise or 
other nuisance.

g) Using foul or abusive language.
h) Consuming alcohol. 

Where a constable or an authorised person reasonably believes that a person 
is or has been consuming alcohol in breach of a prohibition in a public spaces 
protection order, or intends to consume alcohol in circumstances in which 
doing so would be a breach of such a prohibition.

The constable or authorised person may require that person—
(i) not to consume, in breach of the order, alcohol or anything which the 
constable or authorised person reasonably believes to be alcohol;
(ii) to surrender anything in their possession which is, or which the constable 
or authorised person reasonably believes to be, alcohol or a container for 
alcohol.
In this section “authorised person” means a person authorised for the 
purposes of this section by the local authority that made the public spaces 
protection order (or authorised by virtue of section 69(1) of the Anti-Social 
Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014).

i) Behaving in a manner that causes, or is likely to cause, alarm, distress or 
harassment to others.

Penalty

5. A person who is guilty of an offence under article 3 shall be liable on summary 
conviction to a fine not exceeding level 3 on the standard scale.

6. In respect of activity h above, namely consuming, or intending to consume, alcohol 
within a prohibited area in breach of the Order, it is an offence if a person fails, 
without any reasonable excuse, to comply with an authorised person’s request as set 
out in h (i) and (ii) above. An authorised person who imposes a requirement under h 
(i) or (ii) must tell the person that failing without reasonable excuse to comply with the 
requirement is an offence. In the event of such a failure, a person will commit a 
criminal offence for which the maximum penalty upon summary conviction is a fine 
not exceeding level 2 on the standard scale.

Challenging the Validity of the Order

7. If any interested person desires to question the validity of this Order on the 
grounds that the Council has no power to make it or that any requirement of 
the Act has not been complied with in relation to this Order, he or she may 
apply to the High Court within six weeks from the date on which this order is 
made.

Page 231



Page 232



IN WITNESS whereof the COMMON SEAL 
of the STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS
DISTRICT COUNCIL was hereunto affixed this 
          day of          two thousand and seventeen in
the presence of 

Chairman

Chief Executive

SCHEDULE

This Order applies to land including, and immediately surrounding, the Smithfield 
Centre and Bus Station in Leek, Staffordshire Moorlands, which for the avoidance of 
doubt is edged in red on the attached map.

Page 233



This page is intentionally left blank



 

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report to Cabinet

14 February 2017

Appendices Attached:

Appendix A: Application from Rushton Parish Council for designation of the parish 
as a Neighbourhood Area.

1. Reason for the Report

1.1 To consider an application from Rushton Parish Council to designate a 
Neighbourhood Area for the Parish of Rushton.

1.2 To consider an amendment to the scheme of delegation to enable future 
designations of Neighbourhood Areas, in those circumstances where the 
Council must exercise its powers of designation to designate the 
neighbourhood area applied for, to be made by the relevant Portfolio Holder 
with responsibilities for planning, in consultation with the ward members who 
represent the proposed neighbourhood area.

2. Recommendations
 
2.1 To approve the designation of the whole of the parish of Rushton as a 

Neighbourhood Area.

2.2 To amend the Scheme of Delegation to delegate authority to the Portfolio 
Holder for Planning, Development & Property to act in accordance with the 
protocol for decision making by an individual executive member and in 
consultation with the ward members who represent the proposed 
neighbourhood area, to designate neighbourhood areas in those 
circumstances where the Neighbourhood Planning (General) and 
Development Management Procedure (Amendment) Regulations 2016 apply.

TITLE: Designation of the Neighbourhood Area for 
Rushton Parish Council and amendment of the 
Scheme of Delegation for designation of specified 
future applications

PORTFOLIO HOLDER:  Cllr Edwin Wain – Portfolio Holder for Planning, 
Development & Property

CONTACT OFFICER:     Pranali Parikh – Regeneration Manager

WARDS INVOLVED All

Page 235

Agenda Item 11.1



3. Executive Summary

3.1 Rushton Parish Council has applied to the District Council for designation of 
their parish as a Neighbourhood Area under the Neighbourhood Planning 
(General) Regulations 2012 (as amended).

3.2 The Neighbourhood Planning (General) and Development Management 
Procedure (Amendment) Regulations 2016 came into force on October 1st 
2016.  Under the Regulations, in those instances when a Parish Council is 
applying for the whole of the parish to be designated; where a parish is 
enlarging an existing neighbourhood area to encompass the whole of the 
parish; or in all other cases where an application has not been determined 
within the statutory 8 week period - the Local Planning Authority must 
exercise its powers to designate the specified area as a neighbourhood area.

3.3 The implications of these new Regulations include that the requirement to 
publicise a Neighbourhood Area is removed; and the Council should approve 
an application once that application is considered to be valid and complete.  
The Localism Act sets out a number of issues that an authority must have 
regard to in considering whether an application for designation of a 
Neighbourhood Area is valid and complete.  These issues are considered in 
section 7 of this report.

3.4 Given that Regulations now prescribe circumstances for which a Local 
Planning Authority must use its powers of designation, it is proposed that in 
the case of applications that meet these criteria, the decision to approve the 
designation of a Neighbourhood Area should be delegated to the Portfolio 
Holder for Planning, Development & Property in consultation with the ward 
members who represent the proposed neighbourhood area.

4. How this Report Links with Corporate Priorities

4.1 Given the broad nature of Neighbourhood Planning, there will be direct 
implications for all of the Council’s corporate priorities.

5. Options and Analysis

5.1 A valid and complete application by Rushton Parish Council for designation of 
the parish as their Neighbourhood Area was received by the Council on 24th 
January 2017.  The area specified in the application consists of the whole of 
the parish council’s area.  This being the case, the Council has no option but 
to exercise its powers under section 61G of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 to decide whether to designate the specified area as a 
Neighbourhood Area.

5.2 Options in relation to amending the scheme of delegation are:

1. Amend the Scheme of Delegation to delegate authority to the relevant 
Portfolio Holder in consultation with the ward members who represent the 
proposed neighbourhood area – to designate neighbourhood areas in 

Page 236



certain circumstances in the future (those circumstances when under the 
Neighbourhood Planning (General) and Development Management 
Procedure (Amendment) Regulations 2016 a Neighbourhood Area must 
be designated.  (This will enable a Parish Council to continue work on 
preparation of a Neighbourhood Development Plan in a timely fashion and 
avoid taking up committee time where there is limited discretion available 
for Members in relation to the decision to be taken.)  Recommended.

2. Maintain the existing Scheme of Delegation and continue to take all future 
applications for Neighbourhood Area designation to Committee.  (This 
would add an additional step into the process of automatic designation 
and delay the commencement of preparation work on a Neighbourhood 
Plan.)  Not recommended.

6. Implications

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)

None

6.2 Workforce

A Parish Council will receive support from members of the Regeneration 
Service planning policy team in the preparation of their Neighbourhood Plan 
to help ensure that the plan will meet the Basic Conditions and be successful 
at Examination.

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment

This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's Diversity and 
Equality Policies.

6.4 Financial Considerations

The main financial considerations will result from:
 Cost of examination (estimated £8,000).
 Cost of referendum (estimated £10,000).

The Council is eligible for Neighbourhood Planning New Burdens funding – 
paid by DCLG for supporting progression of Neighbourhood Plans. 2016/17 
claims criteria allow the Council to claim £5,000 for the first five 
neighbourhood areas designated. The limit of five areas applies to the total 
number of areas designated (i.e. it includes areas designated in previous 
years). Since the Council has previously designated four areas (Biddulph, 
Brown Edge, Checkley and Draycott in the Moors) and jointly designated a 
fifth, (Leekfrith - with designation led by the Peak District National Park 
Authority) it is assumed that the Council will be eligible to claim a final grant 
of £5,000 for designation of Rushton parish. The current claims criteria also 
allow grant payment of £20,000 to be claimed once a date is set for a 
referendum, following a successful examination.

Page 237



6.5 Legal

Under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), the Council 
has a statutory duty to assist communities in the preparation of 
Neighbourhood Development Plans.  Applications for designation of a 
Neighbourhood Area are made under Neighbourhood Planning (General) 
Regulations 2012 and The Neighbourhood Planning (General) and 
Development Management Procedure (Amendment) Regulations 2016. 
Neighbourhood Areas are defined under the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 61G. The relevant considerations for the Council include: Before 
exercising it powers, the Council should consider:

1. Is the organisation making the application a relevant body (as prescribed 
by the Act this must be a Parish Council or, in unparished areas, a 
designated Neighbourhood Forum)?
2. Is the area identified for designation as a neighbourhood area considered 
appropriate (where the applicant is a Parish Council, the area identified could 
include the whole or any part of the Parish)?
3. Would the area more appropriately be designated a business area i.e. the 
area is wholly or predominately in business use?
4. Does the area overlap with another designated area?
5. Comments received during any public consultation.

If a valid application to designate the whole of a Parish is received, there is 
limited discretion available in relation to determining the application.  

6.6 Sustainability

The emerging Local Plan is subject to Sustainability Appraisal.  
Neighbourhood Plans must contribute to the achievement of sustainable 
development.

6.7 Internal and External Consultation

The emerging Neighbourhood Development Plan will be subject to public 
consultation.

6.8 Risk Assessment

Risks are identified in the report.

Dai Larner
Executive Director (Place)

Web Links and
Background Papers

Location Contact details

Page 238



Localism Act 2011

The Neighbourhood Planning 
(General) Regulations 2012 (as 
amended)

The Neighbourhood Planning 
(General) and Development 
Management Procedure 
(Amendment) Regulations 2016

Leek Pranali Parikh
Phone: 07583 055366

7. Background and Detail 

7.1 Neighbourhood Planning is a tool introduced by the Localism Act 2011 that 
communities can use to help shape the future of their area. 

7.2 Preparation of a Neighbourhood Development Plan can be used to set out a 
vision for the future of an area, with associated planning policies for the use 
and development of land.  Neighbourhood Development Plans can say where 
new homes, shops or offices should go; which green spaces should be 
protected, and what new development should look like.

7.3 Neighbourhood Development Plans are optional and communities can choose 
whether or not to prepare one.

7.4 In areas with a Parish or Town Council, the Parish or Town Council is 
responsible for writing the Neighbourhood Development Plan. The area 
covered by the Plan may be the whole parish boundary, or just part of it.  The 
area covered by the Plan is known as the Neighbourhood Area. 

7.5 New regulations for neighbourhood planning came into force on 1st October 
2016.  Under these regulations, local planning authorities must exercise their 
powers of designation to designate the neighbourhood area applied for, when: 
 a parish council applies for all of the parish area to be designated; or 
 applies to enlarge an existing designation of part of the parish to include all 

of the parish; or 
 when a LPA has not decided on an area designation within the established 

timeframes (8 weeks for a Neighbourhood Area).

7.6 The exception to this is if any of the area has already been designated (other 
than where a parish want to enlarge an existing designated area), or if there is 
an outstanding application for designation).

Rushton Neighbourhood Area Designation

7.7 An application for designation of a Neighbourhood Area has been received 
from Rushton Parish Council.  The application is for designation of the whole 
of the Parish.  The Council is required to approve this application once the 
application is considered to be valid and complete.  

Page 239



7.8 In determining the validity of the application, the Council must have regard to 
the following issues: 

(a) The desirability of designating the whole of the area of a parish council as 
a Neighbourhood Area.  

The Parish Council in their application (Appendix A) confirms that is 
appropriate to designate the whole parish area as a Neighbourhood Area.

(b) The desirability of maintaining the existing boundaries of areas already 
designated as neighbourhood areas, and ensuring areas do not overlap.

The Council designated Leekfrith Neighbourhood Area in March 2015; 
Biddulph, Brown Edge and Checkley Neighbourhood Areas in February 
2016 and Draycott in the Moors Neighbourhood Area in July 2016. A map 
of all designated areas is carried on the District Council’s web-site.  The 
current application does not overlap with the existing designations. 

(c) Consideration of whether the area should be designated as a business 
area.

Designation of a business area would only apply if an area is wholly or 
predominantly business in nature.  This is not the case for Rushton parish.

7.9 In determining the completeness of the application, the Council must have 
regard to whether the application included:

 
(a) a map which identifies the area to which the area application relates.

A map is included with the application (at Appendix A).

(b) a statement explaining why this area is considered appropriate to be 
designated as a neighbourhood area.

The letter of application explains that the Parish Council is seeking a plan to 
help shape how the parish will grow.

(c) a statement that the organisation or body making the area application is a 
relevant body for the purposes of section 61G of the 1990 Town and 
Country Planning Act.

The letter of application confirms that the Parish Council is a relevant body for 
making the application.

Amending the Scheme of Delegation

7.10 It is sought to amend the Scheme of Delegation to delegate authority to the 
relevant Portfolio Holder in consultation with the ward members who 
represent the proposed neighbourhood area, to designate neighbourhood 
areas in certain circumstances in the future (those circumstances when under 

Page 240



the Neighbourhood Planning (General) and Development Management 
Procedure (Amendment) Regulations 2016 – a local planning authority must 
exercise their powers of designation to designate the neighbourhood area 
applied for.

7.11 This will enable the required consideration of straight forward cases where a 
Parish or Town Council is applying for designation of the whole of their parish 
as a Neighbourhood Area to be determined quickly and efficiently without 
need to take a report to committee.

7.12 Should the scheme of delegation be amended, the validity and completeness 
of future applications that meet the criteria set out in the 2016 Regulations can 
be considered by the relevant portfolio holder in consultation with the ward 
members who represent the proposed neighbourhood area.

Page 241



Appendix A

Page 242



Page 243



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 245

Agenda Item 13.1
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 271

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 277

Agenda Item 14.1
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meeting (previously circulated)
	Minutes

	8 Local Joint Employees Consultative Committee Minutes - 26 January 2017
	9.1 Forward Plan
	9.2 Third Quarter Financial, Procurement and Performance Review 2016/17
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C

	9.3 2017/18 Budget & Updated Medium Term Financial Plan 2017/18 to 2020/21
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C

	9.4 Update on the Northern Gateway Development Zone
	Appendix A
	Governance and Programme Management

	Appendix B

	9.5 Quantifying the Economic Impact of Growth
	10.1 Consultation on a Proposal to Introduce a Public Spaces Protection Order in the area around the Millennium Gardens, Biddulph
	10.2 Public Spaces Protection Order at Leek Bus Station/Smithfield Centre
	11.1 Designation of the Neighbourhood Area for Rushton Parish Council and amendment of the Scheme of Delegation for designation of specified future applications
	13.1 Establishment of a Joint Venture Company for the Delivery of Waste Collection, Street Cleansing, Grounds Maintenance & Fleet Management Services
	Appendix B

	14.1 Victoria Business Park, Biddulph

